Public Document Pack
Planning & Development
Committee Meeting of Witney Town Council

4;4,.

Tuesday, 10th March, 2026 at 6.30 pm

To members of the Planning & Development Committee - G Doughty, J Aitman, J Doughty, G Meadows, R Smith
and D Temple (and all other Town Councillors for information).

You are hereby summonsed to the above meeting to be held in the Virtual Meeting via MS Teams - Virtual
Meeting for the transaction of the business stated in the agenda below.

Admission to Meetings
All Council meetings are open to the public and press unless otherwise stated.

Numbers of the public will be limited, with priority given to those who have registered to speak on an item on
the agenda. Any member of the public wishing to attend the meeting should contact the Committee Clerk
derek.mackenzie@witney-tc.gov.uk in advance.

Recording of Meetings

In accordance with the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, public meetings may be filmed,
audio-recorded, or photographed. Anyone intending to record the proceedings is asked, as a courtesy, to inform
the Committee Clerk before the meeting begins.

This meeting will be broadcast live via Microsoft Teams and recorded; by attending or participating, you consent
to the recording and public sharing of audio and video, which may be made available for later viewing. For
details on how personal data is handled, please see the Privacy Notice

To view the meeting please follow this link
https://teams.microsoft.com/meet/31452613160329?p=0bNHsxrCTQ2LY7PHVv
Meeting ID: 314 526 131 603 29

Passcode: Z88vC6AwW

Agenda

1. Apologies for Absence

To consider apologies and reasons for absence.

Committee Members who are unable to attend the meeting should notify the Committee Clerk
derek.mackenzie@witney-tc.gov.uk prior to the meeting, stating the reason for absence.

Standing Order 8(e)(v) permits the appointment of substitute Councillors to a Committee whose role is
to replace ordinary Councillors at a meeting of a Committee if ordinary Councillors of the Committee
have confirmed to the Proper Officer before the meeting that they are unable to attend.

2. Declarations of Interest

Members are reminded to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests in any of the items under
consideration at this meeting in accordance with the Town Council’s code of conduct.

Date of Publication 4 March 2026

Page 1


mailto:derek.mackenzie@witney-tc.gov.uk
https://democracy.witney-tc.gov.uk/documents/s17049/PrivacyNotice.pdf?$LO$=1
https://teams.microsoft.com/meet/31452613160329?p=obNHsxrCTQ2LY7PHVv
mailto:derek.mackenzie@witney-tc.gov.uk

Public Participation
The meeting will adjourn for this item.
Members of the public may speak for a maximum of five minutes each during the period of public

participation, in line with Standing Order 25. Matters raised shall relate to the following items on the
agenda.

Planning Applications (Pages 4 - 5)

To receive and consider a schedule of Planning Applications from West Oxfordshire District Council.

Witney Traffic Advisory Committee Minutes (Pages 6 - 12)
To receive the minutes of the Witney Traffic Advisory Committee meeting held 10 January 2026.

MHCLG Consultation - Reducing the Prevalence of Private Estate Management Arrangements

To consider the response to make to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
consultation on reducing the prevalence of private estate management arrangements and consider a
response.

Link: Reducing the prevalence of private estate management arrangements - GOV.UK

P116 —17.02.2026 Planning & Development Committee Relates

West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place (MAP) Plan (Pages 13 - 143)

To receive correspondence from OCC’s Transport Strategy and Policy Team relating to the West
Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place (MAP) Plan.

OCC request that all feedback on the West Oxfordshire Lowlands MAP Plan, and associated
documents, is provided either via email or via West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place (MAP)
Plan — Parish and Town Councils Feedback Response Form. All feedback is requested by 5pm on the
27" March 2026.

SLC_\lf_C

Town Clerk
Town Hall, Market Square Mrs Sharon Groth FSLCC FCMI T: 01993 704379
Witney Town Clerk E: info@witney-tc.gov.uk
Oxon
OX28 6AG W: www.withey-tc.gov.uk

Page 2


mailto:info@witney-tc.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/reducing-the-prevalence-of-private-estate-management-arrangements/reducing-the-prevalence-of-private-estate-management-arrangements
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fforms.office.com%2FPages%2FResponsePage.aspx%3Fid%3D2jld8Owm6k6465_xpoLV5T0bDtqGwehMhQfOtzxWyyVUMDlGRVMzOU5JNUtLN1JURkVTM05HTlhENi4u&data=05%7C02%7Cderek.mackenzie%40witney-tc.gov.uk%7Ccaf5130aea0f4a68c5f708de70a8db32%7C1336d10a139b449dad614710c039c5c1%7C0%7C0%7C639072068112808764%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=rpaMz2f9cSDAiY7qEalMadL4wz9DahLMdjU%2BY8TR6IY%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fforms.office.com%2FPages%2FResponsePage.aspx%3Fid%3D2jld8Owm6k6465_xpoLV5T0bDtqGwehMhQfOtzxWyyVUMDlGRVMzOU5JNUtLN1JURkVTM05HTlhENi4u&data=05%7C02%7Cderek.mackenzie%40witney-tc.gov.uk%7Ccaf5130aea0f4a68c5f708de70a8db32%7C1336d10a139b449dad614710c039c5c1%7C0%7C0%7C639072068112808764%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=rpaMz2f9cSDAiY7qEalMadL4wz9DahLMdjU%2BY8TR6IY%3D&reserved=0

Town Hall, Market Square Mrs Sharon Groth FSLCC FCMI
Witney Town Clerk
Oxon

0X28 6AG

T:01993 704379
E: info@witney-tc.gov.uk

w: www.witney-tc.gov.uk
Page 3 s


mailto:info@witney-tc.gov.uk

Agenda Item 4

Witney Town Council(

Planning & Development 10.03.20260

40

WTC/023/260
Applicant Name
Parish

Location

Proposals
Observations

WTC/024/260
Applicant Name
Parish

Location

Proposals

Observations

WTC/025/260
Applicant Name
Parish

Location

Proposals

Observations

WTC/026/260
Applicant Name
Parish

Location

Proposals

Observations

Plot Ref -[26/00133/FULO  Type :-[EULLO

- 00
-OWESTO

:-00140 THORNEY LEYSU
THORNEY LEYSU

Date Received :- [19/02/20260
Date Returned :- O

Agent[]

:- OErection of a detached dwelling and associated works.[]

0

Plot Ref :-[26/00245/ADVL Type :-[ADVERTISEU

=00
-USOUTHO

Date Received :- [19/02/20260
Date Returned :- O

-0OUNIT 4-5 WELCH WAYLD  Agent

WELCH WAYU

:- OErection of internally illuminated fascia signage to shop front and

western elevation.O
-

Plot Ref :-[26/00244/FULL Type :-[FULLO

-0g
-USOUTHO

Date Received :- [19/02/20260
Date Returned :- O

:-0OUNIT 4-5 WELCH WAYL  AgentO

WELCH WAYU

:- DAlterations to shop units 4 and 5 to create one single unit, [
alterations to include the installation of an air conditioning unit to [
rear elevation and a extract grille to west elevation, new shopfront [J
doors and the removal of one entrance.[]

-0

Plot Ref :-[26/00355/CLP0  Type :-[CERT [

- 0.0
-OWESTO

Date Received :- [19/02/20260
Date Returned :- O

:-011 CHEDWORTH DRIVED Agent

CHEDWORTH DRIVE[

:- OCertificate of Lawfulness (erection of a single storey rear [

extension).[]
-0

Page 4

Page 10



.50

. 60

.70

. 80

.90

WTC/027/260
Applicant Name
Parish

Location

Proposals

Observations

WTC/028/260]
Applicant Name
Parish

Location

Proposals

Observations

WTC/029/260
Applicant Name
Parish

Plot Ref :-[26/00374/FULL]  Type :-[FULLO

=00
-UNORTHO

:-U5A WEST ENDU
WEST ENDU

Date Received :- [23/02/20260
Date Returned :- O

AgentlJ

:- UDemolition of a timber workshop and erection of a replacement [
building comprising 2 x 1-bedroom apartments and associated [

works.[
-0

Plot Ref :-[25/02880/HHDL Type :-IHOUSEHOLL[

-00
-OWESTO

:-06 AERODROME LANE[

AERODROME LANE[]

Date Received :- [24/02/20260
Date Returned :- O

Agentl]

:- UConversion of loft with front dormer and rear velux rooflights [
including erection of detached pergola and outbuilding (part [
retrospective) (amended description)[]

-0

Plot Ref :-[26/00350/HHDU Type :-HOUSEHOLO

=00
-UNORTHO

Date Received :- [24/02/20260
Date Returned :- O

Location :-0037 WOODSTOCK ROADO Agent[

Proposals
Observations

WTC/030/260
Applicant Name
Parish

Location

Proposals

Observations

WTC/031/2600
Applicant Name
Parish

WOODSTOCK ROADO

:- UErection of single and two storey extensions.[]

-0

Plot Ref :-[26/00373/FULL Type :-[FULLO

00
-OWESTO

:-0010 HANGAR CLOSE[
HANGAR CLOSE[]

Date Received :- [26/02/20260
Date Returned :- O

Agent[]

:- OChange of use of amenity space to enlarge domestic garden, and [
erection of 1.8 metre fence (retrospective)

-0

Plot Ref :-[26/00419/FULL] Type :-[FULLO

-00
-OWESTO

Date Received :- [03/03/20260
Date Returned :- O

Location :-00163 BARRINGTON CLOSEQ Agent

Proposals

Observations :

BARRINGTON CLOSE[]

:- UChange of use of parcel of land from amenity to residential and [l
erection of a boundary fence to enclose garden.[]

-0

Page 5

Page 20



T1

T2

Agenda Iltem 5

WITNEY TRAFFIC ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEETING

Held on Tuesday, 20 January 2026

At 3.00 pm in the Gallery Room, The Corn Exchange, Witney

Present:

Councillor D Enright (Chair)

A Prosser

A Coles

T Ashby

J Robertshaw

Councillors:

Officers: Adam Clapton
Derek Mackenzie

Odele Parsons
James Wright
Duncan Stewart

Others 3 Members of the public

David Miles
Chris Hulme
Kevin Hickman
Jordan Slater
Adrian Bullock
Tony Hickman

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

J Aitman
S Simpson
R Smith

Deputy Town Clerk

Senior Administrative Officer &
Committee Clerk

Oxfordshire County Council
Oxfordshire County Council
Oxfordshire County Council

Parish Transport Representative
Thames Valley Police

Windrush Bike Project

Pulhams Buses

Witney Chamber of Commerce
Witney Taxi Representative

Apologies of absence were received from Cllr M Brooker, Tom Weaver (Pulham’s Coaches)
Jordon Slater attended as a substitute, Trevor Bayliss (Stagecoach), and Andrew Lyon (West

Oxfordshire Community Transport).

ELECTION OF VICE CHAIR

Nominations were sought for the position of Vice Chair for the remainder of the municipal year
as agreed as a change to the terms of reference at the last meeting.

It was proposed and duly seconded that Clir Andrew Coles be elected Vice Chair. There being no

other nominations it was:

Resolved:

That, Councillor Andrew Coles be elected Vice Chair of the Advisory Committee for the

remainder of the municipal year.

Page 6



T3

T4

T5

Witney Traffic Advisory - 20 January 2026

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

One member of the public was present in person at the meeting. With the permission of the
Chair, it was agreed that participation be deferred and that he may take part in the discussion on
agenda item 6, Community Speedwatch update as he was a volunteer of the group and his
comments were pertinent to the discussion.

MINUTES

The Committee received the minutes of the Witney Traffic Advisory Committee meeting held on
23 September 2025.

T101 (3) — Clir A Coles advised there was nothing to report on the H2 bus service routing.
Resolved:

That, the minutes of the Witney Traffic Advisory Committee meeting held on 23 September 2025
be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

During the following item ClIr R Smith arrived at 3:17pm

PLACE, PLANNING AND COORDINATION

Members received and considered a report from Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) providing
updates on the Shores Green scheme (Access to Witney), the Witney Paths and Crossings
programme, the Fiveways Roundabout Vision Zero scheme, Section 106 (S106) funding, St
Mary’s Churchyard cycle signage, a new path at King George V Recreation Ground, the speed
signage review, flooding on the Wood Green path, service tendering, and the areas proposed for
inclusion in the lining refurbishment schedule.

Access to Witney — Shores Green

OCC officers advised that work on the scheme was ongoing and remained on track for
completion in summer 2026. As part of the project, complementary measures were being
implemented, including the re-designation of the A4095 and updates to road traffic signage
across Witney.

Members thanked officers for their work but noted that the update focused on pedestrian
access, with no reference to cycling provision. It was agreed that a member briefing session on
the re-designation changes would be requested.

Witney Paths and Crossings

The Committee received an update on progress across the scheme. Officers advised that there
had been delays to the procurement process for both projects and that work was underway to
provide an updated timetable.

Fiveways Roundabout - Vision Zero Programme

Members were advised that a scheme for a parallel crossing on the Welch Way arm had been
approved by OCC. Initial pre-construction work had commenced, with construction anticipated
to begin in spring 2026.

Page 7



T6

T7

Witney Traffic Advisory - 20 January 2026

Section 106 Programme

Officers advised that procurement was underway for a Colwell Brook path and a zebra crossing
on Witan Way. Statutory consultations would take place once the projects were ready to
progress.

St Mary’s Churchyard Cycle Signage

The Committee was informed that cycle signage to clarify local cycle routes had been added to a
future signage list; however, costs remained a barrier. A meeting with the Town Council was
required to explore how the project could be taken forward.

King George V Recreation Ground Path

Members were advised that this scheme, as identified in the Local Cycling and Walking
Infrastructure Plan, was progressing. Specifications had been agreed, and engagement had taken
place with the Town Council as landowner.

It was confirmed that the proposed path would not impact the community orchard planted by
the Town Council in recent years, and the next steps were outlined in the report.

Lining Refurbishment Schedule

OCC officers informed the Committee of forthcoming lining refurbishment works in Witney,
which Members welcomed. It was noted that this time of year was particularly challenging for
potholes, and Members asked whether repair teams could also undertake minor repairs to
priority kerbs while on site. It was further noted that one of the areas identified for relining, Mill
Street, might be affected by a significant ongoing water leak.

Updates on the remaining matters contained within the report would be provided under
subsequent agenda items.

Resolved:
1. That, the updates from OCC officers be noted.

PARKING ENFORCEMENT & ANPR

Members were advised no report or update had been provided on matters relating to civil
enforcement or ANPR in Witney High Street.

It was requested that the subject be added to the agenda of the Committee as it was a
substantive item. Members were keen to explore further the issues across the town and in

particular the ANPR implementation for the High Street and the Corn Street & Church Green
parking schemes.

Resolved:

1. That, the above comments be noted and,
2. That, the subject be added to the agenda for discussion at the next meeting.

HIGHWAYS ASSET RESPONSE TEAM

The Deputy Town Clerk provided details of a new Highways Asset Response Team, information
on which had been shared with Witney Town Council by Oxfordshire County Council.

Page 8



T8

T9

Witney Traffic Advisory - 20 January 2026

Members expressed some confusion about where this team sat within the hierarchy of highways
engagement and its relationship to Fix My Street. Officers explained that the Town Council had
compiled a list of “quick wins” for highways issues, which had been forwarded to Oxfordshire
County Council. The Committee was advised to note this, and Members were asked to report
any issues they identified via Fix My Street and to email the details to the Committee Clerk.

Resolved:

1. That, the details of the OCC Highways Asset Response Team be noted and,
2. That, members raise any items meeting the criteria on Fix My Street and then send to Town
Council officers to follow up, as appropriate.

COMMUNITY SPEEDWATCH

The Committee received a verbal update from the Deputy Town Clerk, who advised that no
sessions had taken place since last summer due to a shortage of volunteers and other
unforeseen circumstances. A session was scheduled to take place in early February.

The Committee then invited comments from a member of the public, who expressed the view
that the group was not operating as effectively as it could, citing concerns around the location
and timing of sessions, as well as the level of follow-up enforcement by TVP.

The CS co-ordinator, Clir A. Coles, provided a further update and response. He advised that the
volunteers deserved the Committee’s thanks and confirmed that an additional Speedwatch co-
ordinator was being sought to help share the workload involved in organising sessions. He also
explained that the group was required to operate within the locations, timings and rules set by
the TVP scheme, although a review of the group’s operation would be welcomed.

The locations, which had been agreed by this Committee, were positioned near vulnerable areas
such as schools and care homes. The scheme had been well received and had monitored over
300 vehicles during the past two years. The TVP representative advised that vehicles exceeding
the speed thresholds would be followed up, provided the submitted details were accurate.
However, it was noted that any review of the 20mph speed limits would fall under the remit of
the County Council’s Vision Zero team, which was agreed to be a separate matter.

Resolved:

1. That, the verbal updates from all parties be noted and,

2. That, a review of the Witney Town Community Speedwatch scheme is undertaken by the
Deputy Town Clerk ahead of the next meeting and,

3. That, sessions continue as planned in the meantime.

Following the discussion of Speedwatch — a member of public left at 4:15pm

WITNEY HIGH STREET

With the Chair’s permission, this item was taken later in the agenda to allow the County Officer
to provide a more comprehensive update.

The Programme Lead acknowledged Members’ frustration with delays to the project and
addressed concerns raised at a meeting with town councillors the previous week.

In relation to ANPR enforcement, responsibility had transferred to a different team, and a tender
for the procurement of cameras would be issued shortly.

Page 9



T10

T11

Witney Traffic Advisory - 20 January 2026

Regarding street furniture, further engagement was required, particularly with the Town
Council. However, this would not delay the start of the project, as street furniture was scheduled
for a later phase. Most of the seating would be retained, with changes mainly affecting the
northern section of the High Street, where orientation would be reviewed.

Discussion then moved to the anticipated start of works. Members noted that a temporary bus
shelter would be required at Langdale Gate and reiterated ongoing concerns regarding taxi
spaces. It was also hoped that the project team would work collaboratively to address existing
infrastructure defects, such as potholes. Officers advised that works were expected to
commence in April and last approximately six months.

Members welcomed the update but expressed unanimous concern over the length of time the
project was taking. While funding issues were acknowledged, Members felt that reputational
damage to OCC was being caused.

The Officer advised that a schedule of works was being prepared and that a public event to mark
the start of the works was planned. Final approval would be sought from the Council in
February.

Resolved:
That, the verbal update be noted.
During the discussions about the High Street — ClIr T Ashby left the meeting at 4:30pm

PUBLIC TRANSPORT UPDATE

The Committee received a verbal update from Witney’s Independent Community Transport
representative, who advised that there had been significant changes to the S2 and S2X services.
The route 64 service to Swindon which it was hoped would be improved had remained
unchanged. He also noted that several services would be coming up for tender by the County
Council in August and advised that My Bus ticket prices had increased due to a surge in demand.

The representative from Pulham’s was questioned about school children drop-off and engine
idling at the Windrush Leisure Centre, as well as concerns relating to the H2 service on Corn
Street. He advised that he was not aware of the specific issues but would refer them to the
company’s Compliance Officer.

Considering potential changes to services, it was suggested that the annual Witney Bus Users’
Meeting, traditionally held in the autumn, may be more beneficial if held in the spring, to allow
feedback and views on services to be gathered ahead of any proposed changes.

Resolved:

1. That, the verbal updates and responses be noted and,
2. That, the Annual Bus Users Meeting be re-arranged for the Spring, with the date and time
delegated to the Deputy Town Clerk and Chair.
The remaining member of the public left at 4:40pm.

VEHICLE ACTIVATED SIGNS (VAS) UPDATE FROM WITNEY TOWN COUNCIL

The Deputy Town Clerk advised of the Town Council’s position on purchasing VAS signs for
Witney as agreed at its Stronger Communities Committee meeting on 17 November 2025.

Page 10



T12

T13

T14

Witney Traffic Advisory - 20 January 2026

The costs of VAS were provided again and it was understood there was no current funding
avenue for purchase. An audit to re-purpose redundant signs in other areas had been requested
by the town council.

Resolved:

That, the update and position of Witney Town Council be noted.

DEER PARK/CURBRIDGE ROUNDABOUT

The Deputy Town Clerk reported that the issue had been raised by a resident of Richmond
Village and brought forward by Clir Ashby.

It was noted that the Town Council would undertake low-level wildflower planting in the spring.
County Council officers advised that the roundabout had been in place for many years and that,
while sightlines could be challenging due to the junction’s topography, a new pedestrian crossing
was planned. With the addition of the crossing and lower-level planting, officers advised that
there were unlikely to be further measures that could be taken.

Resolved:

That, the above comments be noted.

DUCKLINGTON LANE & THORNEY LEYS JUNCTION

The Deputy Town Clerk reported that the issue had been brought forward by Clir Ashby. As he
had had to leave the meeting, ClIr Coles presented the issue to the Committee.

The issue related to the traffic light configuration at the eastbound A40 slip road. Currently,
there were regular tailbacks on Thorney Leys, Ducklington Lane and Station Lane.

OCC officers advised that the scheme had been designed and implemented in 2014 to give
priority to traffic exiting the A40, to prevent queuing back onto a busy A road. However, they
confirmed that the signals team would be asked to review the current configuration.

Resolved:

1. That, the issue be noted and,
2. That, County Council officers ask the Signals team to review the schedule of lights changing.

ITEMS RAISED AT THE MEETING

Clir J. Robertshaw raised a query regarding traffic-calming measures on Cogges Hill Road. An OCC
officer advised that, as the East Witney development progressed through outline planning, there
would be trigger points for investment and associated timescales set out within the relevant
legal agreements.

Clir S. Simpson reported that two bridges at New Mill Lane were currently out of action. It was
agreed that these issues would be reported to the OCC Bridges Team.

Clir R. Smith requested an update on the progress of the OCC flag policy and asked for a further
update on drainage issues at Buttercross Lane to be provided at the next meeting.

Page 11



T15

Witney Traffic Advisory - 20 January 2026

Clir A. Prosser asked whether an updated schedule of road-surfacing works would be made
available. Officers advised that this information was publicly accessible on the OCC website and
confirmed that a link would be circulated to Members. Clir S. Simpson also raised a query
regarding hatching schemes.

Resolved:

That, the items raised be noted and forwarded to the necessary organisation or scheduled on
the next agenda of the Committee as appropriate.

DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING(S)

Members were advised the next meeting of the Committee would be held on 17 March 2026.

Oxfordshire County Council officers advised that, as with this meeting, there was a clash
with a scheduled Council meeting which was likely to result in reduced officer
attendance and therefore asked whether an alternative date could be considered.

The Chair noted that March was a particularly busy period for Town Council meetings,
OCC officers confirmed that the date could remain unchanged however it may mean
that some may arrive later to the meeting and asked that the Committee understand if
the Agenda is adjusted to allow for this.

Resolved:

1. That, the date of the next meeting remains as 17 March 2026.

The meeting closed at: 5.07 pm

Chair

Page 12



West Oxfordshire

Lowlands
Movement and Place Plan

Local Transport and
Connectivity Plan -
Supporting strategy

You can contact us at
AreaMovementandPlaceStrategies@oxfordshire.gov.uk

),

@25 OXFORDSHIRE
) COUNTY COUNCIL



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Contents

ViSiON fOr the LOWIANAS.....cviriiiirieeieictceeee et ettt 1
AFEA CONTEXE..uiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiici bbb e bbe e s as e e s sabessbaessans 2
Map Of the LOWIANAS @r€a......cceeieeieiieieeieseetestes ettt ae s ae e te s ae e sae s e e seesaesrneseens 3
Challenges and OPPOTTUNITIES ...c.eevueriiriiiieeieeeeeeee ettt sbe et sae e b ebe s e e nseens 8
Summary of challenges and OPPOrTUNITIES......cocviviiriirieriiiertereeere e 26
Planned infrastructure delIVEIY ... ieie ettt be e 27
ObjeCtiVES @Nd @CHIONS....ciiiiiiiieieeecteeee ettt ettt e s s be s te e bbeesbeessaessbaessnesssaanns 33
Objectives and related OULCOMES......cciiiiiiriiiieecieciecsre ettt se st e s ae e saesaeeseassbaenes 83
Final conclusions and NEXt STEPS .....eicuieeiiiiieeie ettt re e e sbr e e e re e rreeaee 84
GLOSSANY .nteieteeetieece et ettt et e it et e et te e be e s tae e beesra e et baessbeeabaeerba e be e abe e b e eeba e e beeataeeabaenraeerraans 85
Y o] o1=T 0T |01 A OO TP U USROS 90
Y o] oY= 0o [ D'l = TS OO USROS 91
REFEIENCES ...ttt b e ettt b e b b s bt st e se et e b ees 92
Figures

Figure WOL1: Map of the West Oxfordshire Lowlands MAP Plan Area .......ccccceevereeenvenennene. 3
Figure WOL2: Congestion Heat Map (Left: 2023 AM; Right: 2023 PM) 2023 INRIX data......... 13
Figure WOL3: Map KSI ColliSion LOCAtIONS .....cccueruiivierieniiiieneinieeieseesesresieesieesee e saesneseees 18
Figure WOL4: Map showing location of transport infrastructure projects.......cccceceevvervenen. 32
Tables

Table WOL1: Journey Distance and Mode Share (2011 CENSUS)..cc.eevveereereeerreesrvesirresaeenseenns 9
Table WOL2: Summary of Objectives in relation to the nine MAP Plan outcomes. .............. 83

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE

Page 14



Vision for the Lowlands

To be a place that is healthy, vibrant, inclusive, and safe for its
communities. Building upon the unique history and heritage of the area, as
a gateway to the Cotswolds and a tourist hub. To continue to enhance
Witney and Carterton as the main service centres in West Oxfordshire, to
benefit our residents and to grow the economy by providing new amenities
as well as employment and leisure opportunities.

To harness and develop the existing sense of place across the West
Oxfordshire Lowlands through a people-first design approach, which
ensures greater collaboration between different communities, whilst also
reflecting the history and rural nature of the area.

To have an inclusive, accessible, and integrated transport system within the
Lowlands, which improves connectivity between the three towns, the
villages, and the surrounding area by providing transport choice, and

enabling a shift to sustainable travel behaviour. To support sustainable and

integrated developments, protect and improve access to healthcare,
education and the surrounding natural environment, improve air quality
and climate resilience.

Page 15



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Area context

The West Oxfordshire Lowlands area is of considerable importance to Oxfordshire, with it being
home to the two largest settlements the district; Witney and Carterton. Witney and Carterton
are the main settlements within this Movement and Place (MAP) Plan area and are home to
most of the key facilities and amenities (e.g. a hospital, a comprehensive range of food and
non-food retail and cinema) in West Oxfordshire. However, the area also includes the town of
Burford and villages including, but not limited to, Alvescot, Aston, Bampton, Black Bourton
Broughton Poggs, Brize Norton, Cassington, Church Hanborough, Clanfield, Crawley,
Ducklington, Eynsham, Freeland, Hailey, Kemlscott, Long Hanborough, Minster Lovell, North
Leigh, Northmoor, Ramsden, Shilton, Standlake, Stanton Harcourt and Westwell, as outlined
in Figure WOL1. The MAP Plan recognises the interaction of trips being made between the
towns and villages within the MAP Plan area for work, school, leisure, and business. However,
the MAP Plan also notes the interaction of destinations outside the Lowlands, including the
Uplands, Oxford, the Vale of White Horse, and Gloucestershire.

The combined population of the Lowlands is approximately 87,000 people?, with Witney and
Carterton being by far the largest settlements and home to 32,000 and 18,000 people,
respectively. Eynsham, Long Hanborough, Bampton, Brize Norton, and North Leigh are the five
largest villages in the Lowlands. The West Oxfordshire Lowlands are served by a variety of local
amenities and services including 38 schools (including five secondary schools), one college
campus, six libraries, a community hospital, nine medical centres, town centres, and leisure
destinations including seven museums, a cinema and three leisure centres.

Page 16



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Map of the Lowlands area

Wyck Bledington Kinghan Sarsden]  millend Doan Over e Kiddington
Wyck \Hill - ®icomb N ¥ \f Ki;}g?on
Rissington - Chadlmglon B o C
. rooken 9
Church Spelsbury
Westoote o * Greenend & S
Upper, Nether Westcote Lyneham Sh orthampt o

.
RussTgton @ |dbury.
Littl Ascott- under-W chwood' .
Risingion @, # Fitod W o s"1 Usaye U p
' Shipton Ascott:under- Wychwood \
‘zﬂlllon-undﬂf-WYChWOOd' #'Shipton-under:Wychwood Fmslock

SOﬂ Charlbury Challbury

® Great Rissington FaMe{ o Stonesfield

Leafield T Finstock Combe
E = e, ORamsden , Bhd;'.‘ N
East End &/ Long \ anborgugh \)
Taynton Hanbofough X % e
i ) : Fordwells LDelly End New A Begbroke
Windrush_* Great Barrington Fhibrook s Asthall Leigh Halfey o Yatt Nodhileigh "'reelarld‘:humh o
e : winbrool
i Little Barrington Burford ' i Crawley \® Poffley End Hanborough N
= 5 P4 72
Ashall Minster ~
()] ) 77\ Cassington
P ] Woriham Minster___ ; Bemard Gate g
_ = o Westwell Lovell LTS Witney ; . 1‘
Holwell S . . \ ngh Cogges L lk Eynsham
) Bradwell “Shilton Curbridge 4 South Leigh LS Swiniord S Wytham
. ] 5 7}
A Ducklington o
Q Brize Norton § g
o # Farmoor
> .Gav‘lléan. 3 Bt
7577 S 5
85 B Hardwick glsu':m
s anton A2
c“Eelslleach Turville JA & Harcourt ;
£ Kehcot Yelford <
Eastioach Martin Filkingsz”~ ® aovescol . ) West End T\ Ghamsy
Fyfield \ Black Bourton ) . &
. Broadwell umnor
~~._ _Southrop} ~ Broughton ¢ 8 Bampton ‘Bnghthg::z::;:ke Eaton
Poggs o Langford P R As‘“fé&le‘ . ~ = a',{
B ¥
Little Clanfield Shifford, % /, Nerthmoor Henwood
Faringdon Wootton Village @
e Chlrz\ney Appleton _gWootton
Dry Sanford
Uechlade,on Thames e
Kelmscott Hinton _Longworth .COthl"
. Waldrist ® . Fyfield -
) Kingston yfie , Tubney Shie plon
Bagpuize 14"
& 7

e -—B/“>-/ P
Buscot A
Lm rth
o Pusey o) 2
e
! W/ﬁ‘ ‘
Charney

Fanngdon Hatford Bassett ’ ?
. ‘ )
: ® Lyford Ve

Coalaakilid r..,mm,m..au

e — i Kilometers SO heVale | g Hanney 9 anney
0 /L2 4 6 8 y 4

® Settelments [777] National Landscapes
@ Primary A Roads "] Non Strategic Development Areas
e A Roads _ # | strategic Development Areas
——— B Roads | Strategic Location for Growth

Minor Road National Strategic Infrastructure Projects

- Sustrans National Cycle Route D West Oxfordshire Lowlands MAP
@ Railway Stations #_*®, Oxfordshire Boundary
—— Railway Line :_ _: District Boundaries
RAF Brize Norton . . . Bordering Authorities

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of
Her Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright, and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

Oxfordshire County Council Licence No AC0000851087 2025

Figure WOL1: Map of the West Oxfordshire Lowlands MAP Plan Area

Page 17



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Witney, Carterton, and the villages along the A40 corridor are key commuter settlements for
Oxford. 16% of people in the MAP Plan area (18% from Witney) commute to Oxford, for work
with it being the main travel destination outside the district’. However, the West Oxfordshire
Lowlandsis also home to a range of employment sites, most notably RAF Brize Norton, the UK’s
largest RAF base with approximately 5,800 Service Personnel, 300 civilian staff and 1,200
contractors based at the site3. Other important employment sites within the West Oxfordshire
Lowlandsinclude Siemens, (all workers due to relocate to new Bicester site by 2030), Curbridge
Business Park, Windrush Industrial Park, Witan Park Industrial Estate, the West Oxfordshire
Business Park, Ventura Business Park, Carterton Industrial Estate, Oakfield Industrial Estate,
Oasis Business Park, Hanborough Business Park, Blenheim Office Park, Standlake Business
Park, Stanton Harcourt Industrial Estate, New Yatt Business Centre, Wroslyn Road Industrial
Estate, Bampton Business Centre and Crawley Mill Industrial Estate. In 2025, it was estimated
that there were 43,900 jobs in the West Oxfordshire Lowlands. This figure is projected to grow
to approximately 49,900 by 2050* based on the currently adopted allocations.

The West Oxfordshire Lowlands are important from a leisure and tourism perspective, with
Crocodiles of the World, Cogges Manor Farm, Witney District Museum and The Witney Lakes
Resort, Cotswold Wildlife Park, Oxford Bus Museum, Minster Lovell Hall and Dovecote, Burford
Tolsey Museum, Kelmscott Manor, and the Swinford Museum, located in the MAP Plan area. The
area is also important from a green space and nature perspective, with the area featuring a
large amount of beautiful countryside for those living, working and visiting the area, the
primary focused on the rolling hills of the Cotswolds National Landscape. The Cotswold

National Landscape is the largest National Landscape in England with 790 square miles of
designated land. Other attractions from a green space and nature perspective are the River
Windrush, Chimney Meadows National Nature Reserve, the Thames Path and Kilkenny Country
Park. In addition, Blenheim Palace and the Oxfordshire Museum are located in the surrounding
area. Access to the Cotswolds and local countryside is available through a variety of cycle
routes and pathways.

The compact nature of towns and villages in the West Oxfordshire Lowlands provides an
excellent opportunity to increase the number of people walking and cycling for local trips,
albeit the MAP Plan by nature has a typical rural setting. Both Witney and Carterton are
supported by a network of footways or footpaths along the majority of roads, footpaths
through greenspaces and between different streets and some cycleways that provide links
around the towns. The local networks of walking, wheeling and cycling routes provide
connections between residential properties, workplaces and the key facilities provide in
Witney and Carterton. The quality, provision and infrastructure of the walking, wheeling, and
cycling routes varies across the area as outlined in the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure
Plans (LCWIP’s), which may discourage some people from walking and cycling®.

Page 18



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

The villages within the MAP Plan area generally have footways or footpaths that support
walking and wheeling within each settlement. Connections to the surrounding countryside,
neighbouring villages and employment sites are provided by a network of walking, wheeling
and cycling routes and paths of varying quality and accessibility, including some that are
suitable for horseriders. This includes routes along key roads such as the A40 and A4095, Public
Rights of Way (PRoW) network, the National Cycle Network (NCN) and recreational routes. The
MAP Plan area has an extensive network of PRoW, comprising over 1,089 individual paths with
a total length of approximately 460 kilometres. NCN Route 57 runs between west Witney NCN
Route 48 at Northleach via Burford, while NCN Route 422 runs from Long Hanborough towards
Charlbury, and onwards towards Gloucestershire and Worcestershire. In addition, several
nationally recognised recreational routes extend through the MAP Plan area including the
d'Arcy Dalton Way, the Palladian Way, the Roman Way, the Thames Pilgrim Way, the Thames
Path, the Wychwood Way and the Wye to the Thames route. The National Byway Network, is a
5,000 km sign-posted leisure cycling route across the UK, also passes through the MAP Plan
area between Burford and Charlbury. These routes provide opportunities for walking, wheeling

and cycling primarily for leisure and recreation.

The main public transport access for residents,
workers and visitors to the West Oxfordshire
Lowlands is via the bus network, which provides
connections between the towns and villages within
the MAP Plan area as well as internal town services.
The key bus routes (more frequent than one bus per
hour) in the MAP Plan area are the S1 between
Carterton and Oxford via Witney and Eynsham, the
S7 between Witney and Oxford via North Leigh, Long Hanborough and Woodstock, the E1
between Oxford and Oxford (Osney Island) via Botley, and the H2 between Witney and the John
Radcliff Hospital, via Eynsham and North Oxford. The local bus network also provides
connections to Cheltenham, Chipping Norton, Charlbury, Abingdon, Lechlade-on-Thames,
Swindon, and villages in the surrounding areas.

While buses are the main form of public transport, rail services are accessible from the village
of Long Hanborough in the northeastern corner of the MAP Plan area. Hanborough Rail Station
is the busiest station in West Oxfordshire and the ninth busiest in Oxfordshire by passenger
numbers®. Hanborough is on the North Cotswold Line, with services running to Hereford,
Malvern, Worcester, Oxford, Didcot Parkway and London Paddington. As part of OxRail 2040:
Plan for Rail there are proposals to upgrade the station to provide a second platform and for
the reinstatement of the double track between Charlbury and Wolvercote to allow an increase

Page 19



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

in services along the line. In addition, there are aspirations to create a mobility hub at the
station to improve connectivity and integration between different modes.

The A40 is the key strategic road for the Lowlands area, which runs east to west between Oxford
and Cheltenham (and onwards to London and South Wales) and provides direct onward road
links to the A34 (Bicester M40 (J9) to Southampton), M40 (London to Birmingham) and M5
(Birmingham to Exeter). Along some sections of the A40 traffic flows are in excess of 30,000
vehicles a day, which is significant’. In addition to the A40, the A415 and A4095 run through
Witney, providing links to Abingdon and Bicester respectively, while the A361 and A424 route
through Burford, providing connections to Chipping Norton, Stow-on-the-Wold, Swindon, and
Banbury. These A-roads are complimented by network of B-roads as well as county roads,
providing connections to the

Given its location and the increasing number of employment opportunities, more people are
calling the West Oxfordshire Lowlands their home. It is anticipated that the combined
population will grow over the coming years, with 6,000 homes allocated in the Lowlands area
in the West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031. Due to the homes that are planned, the population is
projected to increase by around 14,5008 Furthermore, the emerging West Oxfordshire Local
Plan 2043 outlines the preferred spatial options for new housing and employment sites in the
period up to 2043. Within the emerging Local Plan, there are options for new housing
allocations in Witney, Carterton, and Brize Norton, Hanborough, Bampton, Aston, Burford,

Ducklington and Standlake and employment allocations in Witney and Carterton. If all sites
were to come forward, this could result in between 7,200 and 10,000 new houses and 20
hectares of employment® and result in a population increase of between 17,750 and 24,700. As
such, the population of the Lowlands could reach in excess of 136,000 by 2043.




89,000~ e
in Witney
Key facts 3 ~ 28 50D

and figu res C residents in Carterton

Approximately 136 ,000 by 2043

6,000 new

= 42% of commuters
homes. planned by 2031

travel less than 5km

A40 road link to Oxford, M40, 71% of residents &
A34 and Cheltenham T 70 % of workers @;

Use a vehicle for commuting

20 bus routes in the area

including $1 bus link to Oxford
88% of households have a

car with average household
owning 1.5 vehicles

Hanborough Station .
Busiest station Ewthe Cotswold line 43,000]0[’35 in 2021

Rail links to Worcester, Great Malvern, Oxford, J

Readi d Lond i
eading and London 49,900 jobs by 2050

. RV
Local Tourism gateway: | g ‘H
WCROCODILES SR ()ZroRn BUs MusEUpY

T ‘w-!dhht

Cotswolds : KELMACOTI]
e Il .'l W ANOR T
E{?ﬁiﬁﬂlﬁm o (8] o Local Facilities:
38 schools
e ia 9 medical centres
15 loca ‘n ustria ates T ——
and Business Parks : ;
6 libraries
_ 3 leisure centres
RAF Brize Norton 1 hospital

The country’s largest airbase, employing 7,300 i
civilian and service personnel 1 cinema

Page 21



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Challenges and opportunities

Dealing with the challenges the West Oxfordshire Lowlands are currently facing will improve
the lives of those living, working, visiting and conducting business in the area. These challenges
will affect everyone differently and will have greater impacts on certain groups, such as
children, the elderly, people with disabilities, and those in poverty. We must recognise the
challenges and opportunities that are faced by residents, workers and visitors of the West
Oxfordshire Lowlands and ensure that the objectives and actions outlined later in this plan
make the towns and villages in the MAP Plan area better for everyone, whilst at the same
maintaining is unique Oxfordshire characteristics and setting. Futhermore, we also accept that
due to the rural nature of the Lowlands and its demographics, some people will need to
continue using a private vehicle for their journeys.

Modal Share

How people move within the West Oxfordshire Lowlands is shaped by the existing
environment, given the typically rural nature and country roads. Many key facilities within the
MAP Plan area are perceived as being ‘easier’ to access by car and why travel another way such
as walking or cycling? Other modes of transport struggle to compete with the ease of getting
around resulting from limited and poor-quality crossing facilities for people walking and
wheeling, to poor cycling infrastructure, and slow and unreliable bus services®™. This makes it
difficult for people who do not own a car to access places or creates journeys that feel
uncomfortable, which can lead, in some cases, to social isolation and create places where
people are car reliant.

Page 22



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

The main source of data is the 2011 and 2021 Census from the Office for National Statistics
(ONS). The results of the 2021 Census were significantly affected by COVID-19 associated travel
restrictions at the time the Census was undertaken. Consequently, this affected how people
travelled to work, with a considerable number working from home. As such, the use of journey
to work and mode share data from the 2021 census is not considered robust and therefore
Census 2011 data is used throughout this MAP Plan. However, it is noted that this data was
collected some time ago, so it may not be fully reflective of the current baseline, although it is
considered the most robust data available.

Therefore, West Oxfordshire Lowlands face challenges in understanding the barriers to
travelling by non-car modes and shifting to more bus, walking, wheeling and cycling journeys.
Census data suggests a reliance on private car use for both those living in the area and those
commuting into the area®. In the Lowlands area, approximately 70% of residents drive to work
based on the 2011 census, while only 11% are made on foot, 4.6% on bikes and just 6.7% by
public transport. For those that work in the area, 69.5% use a vehicle, with 13.6% commuting
on foot, 6.8% on bikes and only 3.6% using public transport® It is evident from census data
that there is a high level of car dependence, although we acknowledge and recognise that this
is partly due to the largely rural make-up of the Lowlands. The issue of car dependence can
also be attributed a sparce population (low population densities), the limited alternatives to
car travel as the primary mode of transport in some locations and the age demographics of the
area. The Lowlands areas has a high percentage of elderly people (20.3% of population are over
65)8.

Census data® shows that a significant proportion live in or near the area where they work, as
outlined in Table WOL1. Across the Lowlands area, 63.4% work within ten kilometres of where
they live, with 31.1% living within two kilometres. In the towns of Witney and Carterton, the
number of people commuting less than two kilometres is even higher, with this being 46.6% in
Witney and 54.1% in Carterton. As such, a large number of trips are made over short distances;
there is significant potential for facilitating a switch to walking (less than two kilometres),
cycling (2-8 kilometres) and bus (greater than two kilometres) for these trips.

Table WOL1: Journey Distance and Mode Share (2011 Census)?®

Mode Share
Location Percentage
| .
: Public
of Work Trips Walking Cycling Other
Transport
Lowlands 31.1% 44.2% 1.4% 34.1% 15.1% 5.3%
0-2km Witney 35.1% 43.5% 1.7% 37.1% 11.5% 6.2%
Carterton 51.6% 44.8% 1.1% 29.5% 19.8% 4.6%
9

Page 23



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Mode Share
Location Percentage :
of Work Trips Car Public Walking Cycling Other
Transport
Lowlands 10.4% T4.7% 2.7% 4.9% 8.0% 10.0%
2-5km Witney 11.4% 73.0% 3.0% 6.8% 8.9% 8.4%
Carterton 2.5% 84.5% 1.9% 5.0% 3/7% 5.0%
Lowlands 21.8% 78.8% 6.4% 2.7% 2.8% 9.3%
5-10km Witney 23.7% 77.3% 10.4% 2.3% 1.8% 8.2%
Carterton 7.3% 80.9% 4.8% 3.1% 4.6% 6.7%

Another challenge in the area is the substantial number of short-distance commutes being
undertaken using a motor vehicle, as shown in Table WOL1. For all the trip lengths outlined in
the table above, the car is the primary mode of transport, despite walking, wheeling, cycling,
or public transport being suitable alternatives for trips of this length.

Furthermore, a significant amount of people also commute to Oxford. Nearly a fifth (18%) of
people from Witney commute into Oxford for work, with this being 16% across the Lowlands
area, as a result Oxford is the main travel destination for work outside of the district®. Trips to
Oxford are of alength where public transport, and from some locations in the Lowlands cycling,
can be aviable option.

Commuting, however, only accounts for a small number of trips. The National Travel Survey
(NTS)Y" shows that 13% of all trips are for commuting, with 27% being for leisure, 18% for
shopping, 13% for education and the remainder being split between personal business, other
forms of escort and business. Data from the National Travel Survey also reveals that across all
journeys (i.e. not just commuting), the car is still likely to dominate how people get around.
66% of trips were either as a driver (42%) or as a passenger in a motor vehicle (25%), with
walking and cycling accounting for 24% of trips, of which the overwhelming majority are by
foot (23%) and public transport accounting for 8%.

Car ownership data also indicates a high level of car dependence, with 88% of households
owning a car®®, This is further demonstrated by the level of car ownership per household. In the
Lowlands, the average number of cars per household is 1.5 cars, which is significantly higher
than the national average of 1.22 cars®. This indicates a strong reliance on private vehicles. This
is exacerbated by the availability of free car parking and slow low-frequency and unreliable bus
services®, which make it convenient for people to use their cars.

10

Page 24



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

The data outlined above demonstrates there is potential to increase mode share for walking,
cycling and public transport in Witney and Carterton. To achieve this, significant investment
will be required in public transport, walking and cycling routes and traffic management, along
with behaviour change support for communities to reach LTCP targets of removing 1 in 4 car
trips by 2030, 1 in 3 by 2040 and support the delivery of a net zero transport network by 2040.

Walking, wheeling and cycling

Despite the compact layout of the towns and villages within the West Oxfordshire Lowlands,
our local communities face numerous barriers to increasing everyday walking, wheeling, and
cycling. These challenges are particularly evident in recent census data from the ONS, which,
asoutlined above, highlights low levels of walking, wheeling, and cycling. Factors such as poor-
quality infrastructure, perceived safety concerns, and gaps in connectivity between
settlements may be contributing to this trend. Addressing these issues will require a people-
centred approach that considers the lived experiences of residents, supports behavioural
change, and ensures that walking, wheeling, and cycling is a convenient and attractive option
for all age groups.

As outlined earlier, many residents in the West Oxfordshire Lowlands, in particular in Witney
and Carterton, live close to where they work, creating an opportunity to promote more
sustainable and active travel choices. In Witney, 32% travel less than two kilometres, with
46.6% travelling less than five kilometres and over 70% travelling less than ten kilometres. In
Carterton, 51.6%% travel less than two kilometres, 54.1% travel less than five kilometres and
61.4% travel less than ten kilometres. For trips that are less than two kilometres, 44% are
undertaken in a vehicle*. Across the villages and more rural areas (e.g. Bampton, Aston etc.),
88.2% travel less than ten kilometres for work, with 43.2% travelling less than five kilometres
and 21% travelling less than two kilometres. These journeys cover distances where walking,
wheeling, and cycling are not only viable but potentially preferable alternatives to car travel.

One big challenge to achieving higher
levels of walking, wheeling, and cycling is
the removal of barriers to movement. The
A40 acts as a particular barrier, between
destinations to the north (Witney, Mister
Lovell) and south of the A40 (Carterton,
Ducklington, Curbridge, Bampton, Aston),
as well as within settlements such as
Burford and, in the future Eynsham and
Cassington where housing and key

11



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

amenities are located both north and south of the A40. In addition, other roads such as the
A415 (in Witney and Standlake), A4095 (in Witney, Bampton, Hanborough and Clanfield), A361
(Burford), B4449 (in Aston and Eynsham), B4022 (in Witney and Hailey), Deer Park Road,
Thorney Leys, Witan Way, and Newlands act as local barriers to movement due to a lack of high-
quality crossing points. Unnecessary guard-railing, controlled access barriers and staggered
fencing can also be a barrier to movement by reducing the usable space, restricting movement,
and creating clutter for those walking, wheeling, and cycling.

Waterways and gradients can also act as barriers to movement. The River Windrush acts as a
natural barrier between east and west Witney by limiting the number of crossing places;
furthermore, these walking, wheeling, and cycling routes can get cut off during flood events.
The River Windrush also acts as a barrier to movement in Burford, Minster Lovell, and Crawley.
The northwestern corner of the MAP Plan area also has significant gradient changes as a result
of the hills that form part of the Cotswolds National Landscape; this is most acute in Burford,
where the high street is on a hill, but also in Old Mister, Fulbrook, Ramsden and North Leigh.

In addition to physical barriers, there are also numerous societal barriers to being able to walk,
wheel and safely. This includes things such as being unable to cycle, being unable to afford
equipment, having a disability that prevents or makes movement by non-motor vehicle modes
challenging, a lack of safety or confidence, which is a particularly acute issue for women and
children, and social or religious norms*. These challenges can be addressed through providing
access to training or education, reducing financial barriers, using new technologies, working
more closely with interest groups and community-based organisations in policy development
and engaging with ethnic communities®.

There are a number of schemes and initiatives in development that aim to reduce or remove
these challenges, including the Witney High Street and Market Square Enhancements scheme,
the delivery of new crossings and schemes in the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure
Plan’s (LCWIPs) for Witney, Carterton and Eynsham and the delivery of the Strategic Active
Travel Network (SATN) routes. Opportunities also exist for micro-mobility schemes such as e-
scooters in urban areas and e-bikes in the more rural areas, in particular in locations with
gradients.

Traffic Congestion

The most significant area of congestion across the West Oxfordshire Lowlands area is the A40
corridor. The A40 runs east to west through the area, linking it to Oxford and Cheltenham and
connecting places such as Witney, Burford, Carterton, and Eynsham to the A34, M40 and M5.
The A40 also provides direct road links to the A34, M40 and M5. The A40 corridor is not served

12

Page 26



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

well by high-quality and effective public transport. As a result, the route is highly trafficked and
congested, particularly from Witney eastwards, and buses are unable to move freely at peak
times, resulting in long bus journey times and poor service reliability, which limit its ability to
offer a viable alternative to the car®.

The A40 currently does not have west-facing
slip roads at either the Shores Green or
Minster Lovell junctions. The absence of
west-facing slips at Shores Green influences
traffic movements along the A4095 through
Witney and contributes to Witney’s Air
Quality Management Area® (AQMA). In
February 2025%, work began constructing
west-facing slip roads at Shores Green to

alleviate the congestion in Witney’s town centre, improve the air quality and prowde walklng,
wheeling and cycling routes along the B4022. The construction of the Shores Green slips are
expected to be completed and operational by Summer 2026.

Congestion along the A40 corridor has been a long-standing issue?, with the route being highly
trafficked, with over 30,000 vehicles on a daily basis?. Figure WOL2 illustrates the congestion
along the A40 corridor in Witney, Burford and Eynsham during the AM and PM peak hours. To
provide a variety of transport options within the West Oxfordshire Lowlands, bus prioritisation,
and walking, wheeling, and cycling improvements may be required to provide viable
alternatives to the car, which will in turn reduce congestion and provide further opportunities
for improving sustainable travel.

~
s

] @C 0 10km
o ‘

T —

@ 2023 am congestion heatmap K ’ ) 2023 PM congestion heatmap

e

Figure WOL2: Congestion Heat Map (Left: 2023 AM; Right: 2023 PM) 2023 INRIX data.

13

Page 27



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

The same data in Figure WOL2 also shows that there are other congestion pockets across the
area. In Burford, on the A40 and A361, there is a notable congestion pinch-point, especially
during the morning peak hours. Another location is the centre of Bampton, where the B4449
and A4095 converge, especially at the mini roundabout outside of Bampton Post Office. This is
further exacerbated by narrow roads and on-street parking, which reduces the available road
space, especially for larger vehicles.

To reduce bus journey times, improve reliability of services, and improve air quality, reducing
congestion is essential. To reduce congestion, schemes will need to be delivered that will
enhance walking, wheeling and cycling routes and the ability for people to use these and
provide faster and more frequent bus services. Doing so will offer people greater choice in how
they travel to key trip attractors (such as healthcare, education, leisure, and employment sites),
improving health outcomes and air quality®.

Along the A40 specifically, improvements will need to ensure the A40 corridor can
accommodate the additional travel demand resulting from the West Oxfordshire Local Plan by
enabling modal shift towards public transport and active travel. Firstly, the construction of
Eynsham Park and Ride which was completed in 2024 and is due to open in 2027. When the
Park and Ride opens, it is expected to attract a significant number of vehicles, leading to a
reduction in congestion and will operate as an interchange for a variety of transport modes. In
addition, the A40 Eynsham Park and Ride to Wolvercote scheme will deliver a new junction
connecting the Park and Ride to the A40, new bus lanes, and upgraded walking and cycling
facilities to enable fast, reliable, congestion-free bus travel along the A40.

There is great potential to grow walking,
wheeling, and cycling within towns and
villages in the area, especially in Witney,
Carterton and the larger villages including,
Eynsham, Bampton and Long Hanborough.
However, congestion and high traffic flows
currently inhibit this®*. This discourages
walking, wheeling, and cycling, worsens
road safety, increases air and noise pollution

levels, and negatively impacts health,

particularly for those with respiratory issues or who are vulnerable®. Using a Healthy Streets
approach, there are opportunities to re-purpose the highway by providing wider footways,
segregated cycleways, and larger public spaces. This will improve safety, reduce air and noise
pollution, and provide choice in how people travel around their communities, creating more

14

Page 28



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

opportunities for residents to live healthy lives. This can help achieve the targets and vision
contained in the LTCP and the supporting Active Travel Strategy.

Public transport

The bus network in West Oxfordshire Lowlands
is heavily relied on as the main form of public
transport due to limit available of other modes
of transport (e.g. rail). The existing local bus
network provides a range of connections
within the area and to other destinations
outside of the MAP Plan, such as Oxford,
Cheltenham, Burford, Woodstock, Charlbury,
Kidlington, Abingdon, Chipping Norton, John

Radcliffe Hospital, and Swindon.

There are currently no high-frequency (minimum of four buses per hour) bus services operating
in the Lowlands, although between Witney and Oxford (S1, S2, S7, H2, X15), Eynsham and
Oxford (S1, S2, E1) and Witney and Carterton (S1, 233, 19) there are numerous services
operating between the same destinations creating a combined frequent level of service. The
principal bus services are operated by Stagecoach (S1, S7, E1, 233, 234), Pulhams (X9, X52 19,
64), Thames Travel (H2) and Oxford Bus Company (X15) and are operated by diesel buses.
Recent improvements to bus services in the Lowland area includes the reinstatement of direct
services for Witney and Carterton to Swindon (64), new peak time express services between
Carterton and Oxford (S2X), increasing service frequency of routes X15 and 19 serving
Standlake (X15 and 19), Bampton (19) and Aston (19) to hourly, increasing weekend services
between Witney and Chipping Norton (X9) and improvements to services on key inter-urban
route S2 between Cheltenham, Witney and Oxford.

Witney is the main hub for buses across the Lowlands, being served by ten of the inter-urban
bus routes as well as six local town services. The secondary hub in the area is Carterton which
is served by six inter-urban routes and three local services, although one of the inter-urban
services (H2) only has a limited service during the day (i.e. only during peak hours), with
Eynsham served by four inter-urban routes. East-west connections between Burford,
Carterton, Witney, Eynsham and Oxford have a good level of service, with a minimum of two
buses per hour. However, north-south connectivity at locations away from the A40 corridor is
more limited, including in Hailey, Charlbury, Bampton, Aston, Stanton Harcourt and to
locations such as Chipping Norton, Charlbury, Swindon, The Wychwoods and Abingdon is more
limited, with most routes operating on an hourly or less frequent basis. From 2023, Oxford Tube

15

Page 29



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

coach services expanded to incorporate a route between Carterton and London, via Minster
Lovell, Witney, Eynsham and Cassington. The service operates twice per day in both directions
(two towards London in the morning and two from London in the late afternoon / early
evening).

One of the key issues with the bus network serving the area is congestion along the A40
corridor. A40 congestion levels result in long bus journey times and poor service reliability®*.
During the off-peak periods, the journey time between Carterton and Oxford is 80-85 minutes,
while between Witney and Oxford, the journey time is approximately 47-52 minutes®. However,
during the peak hours, this can increase to 114-119 minutes between Carterton and Oxford and
67-72 minutes between Witney and Oxford**. During peak hours, the S1 has an average speed
of 11.3mph between Witney and Oxford*, which discourages the use of bus services, making
driving the easiest and quickest choice to undertake this journey. Although it is noted that
journey times outside peak hours are also slow, with an average speed of just 15.7mph between
Witney and Oxford. Improving journey times and making services more resilient to congestion
will play a big part in getting people to shift to buses for their commute®.

Additionally, the quality of the bus infrastructure varies significantly across the area, with
limited provision of real-time information (RTI), raised kerbs, onward travel maps and shelters
with seating and lighting. These features are associated with improved passenger experience,
increased efficiency, enhanced reliability, and accessibility. The provision of RTI access in the
area is relatively limited, with 2.2% of bus stops in Carterton (3 out of 137), 3.9% of bus stops in
Witney (8 out of 204), and 10.8% of bus stops in Eynsham (4 out of 37) having RTI; the remaining
towns and villages have no RTI*". This highlights the need for further investment to improve the
passenger experience®.

The West Oxfordshire Lowlands has one railway
station, Hanborough (located 8.5 kilometres
northwest of Witney). Hanborough is served by the
Stagecoach bus S7, taking approximately 22

minutes to get to Witney. However, when travelling
from most other locations in the Lowlands area, it
requires at least two buses (e.g. Burford, Carterton,
Bampton, Aston). There is a shared use

walking/cycle route along the A4095 between

Witney and Hanborough station via North Leigh for those who live closer to the station. At
present, this route does not meet national guidance®, being indirect, of poor quality, and
narrow. Both the Witney LCWIP and the Strategic Active Travel Network (SATN) have identified
this as an opportunity to improve what is considered a primary inter-urban route between

16

Page 30



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Hanborough Station and Witney. Residents, workers and visitors to Carterton, Witney,
Eynsham, Standlake, Ducklington and Cassington also benefit from direct access to Oxford Rail
Station (via buses S1,S2, S2X, E1 or X15). Oxford is served by a wider range of services, including
twice per hour services to London Marylebone and London Paddington and hourly services to
Bournemouth, Birmingham, Coventry, and Manchester Piccadilly.

Hanborough rail station (on the North Cotswold Line) is the busiest station in West Oxfordshire.
The station is the ninth busiest in Oxfordshire by passenger numbers*. Services run to
Hereford, Great Malvern, Worcester, Oxford, Didcot Parkway, Reading, and London Paddington.
Hourly train services operate between Worcester and London, with additional services during
peak hours. In total of there are 22 trains per day between Hanborough and Oxford, the journey
takes approximately 10 minutes. The station has a 24 cycle parking spaces, 248 car parking
spaces as well as two bus stops on Main Road served by bus routes S7 and 411 and the weekend
only Blenheim Shuttle bus. However, it is understood that the station car park is regularly at
capacity, which can rail passengers missing connections*, although it is observed that there
are a number of constraints to providing more car parking at the station. The strain on cat
parting is partially down to rail services not being integrated with bus services timetables,
resulting in very minimal connection times or 20 to 30 minute waits, and more limited
opportunities by walking and cycling due to its location*’. Improvements to Hanborough
station will be required to support the increase in services, which are in turn needed to support
the expected population growth in the local area. This includes, as set out in OxRail 2040: Plan
for Rail the need to provide a mobility hub at the station as well as proposals to upgrade the
station to provide a second platform and for the reinstatement of the double track between
Charlbury and Wolvercote to allow an increase in services along the line.

In comparison to locations in Oxfordshire, residents in West Oxfordshire have limited public
transport options, particularly via rail. For instance, towns like Didcot and Banbury have direct
rail connections to destinations such as Swindon, Bristol, Cardiff, Birmingham, and Coventry,
which significantly enhance their accessibility and connectivity. The lack of direct rail access in
the area results in residents and visitors relying heavily on bus services or private vehicles.

Following upgrades to the North Cotswold line between 2008 and 2011, the majority of the
route is now double track, except for sections between Wolvercote Junction north of Oxford
and Charlbury (four miles) and between Evesham and Worcester (five miles). This limits the
number of services that can operate on the line and can result in delays along the line, as
outlined by the reliability statistics from the Office of Rail and Road (ORR)*. Hanborough is
ranked in the bottom five of stations in Oxfordshire for both delays and cancellations. For the
period between April 2025 and March 2026, only 69.2% (Ranked 3 of 19 for most delays in
Oxfordshire) of rail services at Hanborough were on time and 3.4% of services were cancelled

17

Page 31



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

(Ranked 5 of 20 for most cancellations in Oxfordshire). The North Cotswold Line Taskforce,
which is a group made up of five county authorities and four Local Enterprise Partnerships
(LEPs), including OCC, proposes the dualling of the remaining section of the North Cotswold
Line (except for a small section at Worcestershire Parkway) and the provision of two platforms
at Hanborough and Pershore, to allow an increase in services including up to four services per
hour between Hanborough and Oxford.

Despite these limitations, there are several potential benefits to improving public transport
links in the Lowlands - explored further in this plan. Overall, while the area currently faces
challenges in terms of public transport connectivity, there are significant opportunities to
enhance transport links and realise various economic, social, and environmental benefits. This
will be particularly important in the villages where there are limited alternatives to private
vehicle use.

Road safety

Minimising road danger is fundamental in creating a safe environment for those walking,
wheeling, riding a bike and using public transport, whilst also reducing danger for drivers. In
the last five years (2020-2024), there have been a total of 116 killed or seriously injured
(KSls) collisions recorded in the MAP Plan area, with ten people losing their lives. As
outlined in Figure WOL3.

= =
.
- .- >
) ¢
L)
. » '
.
. °
.
3 » L
L .
* .‘ o 4 ..
1 . b < = . o e T
W .- 3
. . 1 e ) Py
* o . L
- . .
. . < -
- o
) » -
~ o 1
o
.
) .‘ e .
y e e
. 20 3
L]
.
. . . |
. "8
. ®. -
.
.
. Key
e Serious
)
-
. e Fatal
s

Figure WOL3: Map KSI Collision Locations

18

Page 32



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

The areas with the highest concentration of KSls are along the A40 where 22 KSIs have
occurred and in Witney where 21 KSI have been recorded. Of the 106 serious collisions in
the MAP Plan area, 13 involved pedestrians, 19 involved cyclists, 28 involved elderly
persons and nine involved children. These statistics show why it is so important that the
most vulnerable road users are protected; despite being a much smaller proportion of the
journeys made, the most vulnerable groups make up over half of the KSIs recorded. All
recorded KSIs involve motorised vehicles in some form or another, with the 116 KSlIs
recorded equating to 1.93 KSIs per month over the last five years.

The KSls recorded in the MAP Plan area included 19 cluster sites, with either a fatal or two
serious collisions. In the area, there are a considerable number of collisions involving
vulnerable road users, with these being well above the national average. For example, of
the KSI collisions recorded, 16.4% involved bikes, 24.1% involved the elderly and 7.8%
involved children. This is compared to the UK averages for vulnerable road users of 13.9%
for bike users, 21.7% for the elderly, and 4% involved children*.

As well as the human cost to society, every KSI collision brings an economic cost. It was
estimated in 2022 that each fatality in the UK costs £2.52 million, and every serious injury
costs £290,000%. The LTCP adopted a Vision Zero approach, which aims to eliminate all KSls
on Oxfordshire’s roads and streets, with the Council seeking to “have zero, or as close as
possible, road fatalities or life-changing injuries” by 2050.

Car Parking

Car Parking in West Oxfordshire Lowlands is mostly free and readily available for up to 12 hours
in some locations*, including Witney, Carterton, Eynsham, Hanborough and Burford. Town
centre parking is located very close to amenities in Witney and Carterton. This, combined with
free parking, makes driving for many the most convenient and attractive choice compared to
alternatives, which cannot compete with the time, price, and perceived safety of driving. The
Lowlands area also has a significant amount of parking availability e.g. from on-street and off-
street parking.

WODC undertook a review of the parking availability across West Oxfordshire as part of a mid-
term review of their 2016-2031 Parking Strategy. The study reviews the likely future demand for
parking, which is predicted to increase, how parking can be managed, whilst supporting
climate change and active travel. The report concluded that there is a surplus of parking in
Witney and that Burford has parking capacity to meet demands, although this is a common
issue in areas with high tourist activity*’. Within the summary section the Parking Strategy
noted that: “providing additional parking should not be the first solution to alleviating capacity.

19

Page 33



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Promoting and supporting a modal shift that aligns with sustainability requirements, Healthy
Place shaping and Active Transport should be considered first. Sustainability of travel has come
to the forefront of policy change, affecting transport plans including parking. Bus routes, walking,
cycling, motorcycling, car sharing and other forms of sustainable travel are firmly at the top of
the travel hierarchy and positioned above personal car travel”, which is a position supported by
the County Council. The study also noted that congestion, traffic flow issues and pollution are
high priority for action®.

The convenience of car parking (and associated
congestion) compared to walking, wheeling,
cycling, and public transport within and around
West Oxfordshire Lowlands contributes to
increased air pollution and congestion. Car
parking is therefore a barrier to the achievement of
the vision and creating a place that puts people

first. Furthermore, by reducing the need for people !
to use their car when travelling in the West Oxfordshire Lowlands, the speed and reliability of
bus services can be improved, as there will be fewer delays from congestion. The availability of
free parking discourages the use of alternative modes of transport for short journeys, as people
have the ability to do so. Consequently, the management of car parking should be considered.

Population and employment growth

The growing population of the West Oxfordshire Lowlands presents many opportunities for
people living and working in the area, but it also brings challenges that will need to be
addressed. The population is projected to increase from approximately 87,000 people in 2023
to 136,000 by 2043. Large strategic residential and employment sites are allocated within both
the currently adopted West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 and the forthcoming West Oxfordshire
Local Plan 2043. In the West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031, this includes Land East of Witney,
Land North of Witney, Salt Cross Garden Village and West Eynsham. Within the Emerging West
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2043, there are options for new housing allocations in Witney, Carterton,
Hanborough, Bampton, Aston, Burford, Ducklington and Standlake and employment
allocations in Witney and Carterton. Further to this, there is also housing and population
growth anticipated in local towns and villages located outside the MAP Plan area, including at
Oxford North, Woodstock, Yarnton and Kingston Bagpuize.

In addition to the residential growth, it is estimated that up to 6,000 jobs will be created in the

West Oxfordshire Lowlands in the period up to 2050, resulting in approximately 49,900 jobs in
the local area by 2050%. This is supported through the West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031, which

20

Page 34



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

allocated 18 hectares of employment land in the Witney Sub-Area and six hectares of
employment land in the Carterton Sub-Area, along with 40 hectares of employment land at
Eynsham as part of the new Salt Cross Garden village development. in addition to this, within
the emerging draft West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2043, a further 10 hectares of employment land
has been identified at both Witney and Carterton. These identified sites would increase the
number of jobs across the MAP Plan area, above the 49,900 that are anticipated at present.

The growth that is anticipated in the West Oxfordshire Lowlands brings a number of
opportunities: it can help to support the delivery of walking, wheeling and cycling schemes;
improvements to public realm; the provision of public transport contributions to improve bus
services and facilities; the provision of car club vehicles or parking spaces; and the provision of
new and improved facilities and amenities such as schools, community halls, shops and
healthcare facilities. This MAP Plan will support the growth in a way that is sustainable for our
communities and takes a holistic approach to what is required to support the growth.

Economic growth

Economic Growth is of a significant challenge across the West Oxfordshire Lowlands. The West
Oxfordshire Economic Needs Assessment outlines that the local economy consists of small
businesses, agriculture, tourism as well as some limited modern, high-specification
employment space. In the Lowlands area, employment sites include, RAF Brize Norton, the
UK'’s largest RAF base, 15 local industrial estates/ business parks as well as school, farming and
retail employment opportunities. There are also a number of tourist attractions that provide
employment opportunities. However, as set out in the vision of the WODC Local Plan 2031 the
growth in the area needs to take place “without significant change to the intrinsic character” of
the Lowlands - which is a challenge. Development needs to build upon and preserve the
Cotswolds National Landscape, Oxford Green Belt, the Windrush river valley and the historic
nature of many of the towns and villages across the MAP Plan. These limit the scale and
location of employment land and commercial development. -spec employment space

This is demonstrated by the Local Plan allocations. In the current Local Plan 2031 66 hectares
of employment land was allocated in the MAP Plan area, with additional 20 hectares of
employment land outlined in the emerging Local Plan to 2043. When compared with other MAP
areas this anticipated allocation is minimal. For example, the Science Vale MAP Plan area is
allocated for over 200 hectares of employment land up to 2041, while the Bicester and
Surrounding Villages MAP Plan area is allocated for 150 hectares of employment land. The
impact of this can also be clearly seen in the employment travel statistics. Census data
estimates that approximately 15,000 people commute out of the MAP Plan area for work, in
return only 9,500 people commute into the MAP Plan area*. Therefore, the net number of

21

Page 35



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

people out-communing is 5,500, which is a significant barrier to economic growth, it also
contributes significantly to congestion as traffic flow are uneven during peak hours. Of
residents that commute out of the MAP Plan area there are a number of destinations including
Oxford (29% of out commuters), the Vale of White Horse district (15% of out commuters), and
Cherwell district (10% of out commuters)*’. This issue is also being made worse due to the loss
of employers in the area including the Wychwood Brewery, Siemens who are due to relocated
from Eynsham to Bicester by 2030 and a range of retail stores. This is something that is outlined
in the WODC Local Plan 2031, which identified the need to “reduce out-commuting and increase
self-containment’”.

Economic growth is important as it can assist with improving the lives of residents by allowing
the improvement of walking, wheeling and cycling routes, public transport services as well as
ensuring residents have retail, employment and leisure opportunities on their doorstep. If this
Map area is to repeat the benefits of economic growth and make this area more desirable to
invest it is going to need to compete with other towns and key settlements across Oxfordshire
and beyond. Although, it is important, as set out earlier this is delivered against the backdrop
of protecting the landscape, fabric of the community and works towards benefiting the
community as a whole.

Air quality

Air quality is monitored in many locations across the area, notably sites in Witney, Burford, and
along the A40. Improving air quality is necessary to reduce the risk to public health in the
Lowlands. The most severe air quality issues in the area are in Witney. In 2005, an AQMA for the
pollutant nitrogen dioxide (NO,)** was declared in Witney, incorporating Bridge Street and its
junctions with New Yatt Road, Newland, Mill Street and High Street. Levels of NO, in the Witney
AQMA have reduced over recent years, leading to a general improvement in air quality®?, and as
a result the AQMA is to be revoked during 2027. However, due to the growth anticipated in the
area careful monitoring of this location must continue. Witney and Carterton are also in higher
brackets for other forms of pollutants as set out by the National Atmospheric Emissions
Inventory, including sulphur dioxide (SO,), carbon monoxide (CO) and black carbon (Carterton
only)®*. In addition, Witney and Carterton both have high recorded levels of carbon dioxide
(CO,), which has wider implications on health and the climate through the greenhouse effect
and increasing temperatures.

NO, and PM,; are the key pollutants considered in terms of local air quality management and
public health. The annual mean modelled concentrations in 2023 for the MAP plan area were

10.05 pg/m3for NO,and 8.04 pg/m3for PM,s. The maximum annual mean concentrations within
the Lowlands were 12.16 ug/m3for NO,and 8.94 ug/m3for PM, s All of which are found in Witney.

22

Page 36



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

These concentrations exceed the annual mean 2021 air quality guidelines recommended by
the World Health Organisation of 10 ug/m?3for NO,and 5 pg/m?for PM, s,

In addition, there are a number of other locations where pollutant emissions (CO,, CO, Black
Carbon) are elevated:

e (O, - High emissions of CO, (greater than 100-Unit tonnes/1x1km grid) can be found in
most of the villages and other settled areas in the Lowlands area as well as along the
length of the A40 corridor. The notable exception is in Carterton were in one area CO,
emissions are greater than 1,995-Unit tonnes/1x1km.

e CO - High emissions (greater than 16-Unit tonnes/1x1km) highest within Witney and
Cartererton, Eynsham and along the River Thames, with Carterton recording one area
where CO emissions are greater than 160-Unit tonnes/1x1km. The rest of the MAP Plan
area have levels between 0.3- and 16-Unit tonnes/1x1km of CO, with this generally
higher along the A40 and A4095 corridors.

e Black Carbon - The level of Black Carbon is generally low (less than 0.05-unit
tonnes/1x1km) across much of the Map area. The highest levels of Black Carbon in the
MAP Plan area can be found in Witney, Carterton, Eynsham, Long Hanborough and at
Astall with these areas having between 0.2- and 1-Unit tonnes/1x1km of Black Carbon

The Air Quality Lifecourse Assessment Tool (AQLAT) has been developed by the University of
Birmingham for Oxfordshire County Council. The tool looks at health and economic savings
when air pollutant concentrations are reduced in Oxfordshire. The AQLAT was used to calculate
the health and economic savings that would be seen if air pollution levels in the MAP area
reached those set outin the World Health Organisation 2021 air quality guidelines® for NO, and
PM,s. Compared to the 2023 baseline year, the following savings could be seen in 10 years:
£1.43Min NHS cost savings, £664k social care cost savings, £590k productivity cost savings, 123
early deaths prevented, 96 asthma cases prevented, 67 coronary heart disease cases
prevented, 13 lung cancer cases prevented, and 34 stroke cases prevented. This shows the
importance of lowering air pollution concentrations/ levels across the MAP plan area.

As mentioned in our Oxfordshire Air Quality Modelling Report, in 2023 road transport was

estimated to be responsible for 35 % of nitrogen oxide emissions. Nitrogen oxides transform
into nitrogen dioxide (NO,) through a series of chemical reactions. Road transport in 2023 was
estimated to be responsible for 8 % of PM,s in Oxfordshire. In urban background sites, which
are sites away from emission sources, transport contributed to 9.6 % and 15.4 % of NOx
emissions in Carterton and Witney, respectively. The greenhouse gas emissions from road
traffic also contribute to climate change, which exacerbates threats to human health. Aside
from poor air quality, car dominance creates a more sedentary lifestyle, increasing other health

23

Page 37



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

risks such as obesity and type 2 diabetes. In West Oxfordshire, around 1 in 3 children (33%) in
Year 6 are overweight or obese®, which is slightly higher than the Oxfordshire average (32%)
and the levels in South Oxfordshire (29%) and the Vale of White Horse district (30.5%). Studies
suggest that children who regularly walk or cycle to school are less likely to be overweight or
obese than those who travel by car®’.

To obtain better health outcomes, we must reduce air pollution, and in doing so, we will
simultaneously reduce greenhouse gas emissions that will affect our local climate. One way to
do this is to tackle the use of the most polluting forms of transport in Witney and Carterton by
delivering transport interventions that will support the decarbonisation of the transport
network and enable travel behaviours that are more sustainable and active. It is also
recognised that the Lowlands is generally a rural area with a sparce population in some areas
which currently have limited alternatives other than using the car.

Flooding, climate resilience, and the environment

We recognise the need to take action to [l

tackle climate change. The LTCP places the
climate emergency at the forefront through
its 2040 net-zero transport target, seeking
to decarbonise the transport system and
contribute to a climate-positive and
net-zero future. The West Oxfordshire Local
Plan 2031 takes a similar approach, setting
out policies that seek to improve the
district’s resilience to the impacts of
climate change while reducing environmental impacts. The MAP Plan will also support
Oxfordshire’s Local Nature Recovery Strategy by designing projects that strengthen ecological
connectivity, enable nature recovery, and deliver measurable biodiversity gains. It will ensure
that the Council’s transport proposals have regard to the Local Nature Recovery Strategy and
actively contribute to nature recovery and environmental resilience.

Flooding is one of the most important climate change challenges facing the UK. The LTCP puts
addressing the climate emergency at the forefront by decarbonising the transport system,
which will contribute to a climate-positive future and ensure infrastructure is resilient to
climate change, where possible.In the Lowlands, Witney, Minster Lovell Standlake, and
Duckington are situated on the banks of the River Windrush. In addition, Curbridge is situated
in the catchment of Elm Bank, Shilton (and west Carterton) is situated in the catchment of Shill
Brook, Brize Norton is located in the catchment of Highmoor Brook, and Eynsham is situated

24

Page 38



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

in the catchment of Chil Brook and Limb brook, which are all tributaries of the River Thames.
These present a flood risk, with severe flooding events affecting many communities, including
Witney, Minster Lovell, Ducklington, and Brize Norton®®.

A number of locations in the area are at the greatest risk (A greater than 1 in 30 (3.3%) chance
of flooding each year*) from river flooding. Cogges, Newland and Hailey Road in Witney, Little
Minster, Burford, Crawley, Standlake and Ducklington are at a high risk of flooding from the
River Windrush®, while Northmoor, Clanfield, Kelmscott and areas to the South and East of
Eynsham are at a high risk of flooding from the River Thames. Brize Norton and a number of
villages (Aston, Bampton, Black Bourton) to the south are also at a higher risk of flooding.
Witney is most at risk, with 928 properties at risk in flood zone 2°.

In addition to river flooding, many areas of the West Oxfordshire Lowlands are also at risk of
flooding from surface water, although this is mainly an issue in the urban areas of Witney and
Carterton. Flooding in Witney is likely in the town centre and along Welch Way and Duckington
Lane, while in Carterton, this s likely to affect the town centre, RAF Brize Norton and the vicinity
of Carterton leisure centre. While this is primarily an issue in urban areas, the villages of Aston,
Bampton, Crawley, and South Leigh are also at a high risk of surface water flooding. Whilst
affecting the communities in these areas, flooding can also have a significant impact on
transport links to the area, including Hailey Road, Bridge Street and West End, which can
become impassable due to flooding, disconnecting our communities and affecting bus
services.

A number of places in the MAP Plan area have experienced flood events, including Eynsham,
Witney, Minster Lovell, Ducklington, and Brize Norton. Some of the major floods occurred in
July 2007, November 2012, December 2014, December 2020, and November 2024. Of that, the
flooding in 2007 was the most severe as surface water flooding affected many properties and
businesses in Witney, including nearby places like Eynsham, Burford and Standlake®?. In 2007,
WODC recorded 230 flooded properties in Witney, along with several roads and highways.
Flooded properties were also recorded in Crawley, Minter Lovell, and Ducklington®.

Deprivation

Deprivation impacts the lives of many in our communities, and it encompasses a wide range of
aspects of an individual’s living conditions. According to the Indices of Multiple Deprivation
(2019), much of the area is relatively less deprived compared to the rest of the UK, with some
small pockets of relatively more deprived areas. Three areas of Witney were within the 40%
most deprived nationally: Witney Central, Witney East and Witney South. One area of Witney
was within the 50% most deprived nationally.

25

Page 39



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Deprivation leads to health inequalities, and deprived areas are correlated to reduced life
expectancy and high prevalence of long-term health conditions. This is supported by census
data, which indicates that of the top seven census output areas! (an output area has an average
population of 1,600 people) for people with bad or very bad health, four are in the most
deprived areas. Whereas Carterton is relatively un-deprived according to indices of deprivation,
as no output areas were within the 50% most deprived nationally. In terms of health and
wellbeing, Carterton is on equal to or better than England’s average, apart from Carterton
Northeast®.

Thereisalink between transport and deprivation. Those living in deprived areas are more likely
to walk or use public transport to get around and, critically, are much less likely to own a car,
limiting the places they can get to quickly and efficiently.®®, Therefore it is important that high
quality public transport, walking, walking and cycling infrastructure is provided to support
those who do not own a car.

Data on Transport-Related Social Exclusion (TRSE)®® indicates that transport could be playing a
role in some areas, making social exclusion worse. Many areas of Witney are in the top 10% of
areas that are at risk of TRSE, including Peashell Farm, Deer Park, and Cogges. Smaller areas of
Carterton, such as around Lawton Avenue, Brizewood and Saffron Crescent, are also at a
similar level of risk. Meanwhile, areas around Standlake, Clanfield, and Burford are also at risk
in a similar manner. The data indicates that this is being driven by a mix of these areas being
relatively more deprived compared to other areas (especially in Witney and Carterton), as well
as long journey times to key services such as healthcare.

Summary of challenges and opportunities

The West Oxfordshire Lowlands MAP Plan to this point has provided the background to the
challenges and opportunities that are facing the area and that restrict our ability to achieve the
aim, vision, and targets of the LTCP. It defines why it is important that we work to resolve these
issues in the context of how the area will change over the next 25 years and explains why it is
important that we act now.

We are seeking to provide more travel choices for the communities of the West Oxfordshire
Lowlands and build upon the local environment to enrich the sense of the place. Providing
attractive options, which enable people to choose sustainable transport options without
compromising on time and cost, will be pivotal in delivering healthy communities and places.

A Lower layer Super Output Area (LSOA) output area comprises between 400 and 1,200 households and usually
has a resident population between 1,000 and 3,000 persons (ONS, 2021)

26

Page 40



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

We must acknowledge that there will not be a one-size-fits-all solution; one mode of transport
will not suit everyone. We need to cater for different needs and provide more travel options.

Thinking about how all the different modes of transport work together will be critical in
delivering an integrated and inclusive transport network for the West Oxfordshire Lowlands
and across Oxfordshire. We will need to make it seamless for people to switch between modes
of transport. In some cases, this could be cycling to a bus stop or catching a bus to get to a train
station. We will need to make it easier for people to complete multiple trips together, from
school to the doctors, to the shops, and to home/ work. If one of the links in this sequence
breaks down, relying on the car to complete the whole chain may be the only option. The
objectives and actions also recognise that the Lowlands are predominantly rural, with a sparse
population that includes a significant proportion of older residents (around 20% of the
population is aged over 65). Many residents also travel longer distances, and in some situation’s
car travel remains the only practical option.

To resolve these challenges, the Objectives and Actions section that follows sets out how we
start to address the challenges raised above, with a clear focus on place shaping. This section
includes specific objectives and supporting actions that set out how walking, wheeling and
cycling, public realm, public transport, shared mobility, and new infrastructure will be
developed to resolve the challenges affecting the communities in the West Oxfordshire

Lowlands. The objective and actions will also set out how existing, high-quality plans, which
are in place (such as LCWIPs and SATN), will be developed and put into practice at a local level.

27

Page 41



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Planned infrastructure projects

Work has already started to improve transport in the West Oxfordshire Lowlands. There are
several significant transport infrastructure projects that are either currently in progress or
planned. The significant projects include:

1. Eynsham Park & Ride - The 850-space Park and Ride, located on the A40 eastbound,
will help improve congestion on the A40 by enabling interchange with regular and
reliable public transport services into Oxford. The Park and Ride provides an attractive
and more sustainable alternative to the car. Population from a wide catchment will have
access to the facility, and private vehicle trips can be intercepted before the most
constrained and congested sections of the A40. Construction of the Park and Ride was
completed in 2024; however, the site will open in 2027 as part of the wider A40
improvement schemes (set out below).

2. A40 - Eynsham Park and Ride to Wolvercote - The A40 Eynsham Park and Ride to
Wolvercote scheme will deliver a new junction connecting the new Park and Ride at
Eynsham to the A40, new bus lanes, and upgraded walking and cycling facilities to
enable fast, reliable, congestion-free bus travel along the A40 between Eynsham Park
and Ride and Cassington. Funding of £100m from central Government has been secured
to help deliver the section between Eynsham Park and Ride and Cassington. The

28

Page 42



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

funding to deliver the scheme the section of the A40 Eynsham Park and Ride to
Wolvercote scheme between Cassington and Wolvercote is still being sought.

. A40 Access to Witney (Shores Green) - This scheme will construct new west-facing slip

roads at the A40/B4022 Shores Green junction to improve strategic access to Witney.
The improvements at the Shores Green junction will give residents more choices,
particularly those wanting to access the A40. Crucially, it will enable more local and
through traffic to access the A40 without needing to travel through Witney town centre
or use the A40/ Ducklington Lane junction. The improvements will help alleviate
existing congestion and air quality problems in Witney town centre, particularly at
A4095 Bridge Street. The reduction in vehicles through the town centre will also create
a safer environment for people to walk, wheel and cycle. Construction of the scheme
started in February 2025 and is expected to be complete in Summer 2026. This scheme
will also lead to a complementary project to redesignate the A4095 through Witney to
further reduce the through traffic.

Witney High Street and Market Square Enhancements - A scheme to deliver walking,

wheeling and cycling improvements that support and maintain the new traffic
arrangement on Witney High Street and Market Square, which removes through traffic.
The improvements aim to complement the town’s history and character but would also
help to improve the look and feel of Witney for visitors and for those arriving by walking,
cycling or public transport. Following early public consultation and stakeholder
engagement this scheme is due to move into construction during 2026.

Carterton Mobility Hub Pilot - The Mobility Hubs Project in Oxfordshire aims to
develop two pilot sites, in Benson (at Benson Marina) and Carterton, as part of a broader
strategy to enhance sustainable and accessible transportation networks. The project
seeks to create multimodal transport interchanges, integrating public transport,
walking, wheeling and cycling. Within Carterton, a variety of sites were considered, with
Brize Norton Road in the town centre identified as the preferred location for a Mobility
Hub.

Strategic Active Travel Network (SATN) - SATN is a proposed countywide active travel
network of walking and cycling routes. There are a number of key routes within the West

Oxfordshire Lowlands that we aspire to work with our partners to deliver including:
Witney to Carterton; Witney to Hanborough; Witney to Stanton Harcourt; Witney to
Eynsham; Witney to Cumnor; Eynsham to Oxford North; Eynsham to Hanborough;
Eynsham to Oxford via Botley and Farmoor; and Hanborough to Woodstock. There are
also complementary and secondary routes (such as Witney to Burford, Witney to
Charlbury, Witney to Standlake, Carterton to Burford, Carterton to Faringdon/
Bampton, Eynsham to Standlake and Standlake to Aston and Bampton).

29

Page 43



7.

10.

11.

12.

West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Access to Carterton - To support the existing communities in the Carterton area and
growth as part of the 2031 Local Plan, the safety of the B4477 will be improved for users.
In addition, a safer cycling route between Carterton and Witney will be provided via
Witney Road.

Oxfordshire School Streets - Carterton - The County Council has plans to introduce
school streets at Edith Moorhouse Primary School and St Joseph's Catholic Primary
School in Carterton. A school street is developed by working in collaboration with
schools, implementing additional active travel measures to support the increase in
travelling to school by walking, wheeling, cycling, and scooting, whilst reducing car-use
and car-dependence®.

Safeguarded land - As part of both the existing and emerging West Oxfordshire Local
Plans, there has been safeguarding of land for potential future highway and active travel
schemes. This includes Witney Shores Green Slip Roads (under construction), West End
Link Road, Witney Northern Distributor Road, and the Eynsham Western Spine Road.
The emerging West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2043 proposes to safeguard land for a new
Carterton - Witney - Oxford Rail Corridor (CWORC).

EV Charging - The County Council has ambitious plans, as part of Oxfordshire’s LEVI
programme, to deliver at least 1,200 new public EV charging points across Oxfordshire
by the end of 2027, with this including at least 180 EV charging points in West
Oxfordshire.

Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) - The Witney LCWIP is
an evidence-based plan forimproving the cycling and walking experience in Witney and

to surrounding towns and villages for everyone. This LCWIP includes a list of prioritised
improvements. The vision is that ‘by 2041, Witney will have safe, convenient, and well-
connected walking (including wheeling) and cycling networks that are accessible for
people of all abilities, ages, and backgrounds. These networks will connect people to
where they want to go, including excellent routes to access public transport. Schemes
within the LCWIP are being developed and delivered as funding opportunities become
available. The Witney LCWIP was developed in collaboration with stakeholders to
ensure local views are reflected.

Carterton and the surrounding area LCWIP - Carterton and the surrounding area
LCWIP is a document that identifies the location and types of improvements to the
cycling and walking network that are required to support more people to cycle and walk

in the Carterton area. The LCWIP is a ten-year plan encompassing the urban area of
Carterton and Brize Norton and its links to the surrounding villages. Schemes within the
LCWIP are being developed as funding becomes available.

30

Page 44



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

13. Eynsham and the surrounding area LCWIP - Eynsham and the surrounding area LCWIP
identifies issues with and potential improvements to the cycling and walking networks
within the area. It aims to support more people to cycle and walk (including wheeled
users) for short journeys or as part of longer journeys.

The location of these schemes is outlined in Figure WOL4 below.

Ranisden S X
N> \
~

: East End N <3 _Bln(io'w
[} Long HJ"‘.DOB}G(}}' N\ e == — o N
] P oS Begproke Kidlington|
I 2 ! NN \
Delly Epd e | N~ \
Fulbrook New Yatt _ Z Church Hanborbugh NI \
Swinbrook Haildy b 1 N\ S b \
Nir 2 hN arnton
Burford / Poffley End o - [} Y \
\ N~ Crawley A .

Cassington:

Jwell

7 \\ Wytham
// \‘\
/ \\
/
/ Farmoor
/ N
/ S
\ % N Sdtton N

1 \ () ~ / N

- \ Stahtor Harcourt "% G

! S a8 /

Kencot | \\ ,’ S=d7 //
Alvescot ! \ ’ B /

| \ 4 bt ® Chawley
2 Blacd Bourton \ % ~<f

A S ’ s

1 Brighthal n\p;on ’

! ’Bgmpmh' _____ A—g;)p_ ______________ Standlake /,
ngford ! — N Northmoor %

1 -~ Cote AN ’

N > - N 7
Cigpdtd N . Henwood /g, il
J 3
w E —— - \ Contains 9¥data © Crown GBpyright and database right 2025
——— Kilometers § £2RREn Lontains dafa from OS Zoomstack Bayu
S 0 25 5 b "
Key
[ witney LCWIP ® A40 - Eynsham Park and Ride A Safeguarded land - West End
[[] cCarterton LCWIP to Wolvercote Link Road
Eynsham LCWIP Witney High Street & Market A Safeguarded land - Witney

Square Enhancements Northern Distributor Road

SATN Route (Straight Line
Indicative Alignment)

Carterton Mobility Hub Pilot A Safeguarded land - Eynsham

@ Eynsham Park & Ride Access to Carterton Western Spine Road

Oxfordshire School Streets -
Carterton Schools

8@ 0@ O

. A40 Access to Witney (Shores
Green)

31

Page 45



For West Oxfordshire’s Lowlands to be a place that
is healthy, inclusive, and safe for its communities.
With this done by capitalising on the unique
history and heritage of the area, including as a
gateway to the Cotswolds and as a tourist hub.

Harness the existing
g sense of place through
improve Witney and Carterton, people first design
the main services centres in
West Oxfordshire, to benefit our
residents, to grow the economy
and provide employment

opportunities - =
PP Have an inclusive,

accessible and integrated
transport system

Ensure a greater synergy

between the different
communities in the area

Provide transport choice
to enable a shift in
transport behaviours

Protect and improve
access to the surrounding
natural environment

Support sustainable and
integrated developments,
enhance air quality and
improving climate resilience




West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Objectives and actions

Oxfordshire’s transport system affects the lives of all residents in the area by connecting
communities, supporting businesses, and enabling journeys for education, leisure, and work,
butitis also animportant factor in the design of our places. It is therefore vital that we improve
the lives of those who live and work within the area and support the Council's nine priorities,
its Local Transport Connectivity Plan (LTCP) targets, the existing and emerging West
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2041 and national planning requirements.

This section defines how the West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place (MAP) Plan will
help to achieve the targets of the LTCP, whilst also helping to address challenges that are
specific to the area, as established from the review of the evidence base and from site visits.
Each objective will be supported by a series of actions that set out how the objective will
achieve the aims and targets of the LTCP. Every action included below is categorised to show
which of the place components (more detail can be found in MAP Plans: An Introduction) is
relevant to that action, with this shown as follows:

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing
Social & Community | Climate & Environment | Culture & Assets

The objectives and actions below have been grouped into topic areas, with this being ordered
in accordance with the transport user hierarchy, where the needs of people walking and cycling
are prioritised. There is a clear shift from Local Transport Plan (LTP) 4, which this MAP Plan
replaces, to having a place-shaping focus as part of the MAP Plan. The objectives and actions
identified within the West Oxfordshire Lowlands MAP Plan will be taken forward through the

Page 47



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

development of a phased delivery plan (Appendix B). This delivery plan will set out how
proposed actions will be prioritised, funded and implemented over the short, medium and
longer term. As delivery progresses, individual schemes will be developed and refined on a
case by case basis, working closely with delivery partners and, critically, with local
communities to ensure proposals respond to local needs and aspirations. We will specifically
seek to engage with groups with protected characteristics as defined under the Equality Act
2010.-by-case basis, working closely with delivery partners and, critically, with local
communities to ensure proposals respond to local needs and aspirations.

All schemes will be developed using a Vision Led approach, in accordance with the council’s
Implementing Decide & Provide framework. This will ensure that interventions are outcomes
focused and consistent with the objectives of the Local Transport and Connectivity Plan (LTCP),
the National Planning Policy Framework, and relevant supplementary national guidance, while
supporting the creation of healthier, more inclusive and better connected places across the
West Oxfordshire Lowlands.-focused and consistent with the objectives of the -connected
places across the West Oxfordshire Lowlands.

Within the LTP4 Area Strategies, separate
strategies were provided for Witney and
Carterton. The Witney Area Strategy
comprised seven policies, with the
Carterton Area Strategy formed of six
polices. In addition, the A40 Corridor
Strategy comprised one policy. In the nine
years since LTP4 was adopted, a number of
these schemes have either been

completed, partially completed or are
currently being progressed. Where schemes have not been completed or progressed, they have
been assessed to determine whether they are still relevant. The relevant schemes have been
carried forward, developed to build upon polices included within the current and emerging
Local Plans and included as part of the MAP Plan.

Schemes that have been completed include Witney High Street traffic restrictions, the A40
improvement works at Oxford North, the provision of a new roundabout at the A40/ Downs
Roads junction in west Witney, east-west cycle improvements in Witney, the development and
adoption of the Witney, Eynsham and Carterton LCWIP’s, improvements to Hanborough rail
station, improvement of local bus services (buses X15 (formerly 15), 19 frequency doubled),
and the implementation of 20mph speed limits across Witney, Burford, Eynsham, Bampton,
Aston, North Leigh, Minster Lovell, Standlake, Stanton Harcourt and Clanfield.

34

Page 48



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Place shaping

Objective WOL1 prioritises the human and community ..
Objective WOL1 focuses on

providing transport choice
8-14 of the LTCP and its core place-shaping ambition: on short and medium length

dimension of MAP Plans, aligning closely with Policies

to foster sustainable, well-designed, and thriving trips such as those to and
communities where healthy behaviours are the norm from:

and where people feel a strong sense of belonging, school

identity, and connection. The actions under WOL1 Local Shops

represent a shift towards transport interventions that Community Facilities
actively enable vibrant, inclusive, and resilient places. Work

Healthcare Facilities
Local Bus Stops
Local Green Spaces

Rather than treating transport solely as a means of
movement, this approach recognises its role in shaping

the character, functionality, and social fabric of local
areas. By designing infrastructure that supports everyday life and strengthens community
identity, place shaping becomes a catalyst for improved public health, reduced inequalities,
and stronger local economies—key outcomes of the LTCP.

Objective WOL1

Create a sense of place through implementing cohesive healthy place-shaping

interventions.

Why this objective?

Healthy place-shaping ensures well-designed places - Character, community and climate are
key to such places as outlined by Homes England®. Community involvement in the design
process is essential, which can ultimately foster pride and a sense of belonging amongst the
community. Across the Lowlands, there is an opportunity to enhance the existing sense of place
in the area and to create well-designed places by using the Healthy Streets approach (Policy 8
of LTCP) to help prioritise the movement of people walking, wheeling and cycling, in
accordance with Policy 1 of LTCP. The Healthy Streets approach provides guidance and a
design check tool to ensure that new walking, wheeling, and cycling schemes improve the
human experience of streets and encourage walking and cycling. Public realm improvements
can be achieved by re-purposing space from motorised vehicles to those walking, wheeling,
and cycling. These changes can make these places more vibrant and more connected for
people. Improvements to the walking environment, which are well-planned, can result in an
increase of up to 40% in shopping footfall®®. Other associated benefits include greater space for

35

Page 49



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

outdoor seating, longer dwell time and economic benefit through increased retail spend”.
There are social benefits too; places where traffic is reduced in public spaces lead to more
people walking and socialising”".

Using this approach, we will enhance the street environment, improving access to public
transport, cycling, and increasing the space for people to enjoy their towns and villages, and
improving the health of the residents. It is known that public spaces play a vital role in urban
health”. Facilitating healthy behaviours through the design of a place can help improve
people’s lives and reduce health and social care costs and create health and wellbeing” for
those in the Lowlands.

Case Study: Public Realm Enhancements, Altrincham

Altrincham was once known as a “ghost town” with high vacancy rates and poor public spaces.
Trafford Council made it a priority, investing £4 million in public realm improvements,
including better streets, lighting, and seating. The market was refurbished, and a new transport
interchange and hospital were built. The provision of outdoor seating for restaurants increased
the number of visitors and improved the economy. A Business Improvement District helped
drive long-term change. This development work was completed by June 2023, and a plan for
future growth and development till 2032 is already in progress. These efforts brought more
visitors, boosted local pride, and made Altrincham a lively, modern town centre. The project
shows how improving public spaces can help revive struggling high streets, support businesses
and create places people want to visit, live, and invest in.

-
[IFRINCHAM, CHESH

Before ©Trafford Council After ©Trafford Council

We will ensure that we have the community at the heart of the design process and that we
deliver interventions that will contribute to making West Oxfordshire’s Lowlands a healthier,
more vibrant, and successful place in line with our vision for the area. This can include the
introduction of themed wayfinding, community maps, art installations, green spaces and rest
areas, all features which are currently lacking across the area, in particular in Witney and
Carterton.

36

Page 50



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Another key aspect to ensuring togetherness and inclusiveness in our communities is the
provision of leisure, community, and shopping facilities in suitable locations. Due to the nature
of leisure, community, and shopping trips, they are more likely to be undertaken by car. This is
demonstrated by NTS 2023 data, which indicates that nearly half of car trips undertaken are for
leisure (26%) or shopping (22%), with only a limited number related to commuting (18%), and
the remaining split between business (13%), education (8%) and escort (13%)™. Therefore,
reducing the need to travel (or at least the distance of travel) to leisure destinations is
important.

The National Design Guide™ states: ‘well-designed places influence the quality of our experience
as we spend more time in them and move around them. This principle will underpin this
objective and help deliver Policies 1, 8,9, 13-15, 18 and 21.

We will deliver Objective WOL1 through the following actions:

1.1  When developing movement and transport schemes, ensure character, community
(e.g. through co-production), and climate are at the heart of proposals and that
placemaking principles are considered alongside engineering.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing
Climate & Environment

1.2  Work with partners to enhance and upgrade timetables, local guides, maps, etc.,
which showcase the local area, its rich history, the local tourist attractions, and
proximity to the Cotswolds National Landscape.

Economic Growth Climate & Environment
Culture & Assets

1.3  Enhance the sense of place in Witney by:
a. Supporting community partners to improve the existing sense of place in
Witney by building upon heritage through artwork, trails and including rest
places, pocket parks, and community parks.
b. Work with partners to deliver the Witney High Street/ Market Square
Enhancement Project.
c. Work with partners to develop and implement a wayfinding strategy for

Witney.
Economic Growth Climate & Environment
Culture & Assets

1.4 Develop and enhance the sense of place in Carterton by:

a. Work with partners to develop a strategy to improve the public realmin
Carterton town centre (including the Carterton Mobility Hub), to reduce the
impact of traffic and give priority to those walking, wheeling, and cycling.

b. Work with partners to implement public realm enhancements in Carterton
town centre.

37

Page 51



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

c. Build on Carterton’s historic links to RAF Brize Norton to reflect the town’s
history and improve its sense of place. This may include accessible
wayfinding, gateway features, murals, artwork, rest places, pocket parks,
and community parks.

d. Contributing to a regeneration project in the town centre so support the
aspirations of the WODC Local Plan.

Economic Growth | Social & Community | Climate & Environment
Culture & Assets

1.5 Develop and enhance the sense of place in locations across the Lowlands,
including, but not limited to:

Burford High Street;

b. Eynsham village centre;

c. Brize Norton; and

d. Othervillages

Economic Growth | Social & Community | Climate & Environment
Culture & Assets

1.6  The County Council will work with schools, developers, and businesses to ensure

o

that Travel Plans contain initiatives to support healthy journeys and assist with
delivering and monitoring them.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community

1.7  Work with partners to create and enhance green spaces and waterways in Witney,
Burford, Eynsham, and Carterton.

Climate & Environment | Social & Community| Culture & Assets

Walking, wheeling, and cycling

The next four objectives of this MAP Plan focus on
walking, wheeling, cycling. Walking, wheeling, and Objectives WOL2 to WOL5

cycling are at the heart of the LTCP, being in the top focuson P':°"idi“g
transport choice on short

and medium length trips
such as those to and from:

two tiers of the transport user hierarchy. The role of
these modes is important in achieving a high-quality
integrated transport network. Alongside the LTCP, the
council also adopted an Active Travel Strategy, a School

supporting document which expands on the LTCP Local Shcfps o
policies related to walking, wheeling and cycling. The &:r::numty Facilities
Active Travel Strategy set cycling targets at a district Healthcare Facilitias
level to increase cycle trips from a baseline of 50,000 Local Bus Stops

to 100,000 cycle trips per week in West Oxfordshire by Local Green Spaces

2031. The objectives and actions set out in this MAP

38

Page 52



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Plan will support the delivery of these targets and the LTCP vision of creating an inclusive, safe,
net-zero transport system in Oxfordshire.

Objective WOL2

Deliver a comprehensive, comfortable, direct, safe, coherent and inclusive walking,

wheeling and cycling network.

Why this objective?

There is potential to increase walking and cycling within West Oxfordshire Lowlands due to its
compact layout. The current walking, wheeling, and cycling network is fragmented and does
not support the needs of residents and visitors. Across the Lowlands area, 41.6% of people
work within five kilometres of their home, with 31.1% living within two kilometres™. In Witney
and Carterton, this is even higher with, 46.6% and 54.1% of people respectively living within
five kilometres of their work™. Of the commuting trips that are less than five kilometres, over
50% of these are undertaken by a motor vehicle, despite there being a range of sustainable
alternatives for trips of this length™.

To improve walking, wheeling, and cycling
conditions across the area, three LCWIPs
have been produced. The Witney LCWIP
was approved by Oxfordshire County
Council’s Cabinet™ in March 2025, and the
Carterton LCWIP was approved in October
2025, with the Eynsham LCWIP due for
approval in 2026. To achieve the identified
walking and cycling vision in the three
LCWIPs®® and LTCP targets, we will need to : s \ -
deliver the identified schemes in the LCWIPs, which follow the core design principles of LTN
1/20%: coherent, direct, safe, comfortable, and attractive. To create a culture of walking,
wheeling, and cycling, we will need to deliver infrastructure that enables people of all ages to

walk, wheel and cycle. Nationally, in 2023%2, 45% of children aged between 5 and 10 were driven
to school and for children who live in rural areas, this figure is up to 63%. The development of
high-quality walking, wheeling and cycling schemes will help meet government targets that
50% of trips in English towns are walked, wheeled and cycled by 2030, and it will support LTCP
targets to rebalance transport movements by removing 1 out of every 4 car trips by 2030 and 1
in 3 by 2040.

39

Page 53



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

The LCWIPs propose various route enhancements, which are key to support Quality Pedestrian
Corridors (QPC)and will help to deliver inclusive and attractive routes as outlined in Policy 2 of
LTCP. To develop the schemes contained in LCWIPs, it will be crucial to work with our partners

to deliver the schemes identified and support Policy 1 of LTCP, creating a balanced transport

system in the Lowlands, where residents can choose how they travel.

A walking, wheeling, and cycling network in the Lowlands will have numerous health and

economic benefits®, improving the outcomes for both towns and the surrounding area.

Delivering a comprehensive walking, wheeling, and cycling network will be achieved through
the following actions, which support Policies 1-8, 10, 11, 13, 22 and 38 of the LTCP.

We will deliver Objective WOL2 through the following actions:

2.1

2.2

Liaise with partners to develop high-quality pedestrian and cycle routes in Witney by

delivering on the proposed routes and schemes in the LCWIP, with a focus on the
following:

Continuous cross-town cycle routes linking residential and employment
areas.

Improving local cycle routes from residential areas to schools.

Improving conditions and infrastructure for pedestrians and cyclists in Bridge
Street, the town centre and Station Lane area.

Progress options for ‘Dutch style' roundabouts at the Curbridge Road /
Ducklington Road/ Welch Way / Corn Street roundabout and the Deer Park /
Curbridge Road roundabout (Witney LCWIP References 39 & 40).

Health & Wellbeing

Climate & Environment

Liaise with partners to develop high-quality pedestrian and cycle routes in Carterton
by delivering on the proposed routes and schemes in the LCWIP, with a focus on the
following:

A network of high-quality local cycle routes throughout Carterton.

From the north and east of Carterton, via Brize Norton Road.

From the west of Carterton via Alvescot Road.

To improve the public realm and provide walking and cycle routes within the
vicinity of the RAF Brize Norton access gate and in the immediate vicinity.

To integrate the proposed development at Upavon Way into the surrounding
streets and amenities.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing

Climate & Environment

40

Page 54



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

2.3  Liaise with partners to develop high-quality pedestrian and cycle routes in Eynsham
by delivering on the proposed routes and schemes in the LCWIP, with a focus on the
following:

e Accessible and safe walking network throughout Eynsham village, including
in the village centre.

e Safe walking and cycling routes to school.
e Improving the public realm and traffic management in the village centre.

e Safe cycle connections between Eynsham and surrounding villages and
settlements, including Cassington, Hanborough and Botley.

e Safe walking and cycle connectivity across the A40 between Eynsham and
proposed developments including Salt Cross Garden Village.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment

2.4  Work with partners to deliver the high-quality Strategic Active Travel Network (SATN)
routes in the local area, between:

e Witney, Eynsham and Oxford, along the A40;
e Witney and Carterton;

e Witney and Hanborough rail station;

e Witney and Charlbury;

e Witney to Stanton Harcourt;

e  Witney to Cumnor;

e Witney, Carterton, and Burford;

e Eynsham to Long Hanborough;

e Eynsham to Oxford via Botley and Farmoor;
e Hanborough to Woodstock; and

e Carterton and Faringdon.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment

2.5 Investigate changes to the PRoW network to enable use by a wider range of Non-
Motorised Users for different journey purposes to enable access to Green Spaces,
provide a wider choice for inter-urban travel and to benefit the health and wellbeing
of users.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment

2.6 Carry out a cycle parking audit across the Lowlands to inform the most appropriate
locations for cycle parking hubs and hangars, including maintenance stations and
parking for alternative bikes.

Economic Growth | Social & Community | Culture & Assets

41

Page 55



2.7

2.8

2.9

2.10

2.11

2.12

2.13

West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Work with partners to explore opportunities for the provision of a community bike
hub, which may include facilities such as bike hire, parking, repair, bike kitchens/
Bike Drs and café.

Economic Growth § Social & Community | Climate & Environment
Culture & Assets

Work with partners (primarily the Walk, Wheel, and Cycle Trust) to join up the NCN in
the local area to provide a comprehensive network.

Social & Community| Climate & Environment

Work with partners to develop and implement schemes that will enhance spaces for
people walking, wheeling, and cycling and reduce through traffic in town centres.

Social & Community| Climate & Environment| Culture & Assets

Work with partners to deliver safe routes to school for people walking, wheeling, and
cycling, which could include the implementation of School Streets and School
Zones.

Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community

Work with partners to deliver the School Streets scheme at Edith Moorhouse Primary
School and St Joseph's Catholic Primary School in Carterton.

Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community

Work with partners to deliver new or improved crossing points to remove walking,
wheeling, and cycling barriers across key arterial routes in the area. We will do this
by:
a. Installing a new zebra crossing on Witan Way near Sainsburys (Witney LCWIP
Reference 63).
b. Installing two new signalised crossings on Deer Park Road (Witney LCWIP
References 31 & 32).
c. Ensuring that permitted developments install new crossings at Carterton
Road and Brize Norton Road, Carterton.
d. Installation of zebra crossings on Burford Road and Alvescot Road, Carterton.
e. Installing crossings over the A40, as part of the A40 Eynsham Park and Ride to
Wolvercote scheme.
f. Installing a new zebra crossing on The Hill in Burford.

g. Installing a new zebra crossing on Cote Road, Aston.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment

Work with partners to identify upgrades to the walking, wheeling and cycling
network to increase connectivity with the National Cycle Network.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment

42

Page 56



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

2.14 Work with partners in the community to remove social and economic factors that
prevent people from cycling by providing education, training, and access to free or
reduced-price equipment.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment

Objective WOL3

Reduce walking, wheeling and cycling severance caused by physical barriers.

Why this objective?

Different types of severance exist across the Lowlands area, impacting how people choose to
travel, and in some cases, not travel at all. The physical barriers include the A40, the River
Windrush, and the local road network. Physical barriers restrict the use of sustainable travel
modes by reducing the number of crossing points. This can lead to longer journeys, inadequate
facilities for all users due to limited space, and increased congestion, ultimately contributing
to poor air quality. Without multi-modal infrastructure, car travel often becomes the most
convenient option, posing a major challenge to achieving the goals and vision set out in the
LTCP®,

The A40 is a key corridor connecting rural and urban communities alongits length and at either
end. However, the A40 creates a physical barrier separating communities and some people
from walking and cycling. Without this option, the motor vehicle is the preferred way to travel,
and the knock-on effect is increased congestion and journey time. The increase in traffic also
affects bus punctuality, which further perpetuates the reliance on using the motor vehicle. In
Witney, there is a particular issue where the River Windrush creates severance with Bridge
Street being the only crossing point for vehicles, and there are only three routes for
pedestrians. This creates additional demand for a road built before the vehicle volumes of
today and creates congestion and is the site of Witney’s AQMA®, Work has started to alleviate
this with the introduction of the west-facing slips at Shores Green, which should reduce traffic
levels on Bridge Street to the benefit of those using sustainable transport, by potentially
allowing improved footways or a cycleway.

For some people, severance may be a lack of crossing facilities, a barrier on a footway or
cycleway, which prevents someone in a wheelchair, or using a non-standard bike getting

through these barriers can also make it challenging for families with prams. This can result in
social isolation as people are not able to travel where they wish to, or people are required to

43

Page 57



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

walk or cycle longer distances to reach their destination. Additionally, features like
unnecessary guardrails, controlled access barriers, and staggered fencing further limit
movement by reducing space and causing clutter.

A report conducted by Transport for the North - Community Severance across England®®
identifies six general impact categories relating to community severance, these include Health
and Wellbeing, Economic, Environmental, Social Interaction and Cohesion, Safety Concerns,
Practicality and Liveability. By removing severance, we will be able to make walking, wheeling,
and cycling a more attractive way to travel, improve social mobility and increase multi-modal
journeys. We must create places where people can thrive and enjoy a healthy lifestyle.
Removing severance across the Lowlands area will support the delivery of LTCP Policies 1-4,
6, 8-10, 14 and 22.

We will deliver Objective WOL3 through the following actions:

3.1 Work with partners to ensure there are new and improved high-quality walking,
wheeling, and cycling routes across the A40, including options appraisal of grade
separated options as well as those at grade.

Economic Growth Climate & Environment.

3.2  Work with partners to remove walking, wheeling, and cycling barriers across the
River Windrush, as well as ensuring resilience on existing routes across the River
Windrush flood zones. We will do this by:

a. Improving the Woodford Mill path (Witney LCWIP References 7, 8,9 & 89).

b. Ensuringthe developer of the permitted East Witney Strategic Development
Site delivers a new walking and cycling bridge at Bishops Farm Mill (Witney
LCWIP References 19, 20, 21a & 21b).

c. Ensure the delivery of high-quality walking, wheeling and cycling routes and
facilities as part of the West End Link Road (WELR).

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing
Climate & Environment| Culture & Assets

3.3  Explore opportunities to provide walking, wheeling, and cycling facilities at the
Swinford Toll Bridge in support of the Eynsham to Botley walking, wheeling, and
cycling route.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing
Climate & Environment| Culture & Assets

3.4  Work with partners to explore new or improved crossing points to remove walking,
wheeling, and cycling barriers across key arterial routes in the area. Including but
not limited to along the A361, A415, A4095, A40, Ducklington Lane, Curbridge Road,
Woodstock Road, Burford Road, Newland, Oxford Hill, Monahan Way, Shilton Road
and Upavon Way.

Climate & Environment

44

Page 58



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

3.5 Work with partners to remove or modify existing on-street barriers to walking
wheeling, and cycling, such as gates and guard railings.

Social & Community | Climate & Environment

3.6  Work with partners to deliver improved walking, wheeling, and cycling facilities on
the A4095 at Hanborough rail station bridge.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment

3.7 Ensuring the developer of Salt Cross Garden Village delivers high-quality walking,
wheeling, and cycling facilities on Lower Road to provide a connection between
Eynsham and Hanborough rail station.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment

Objective WOL4

Introduce shared micromobility schemes, subject to central government legislation.

Why this objective?

Shared micromobility has the potential to support OCC’s walking and cycling ambitions.
Shared micromobility can provide access to e-scooters, bikes/ e-bikes, and cargo-bikes. E-
scooters will also play an important role in providing transport choice for residents and will
support anintegrated transport network. E-bikes and e-scooters can connect people with mass
transit, public transport like buses and trains, connecting people to education, employment,
and leisure by providing first and last mile connectivity, and e-bikes make cycling a more
attractive option for journeys up to ten kilometres. Given that 63.4% of people in the Lowlands
work within ten kilometres of where they live and that the principles settlements of Witney and
Carterton are compact, there is an opportunity for micro-mobility to provide a viable
alternative to car travel on shorter distance trips. Furthermore, given the rural nature of the
Lowlands area, there are also opportunities for e-bikes to form an alternative to other modes
of transportation for inter-urban and rural to urban routes.

Policy 38 of the LTCP set out the benefits of micromobility and how it can remove barriers and
increase access to the local area, provide a flexible approach to travel, improve access to
cycling and remove large upfront costs. Anumber of locations nationally have been taking part
in micromobility trials, including in Oxford, Cheltenham, and Princes Risborough. The current
micromobility trial in Oxford, which was due to have ended in 2025, has been extended to May
31st 2026°".

45

Page 59



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Access to micromobility can also provide health and well-being benefits. Research conducted
by the Motability Foundation® assessing the barriers and benefits experienced by disabled
people using or trying to use shared micromobility showed that over half of respondents (53%)
felt shared micromobility could improve their lives. It can also support OCC in meeting its
targets to remove 1 in 4 vehicle trips by 2030 and 1 in 3 by 2040. CoMO UK 2024 annual report
shows shared micromobility has an impact on travel behaviour, shared micromobility users
travel more actively and drive less®. It can also support decarbonisation, estimates from trials
showed 946,000 car and taxi trips across the Solent were replaced by rental e-scooter trips in
2023%,

Subject to central government legislation, it shows the potential shared micromobility could
have for short-distance and inter-urban journeys in the Lowlands, helping to support LTCP
Policies 1-3, 7, 8-14, 16, 18-22, 27, 31, 38, 39, 43 and 50.

Case Study: Micromobility Schemes (VOI Princes Risborough & E-Cargo Bike Trial Cambridge)

Buckinghamshire Council has partnered with Voi to continue the trial of e-scooters in Princes
Risborough, which has a similar-sized population to Witney and Carterton. This has been
introduced as part of the Department for Transport trials until May 2026. Voi e-scooters have
provided a ‘green’ alternative to local travel in Princes Risborough that is convenient, clean,
and affordable. Initially, 20 e-scooters were introduced in Princes Risborough as part of the
trial. The trial aims to inform decision-making as to the potential to legalise e-scooter use in
future.

The Greater Cambridge Partnership (GCP) ran a trial to test electric cargo bikes. These bikes are
bigger than normal bikes and can carry goods, making them useful for deliveries and local
services. The project gave 30 e-Cargo bikes to local businesses, charities, and councils. The aim
was to show that these bikes could replace vans for short trips, helping to cut traffic, pollution,
and carbon emissions. People used the bikes for things like delivering parcels, doing
maintenance jobs, and running community events.




West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

We will deliver Objective WOL4 through the following actions:

4.1. Explore opportunities to deliver a micro-mobility scheme(s) in the Lowlands.

Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community| Climate & Environment

4.2. |Inthefirstinstance, work with partners to develop e-bike micro-mobility schemes in
Witney, Carterton, Eynsham and Long Hanborough to support longer distance travel
and to improve connections between the surrounding villages, Oxford, Hanborough
rail station, and, upon opening, Eynsham Park and Ride.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment | Culture & Assets

4.3. Work with partners to develop an e-scooter based micro-mobility scheme to support
internal travel within Witney, Carterton, and Eynsham.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment | Culture & Assets

4.4, Supportshared e-scooter and e-bike schemes that link dedicated employment sites
with public transport interchanges.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment | Culture & Assets

Objective WOL5

Ensure new developments deliver comprehensive on-site and off-site walking, wheeling

and cycling provision, prior to occupation.

Why this objective?

West Oxfordshire’s Lowlands are expected to see substantial housing and employment growth
during the next planning periods up to 2031 and 2043, respectively. In the West Oxfordshire
Local Plan 2031, this includes Land East of Witney, Land North of Witney, Salt Cross Garden
Village and West Eynsham. Within the Emerging West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2043, there are
options for new housing allocations in Witney, Carterton and Brize Norton, Hanborough,
Bampton, Aston, Burford, Ducklington and Standlake and employment allocations in Witney
and Carterton and Brize Norton. As aresult of this, it is anticipated that the population will grow
over the coming years. The provision of between 13,200 and 16,000 new houses is projected
the combined population of the Lowlands area will increase from approximately 87,000 people
in 2023 to 136,000 in 2043, The population will increase in the area, in particular along the A40
corridor, increasing the demand on the local infrastructure and services.

To support and accommodate this growth, transport infrastructure and services will play a
pivotal role towards delivering seamless movements across the towns. Plans that are being

47

Page 61



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

developed are aligned to this include Witney’s LCWIP, Carterton’s LCWIP (in consultation),
Eynsham’s LCWIP (in consultation), SATN and improvements to the Primary Route Network,
such as the A40, A4095 and A415. The exact location of development beyond 2031 is not yet
determined, and therefore, existing policy and strategy documents do not encompass the links
to these new/unknown sites.

Ensuring residents in new developments have a choice in how they move within the Lowlands,
it will be vital that developers provide high-quality, inclusive walking, wheeling, and cycling
routes within the site and to link to surrounding services, amenities and green and blue spaces
prior to occupation. This will support LTCP targets to remove 1in 4 car journeys by 2030 and 1
in 3 by 2040. It will support healthy lifestyles, deliver health benefits to residents and visitors
by creating a built environment which integrates health and well-being into daily lives. The
National Design Guide states: “In well-designed places, people should not need to rely on the car
for everyday journeys, including getting to workplaces, shops, schools, and other facilities, open
spaces, or the natural environment. Safe and direct routes with visible destinations or clear
signposting encourage people to walk and cycle”®* Ensuring new developments achieve these
goals will support LTCP Policies 1-5,7, 8,9, 12 and 14.

We will deliver Objective WOL5 through the following actions:

5.1 Aspartof planning applications, developers will be required to:
a. Identify key walking, wheeling and cycling routes between the development
and key local destinations;
b. Audit key walking, wheeling and cycle routes between the development and
key local destinations and identify necessary improvements; and
c. Develop and deliver new or improved walking, wheeling, and cycling routes.

Economic Growth Climate & Environment

5.2  All developments will be required to:

a. Deliver relevant walking, wheeling, and cycling provision identified in LCWIPs
and SATN.

b. Address any gaps in the provision of walking, wheeling, and cycling routes,
including connections to existing networks, routes identified in LCWIPs and
SATN and between developments.

c. Prioritise walking, wheeling, and cycling within developments and ensure
that provision integrates with off-site routes.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing
Climate & Environment

48

Page 62



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

5.3  Work with partners to ensure that new development located within existing
settlement boundaries, such as Upavon Way, provide attractive walking, wheeling,
and cycling routes which complement existing desire lines and LCWIP routes.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing
Climate & Environment| Culture & Assets

5.4  Ensure all developments provide direct links to wider walking, cycling and wheeling
schemes such as LCWIP routes, SATN, PRoW and Greenways.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing
Climate & Environment| Culture & Assets

5.5 Ensure all developments, in particular strategic sites, deliver safe and attractive
walking, wheeling and cycling connectivity to the local settlement centre, schools
and day-to-day facilities.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing
Climate & Environment | Culture & Assets

Public Transport

Objectives WOL6 to WOL9 focus on public transport, building on the six policies set out in LTCP.
Improving access to public transport and improving the service on offer will help OCC meet its
ambition to remove 1in 4 vehicle trips by 2030 and 1 in 3 by 2040 and achieve the vision of LTCP
by creating an inclusive, net-zero transport system: public transport will play a key role in
achieving this. Public transport is key to enabling multi-modal journeys, with public transport
interlinked with walking, wheeling, and cycling for first and last mile connectivity. Public
transport that is reliable and comprehensive brings many benefits to the Lowlands area. It
offers residents viable transport alternatives to driving, along with the delivery of shared
micromobility will help enable multi-modal journeys, improve connectivity, improve air
quality, and improve health and wellbeing.

According to the latest National Travel Survey®, on average, public transport trips undertaken
by bus account for approximately 6% of trips between two kilometres and 15 kilometres, with
rail trips accounting for approximately 3% of trips between eight kilometres and 15 kilometres
and 8% of all trips greater than 15 kilometres®. Meanwhile, private motorised vehicle trips
account for the majority of trips greater than two kilometres (between 67% and 84%).
Meanwhile, the 2011 census data indicates that only 5.4% of residents and 3.1% of workers in
the Lowlands area® use the bus to travel to work.

The data outlined above indicates that there is potential in increasing bus usage, but also that
there are issues that need to be resolved in order to make buses a convenient and reliable
alternative. The area has relatively limited accessibility to rail services, with the only station
located in the northeastern corner of the MAP Plan area. This underlines the importance of bus

49

Page 63



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

services in achieving the LTCP targets in the Lowlands area. Therefore, there is an excellent
opportunity to deliver a high-quality bus service, showcasing how they can deliver a modal
shift, as set out in the following objectives.

Multimodal

An important aspect of encouraging a shift towards public transport is providing seamless
integration between different modes so that barriers to the use of public transport can be
removed, allowing multi-modal journeys.

Objective WOL6

Create a network of Mobility Hubs

Why this objective?

Mobility hubs encourage walking, cycling, and public
Y & & yCiing P Objective WOL6 focuses on

and shared transport use by linking up these different AT et o

modes and making it easier to interchange between between different modes of
them, thereby creating a more integrated and inclusive transport to support trips of
transport network®. This can support first and last-mile all lengths, to for the
travel. The co-location of services is also an important following purposes:
aspect of Mobility Hubs. This can include parcel and Leisure

grocery lockers, cafés, pharmacies, healthcare Work

facilities, grocery stores and community facilities, as Healthcare

Shopping
Holidays and Travel

this can help to reduce the distances people need to

travel and encourage people to use the hub for travel®'.
OCC published its Mobility Hub Strategy®® in 2023, forming part of Policy 23 of LTCP to develop
a network of Mobility Hubs and integrate different modes of transport to address the transport
challenges faced across Oxfordshire. The development of Mobility Hubs will help to support
the National Integrated Transport Strategy®®, and at a local level will help with the development
of the Oxfordshire Metro.

To support OCCs Mobility Hub Strategy, we will need to develop a network of mobility hubs
across the West Oxfordshire and Lowlands area, with a mix of hubs in the major settlements,
linking hub, and rural and mini hubs in the villages. Mobility Hubs will make it easier to use
public and shared transport, help to reduce congestion within the towns and along the A40
corridor, promote sustainable travel solutions, enhance the public realm, provide first and last

50

Page 64



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

mile journeys, and improve health and wellbeing. Within some of the towns like Witney and
Carterton, there is also the opportunity to explore the co-location of services as part of Mobility
Hubs.

Part of the development of Mobility Hubs will be selecting preferred locations that serve the
needs of communities and will help enable residents to choose from a variety of transport
options. Delivering a network of Mobility Hubs across the area will contribute towards
delivering LTCP Policies: 1, 2, 7-9, 12-14, 18-23, 28, 29, 38, 39 and 50.

Case Study: Mobility Hub, Halesowen

In 2024, Transport for West Midlands launched a pilot project in Halesowen to test a new type
of mobility hub called Local Travel Points. These are outlined in the images below. The Local
Travel Points hubs were designed to bring together different transport options in one place,
making it easier for people to travel without using a private car. Three hubs were set up at
Huntingtree Park, Andrew Road, and Cross Street, with support from Black Country Transport
and Dudley Council. Each hub includes features like bike hire, EV charging, cycle storage, tool
stations, and local information boards. They also offer green public spaces, seating, and even
community art projects. The aim was to improve local travel, support active and shared
transport, and reduce emissions. The pilot is part of the Future Transport Zone programme,
funded by the Department for Transport.

We will deliver Objective WOL6 through the following actions:

6.1 Implement and deliver the Carterton Mobility Hub Pilot on Brize Norton Road.

Economic Growth | Social & Community | Culture & Assets

6.2  Work with partners to explore opportunities, promote, and deliver mobility hubs to
support anintegrated transport network, at a number of locations, including, but not
limited to:

a. Major Interchange Hubs
i. Eynsham Park and Ride (once open).

51

Page 65



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

ii. Hanborough rail station.
b. Linking Hubs:
i. Witney Town Centre.
ii. Carterton Town Centre.
iii.  Carterton Leisure Centre.
iv. Witney King George V Field (for Schools).

Economic Growth | Social & Community | Culture & Assets

6.3  Support the implementation of rural, suburban, and mini mobility hubs, in line with
the Mobility Hub Strategy.

Economic Growth | Social & Community | Culture & Assets

Buses

Buses are the main mode of public transport in

Objectives WOL7 and WOLS
centre on improving bus

England’®, and provide a sustainable alternative for

local trips as well as inter-urban trips that are not services and infrastructure
achievable by walking or cycling. There is a wide to enable the wider use
network of public transport services within the buses for trips to and from:
Lowlands; however, there are several challenges to Town andicities
achieving increased levels of bus use. Increasing bus Leisure Facilities

usage is essential in achieving our net-zero targets and School

the vision of the LTCP. Studies suggest that if everyone Work

Healthcare Facilities
Transport Hubs
Holidays and Travel

switched one car journey a month to the bus, the UK’s
carbon dioxide emissions would be reduced by two

million tonnes a year'®.

From 2019 to 2023, overall satisfaction of bus passengers across the county declined by 16
percentage points, the highest among the local authorities in the survey, although due to the
work OCC has been doing with its partners to improve buses this was much improved in the
2024 Transport Focus surveys® However, further work is required to enable and encourage
people to use buses as their primary mode of transport. Overall, there are several bus routes
serving the core areas of the Lowlands. Witney, Carterton, Eynsham, North Leigh, Burford,
Standlake, Hanborough and Ducklington benefit from a minimum of two buses per hour.
However, outside these locations, connections can be more limited, which restricts
opportunities for public transport use.

Thereis clear evidence to support that faster and more frequent bus services resultin increased

patronage and reduced costs for passengers and operators'®. Furthermore, journey time,
waiting times, and the ability to travel flexibly are significant factors in determining transport

52

Page 66



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

choice.!® Delivering more reliable, faster, frequent, and new bus services is key to supporting
the population and job growth, strengthening Policy 18 of the LTCP.

Objective WOL7

Enhance and expand bus services.

Why this objective?

Enhancing and expanding the bus services will improve the journey experience for current
users, reduce isolation for those unable to travel in alternative ways, and encourage greater
use of buses for journeys. To increase passenger numbers, evidence shows journey time
improvements through bus priority measures will be required to create an attractive travel
option!®. To expand the reach of the bus network, it is important that it appeals to a wider
audience and is inclusive. A report for the DfT shows that buses currently only appeal to
existing users'®; so, widening the appeal of the bus will be crucial to enhance user numbers.
Although it is also important to support and encourage people who already use a bus
occasionally to do so for more journeys. The same DfT report reveals four key parameters:
reliability, convenience, personal wellbeing, and value. These are seen as the key indicators in
delivering a successful bus service, and they show, according to focus groups, that travelling
by car delivers against these transport needs.

The local bus network in the Lowlands

offers connections throughout the area and ‘
to places like Oxford, Cheltenham, Burford,
Woodstock, Charlbury, Kidlington,
Eynsham, Abingdon, Chipping Norton,
John Radcliffe Hospital, and Swindon.
Witney, the largest town, acts as the main
bus hub, served by all eight inter-urban
routes and six town services. Carterton,

with fewer options, has five inter-urban routes and three local services, though two inter-urban
routes run only limited daytime services. There are currently no high-frequency (minimum of
four buses per hour) bus services operating in Lowlands, although the Witney to Oxford (S1, S2,
S7, H2, X15) corridor, Eynsham-Oxford (S1, S2, E1) and Witney to Carterton (S1, 233, 19)
corridors benefit from a does feature a high frequency service bus services provided via a
collection of multiple services which operate concurrently (S1, S2, S7, H2, X15) to provide
between five and ten services per hour. In general, however, there are no individual routes with

53

Page 67



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

the ‘turn up and go’ service levels that passengers find most attractive, with shorter waiting
times at stops and no need to have to refer to a service timetable. Bus journey times are
much longer than the equivalent car journey. For example, a journey from Witney to Oxford can
take between 47-52 minutes (off-peak) and 67-72 minutes (peak) compared with between 30
(off-peak) and 45 (peak) minutes if driving®’. Several factors are involved; buses do not always
take the most direct route, and they need to stop for passengers at stops along the way.

To deliver the bus service levels required to enable a modal shift toward bus service, it will be
important to deliver on fast, frequent, and reliable buses. This will enable us to generate the
upliftin passenger numbers required to achieve our LTCP targets. The bus service offer will also
need to factor in a wide range of needs. Nationally, the most common purpose for local bus
travel was shopping (23%), followed by commuting (22%), leisure (21%), and education (21%)
as the four main purposes'®, It shows how bus travel can support a wide variety of trips and
demonstrates how it has the potential to deliver against a variety of needs for the residents of
the Lowlands. Creating a bus service that is clean, attractive, reliable, and frequent is deemed
crucial'®; it will also help to deliver an integrated transport network and enable multi-modal
travel within the Lowlands. Enhancing bus services will support LTCP Policies: 1, 2, 8-10, 12-
14,18, 19- 23, 28, 29, 31, 37 and 38.

We will deliver Objective WOL7 through the following actions:

7.1  Work with partners to deliver improved bus services on inter-urban routes, exploring
enhancing frequencies or limited stop services and the optimisation of existing
services to improve journey times.

Health & Wellbeing

Climate & Environment

7.2  The County Council supports the safeguarding of land and will work with partners to
develop a potential Mass Rapid Transit corridor (potentially rail, tram, busway etc.)
connecting Oxford, Eynsham, Witney and Carterton.

Health & Wellbeing

Climate & Environment
7.3  Work with partners to provide new bus services to destinations that are currently

underserved, to new developments, employment sites, and the surrounding
villages.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing

Climate & Environment

7.4 Work with bus operators to improve access to bus services, for example, in the
evenings and on the weekends, associated with economic and community needs.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing

Climate & Environment

54

Page 68



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

7.5 Work with operators to explore opportunities and options for enhanced town
services in Witney and Carterton and to improve connections to the surrounding
villages and suburbs.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment

7.6  Work with operators to provide further options for long-distance coach services
connecting to Witney and Carterton to key national and regional locations.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment

7.7  Work with partners to support communities with education and training to remove
barriers to public transport use and increase confidence to enable greater use of

buses.
Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment
Objective WOLS

Enhance and provide new bus infrastructure.

Why this objective?

Providing practical and high-quality bus
infrastructure, in accordance with Local
Transport Note 1/24, will help deliver Policy 18
of LTCP and create a bus network that is
accessible and inclusive. There are already

positive signs across some locations in the
Lowlands area. For example, in Eynsham,
Bampton, and some areas of Witney, cycle
parking stands have been provided alongside

bus stops, creating multimodal travel opportunities. However, we need to ensure such
measures are not isolated and are installed across the MAP Plan area. This will allow us to
create a place that embraces the bus network alongside walking, wheeling, and cycling to
support the measures in LTCP to remove 1 in 4 vehicle trips by 2030 and 1 in 3 by 2040.

For bus travel to be a preferred way to travel, the user experience will need to be enhanced with
infrastructure provided to support this. A big aspect of improving bus infrastructure will be

through bus priority measures. Bus priority measures are a combination of measures and
techniques providing safe, accessible, reliable, and efficient bus journeys that are consistent

55

Page 69



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

and minimise delay**. Bus priority can include bus lanes, bus gates, traffic signal priority, and
removal of car parking, but also improvements to the passenger experience, including access
to the services, the waiting environment, and technology such as CCTV*:. Many bus stops lack
information for users; they have no shelter and are without RTI (Real Time Information). Rolling
out RTI will improve the passenger experience, providing up-to-date live bus information.

The location of bus stops should suit the needs of the residents, workers, and visitors in the
Lowlands area. We will need to understand where people want to go and create the
infrastructure that meets the needs of those in towns and those in the villages, if we are to see
a greater number of people using the bus. A final key aspect of high-quality bus infrastructure
is to ensure the safety of users, particularly women and girls, which will enable users to feel
more confident and comfortable using buses. There are a range of interventions that would
help to achieve this including surveillance, RPI through multiple channels, improved lighting
both at bus stops and on the routes to them, advertisement and encouragement of personal
safety apps (such as One Scream, My Panic Alarm, Where (maps), Life 360, Smart 24X7), CCTV,
the Bus Safety Feedback Tool and through education?*2

The delivery of priority bus routes along sections of the A40, and at other locations, will
enhance the connectivity of different places within the Lowlands with the key service centres
of Witney and Carterton, to other villages and with destinations such as Oxford, the John
Radcliffe Hospital and Abingdon. It will also support the delivery of an integrated transport
network and reduce the need to travel by car. Priority bus lanes will increase reliability and
create better opportunities, especially on bus services that link to the rail network, as it is
important to have bus services that arrive on time, as this gives residents, workers, and visitors
the confidence to use the bus. It is therefore important we work with our partners to help
secure additional funding, including through central government, to help deliver the A40
Eynsham Park and Ride to Wolvercote scheme (bus priority and enhanced walking, wheeling
and cycling facilities) between Cassington and Wolvercote, to ensure the full delivery of the
scheme. Delivering enhanced bus infrastructure will support LTCP Policies 1-3, 8, 9, 11 - 15,
18, 19-23, 27-31, 37, 38, 44, 46 and 51.

We will deliver Objective WOLS8 through the following actions:

8.1  Deliver the A40 Eynsham to Wolvercote Scheme, between Eynsham and Cassington,
funded by the Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF2).

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing

8.2 Work with partners to secure additional funding, including through central
government, to help deliver the A40 Eynsham Park and Ride to Wolvercote scheme
between Cassington and Wolvercote.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing

56

Page 70



8.3

8.4

805

8.6

8.7

808

8.9

8.10

Rail

West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Subject to funding, work with partners to deliver the A40 Eynsham to Wolvercote
Scheme between Cassington and Wolvercote.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community

Work with bus operators to ensure improved reliability, attractiveness, and resilience
of services.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community

Where required, develop bus priority measures, including bus lanes, removal of
parking and traffic signal priority, in the Lowlands area and along key transport
corridors within West Oxfordshire, by:
a. ldentifying opportunities for bus priority and improvement measures; and
b. Work with partners to deliver the identified bus priority and improvement
measures.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community

When developing the Witney High Street and Market Square enhancement scheme,
ensure that the role of buses (routing, facilities, safety features, etc.) is reviewed.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment| Culture & Assets

Ensure that adequate bus infrastructure is provided to support current and future
bus service levels in Witney (Market Square) and Carterton (Brize Norton Road).

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment| Culture & Assets

Identify opportunities for the improvement of bus stops (e.g. waiting facilities,
location for new bus stops, RTI, Al, raised kerbs, lighting, shelters, CCTV, cycle
parking, onward travel maps), with priority given to bus stops with the highest usage
levels or in locations with key amenities.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment| Culture & Assets

Work with partners to promote and improve personal safety by:
a. Advertising personal safety apps/ tools for use by users; and
b. Improvingroutesto and from bus stops, includingimproved lighting, removal
of overgrown vegetation and CCTV.

Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community | Climate & Environment

Work alongside partners to deliver a zero-emission bus network across the Lowlands
area.

Health & Wellbeing | Climate & Environment

The rail network plays a vital role in supporting economic growth, connecting people (locally
and nationally), and supporting housing and employment growth within Oxfordshire. A report
published in 2025 by Urban Transport Group: Harnessing the Opportunity of our Local Railways

57

Page 71



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

underlines the value of rail and how it creates
Objective WOL9 focuses on

improving rail connectivity
and facilities to enable
inhibit growth and productivity. It states that for every access for those travelling

£1 spent on the rail network, it generates £2.50':. forreasons including:
Although the Lowlands area has limited rail
connectivity, there is a great opportunity to enhance

employment opportunities as well as leisure and
tourism without contributing to congestion, which can

Holidays and Travel

Leisure
connectivity from the area to both Hanborough and Work

Oxford rail stations. This can be achieved as part of an
And to support:

integrated transport network which suits the needs of
Improved Air Quality

residents and visitors, creating further choice in how Sl
Decarbonisation

people move within Oxfordshire and beyond.

Objective WOL9 takes account of the aspirations and priorities of the County Councils rail plan:
OxRail 2040: Plan for Rail. OxRail 2040 sets out Oxfordshire County Council’s ambitions for the
future of the railway in Oxfordshire and establishes a bold vision for rail as a central component
of a fully integrated, world-class and sustainable transport network. As part of this it sets out
the improvements, initiatives and investment required to make this vision a reality. For the
Lowlands area this includes increasing the number of services on the Cotswold line to improve
connectivity in the area, the reinstatement of two tracks through Hanborough, the
reinstatement of a second platform at Hanborough, the delivery of new and greener rolling
stock, the creation of a mobility hub at Hanborough station and general improvements both to
the overall station facilities and routes to the station.

Objective WOL9

Work alongside partners to improve rail services and infrastructure.

Why this objective?

The only railway station in the area is Hanborough, which is located 8.5 kilometres northwest
of Witney. Although Oxford rail station is an alternative option for residents, workers, and
visitors in some areas due to direct access via bus, but it also provides a much more extensive
choice of destinations than Hanborough (i.e. more national onward routes) as well as more
frequent services.

Hanborough Rail Station is the busiest station in West Oxfordshire and the ninth busiest in
Oxfordshire by passenger numbers!**. Hanborough is situated on the North Cotswold Line and

58

Page 72



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

is served by GWR trains between Hereford/ Worcester and London Paddington via Oxford and
Reading; these run hourly off-peak and two services per hour during peak periods. The station
has shelters, ticket machines, seating, and a coffee van; however, the toilet and waiting room
are currently closed. There is a large car park (246 spaces) and cycle parking. Hanborough
station is also served by Stagecoach bus route S7 between Witney, Woodstock, Kidlington, and
Oxford on a half-hourly basis. Passenger numbers at Hanborough Rail Station in 2023/24 were
estimated to be 286,402, surpassing the pre-COVID high of 275,448 in 18/19'%. This shows
Hanborough’s potential in serving local communities.

Improvements to Hanborough Station will
be required to support the expected
population growth, along with growth in
employment and leisure opportunities.
The hourly frequency of services may be a
barrier for some, especially those who use
public transport, as it can be difficult to
align service timings. Furthermore, delays
to either service may result in missed

connections. Data collected by Oxford
Community Rail Partnership (OXCRP) supports this; their data notes that people’s proximity to
home and ease of getting to the station is a primary factor in travelling by train'!¢. Improving
access to Hanborough rail station by multiple modes of transport will be important in
increasing access and removing barriers. Current OXCRP data shows 81% of those travelling to
Hanborough do so by car, compared to 16% in Oxford and 30% in Radley*'’. This shows the
importance of making other modes a viable alternative to those using Hanborough station.
The level in car use results in the station car park regularly being at capacity, which can result
in passengers missing connections*. Therefore, alongside making walking, wheeling, cycling
and public transport access improvements at Hanborough station, an increase in the amount
of car parking should also be considered, although it is observed that there are a number of
constraints to providing more car parking at the station, alongside walking, wheeling, cycling
and public transport improvements.

To improve Hanborough, the North Cotswold Line Taskforce proposes the dualling of the
remaining section of the North Cotswold Line (except for a small section at Worcestershire
Parkway) and the provision of two platforms at Hanborough and Pershore, to allow an increase
in services, including up to four services per hour between Hanborough and Oxford and two
services per hour between Worcester and London.

59

Page 73



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

As set out above, local bus services in the west of the area, especially in Witney, also provide
links to Charlbury (X9), Oxford Parkway (S7) and Oxford (S1, S2). Oxford, which is the busiest
station in Oxfordshire, is best placed to provide an alternative to Hanborough, with the
quickest journey times by bus, and an extensive range of services including London,
Birmingham, Manchester, and the south coast. This shows the need to improve connectivity
by other means as part of an integrated transport network. Enhancing access to Oxford will
provide additional opportunities as East West Rail (EWR) opens to Milton Keynes and
Cambridge in the future. Improving access to Oxford rail station will be achieved by reducing
the journey times of buses towards Oxford, which currently cannot compete with driving. The
development improved access to both Hanborough and Oxford will give residents, workers,
and visitors the choice between a nearer station with a more limited once an hour service and
a station located further away with more frequent services to a wide range of destinations.

e

Figure WOLS: Indicative alignment of the Carterton, Witney, Oxford Rail Corridor (WODC)

West Oxfordshire’s emerging Local Plan 2043 contains a policy to protect a corridor between
Carterton, Witney, Eynsham and the Cotswold Line at Yarnton for a Mass Rapid Transit corridor
(potentially rail, tram, bus). As part of this emerging work stream the District Council has sought
views on the principle of safeguarding a broad corridor land, with this outlined in Figure WOL5.
The County Council support the safeguarding of this land to protect opportunities for the
development of a high-quality public transport service along the A40 corridor and allow better
connectivity to rail services. Working with partners to deliver rail service and infrastructure
improvements will support LTCP Policies 1-3, 8, 13, 14, 15, 18-23, 27, 28, 31, 35, 37, 38 and
46-48.

60

Page 74



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

We will deliver Objective WOL9 through the following actions:

9.1

9.2

The County Council will support the safeguarding of land and work with partners to

develop a potential Mass Rapid Transit corridor (potentially rail, tram, bus) connecting

Oxford, Eynsham, Witney and Carterton.

Health & Wellbeing

Climate & Environment | Culture & Assets

Hanborough Station:

a.

Work with the rail industry and other partners to improve access to Hanborough
station for those walking, wheeling, and cycling to/ from Witney, North Leigh,
Hanborough, Woodstock, Bladon and Eynsham via SATN routes with this
including exploring opportunities for micro-mobility.

. Work with the rail industry and other partners to improve access and integration

for those switching from buses to trains at Hanborough station.
Explore opportunities with our rail industry partners to deliver a mobility hub at
Hanborough rail station, in line with OxRAIL 2040.

. Work with partners to review opportunities for enhancing passenger facilities at

Hanborough, potentially including a station building and passenger overbridge
to support the doubling of the track and provision of a second platform.

Work with the rail industry and other partners to ensure sufficient car and cycle
parking provision at the station.

Economic Growth Climate & Environment

Culture & Assets

f.

North Cotswold Line Work with partners to review opportunities for the
provision of a second platform at Hanborough station, subject to the double-
tracking from the North Cotswold Line between Wolvercote Junction and
Hanborough, in line with OXxRAIL 2040.

Support the delivery of double tracking from the North Cotswold Line between
Wolvercote Junction and Hanborough railway station and between Pershore
and Worcester, to enable an increase in the number and frequency of rail services
along the North Cotswold Line, in line with OxRAIL 2040.

h. Promote the delivery of new rolling stock along the North Cotswold line.

Economic Growth | Climate & Environment| Culture & Assets

9.3 Access to Oxford Station

a.

Work with partners to improve access to Oxford Station via public transport, with
a focus on delivering improved journey times from West Oxfordshire via the A40
corridor.

b. Work with partners to provide fast, high-quality bus services between Eynsham

Park and Ride and Oxford rail station.

61

Page 75



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

c. Work with partners to explore opportunities for the Oxford PlusBus scheme to
be expanded to include bus services to the Lowlands.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment | Culture & Assets

9.4 Support the implementation of integrated ticketing options between different modes
(e.g. Bus and Rail).

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment| Culture & Assets

Car Club and Car Share

Shared mobility, which includes car clubs and car Objective WOL10 focuses on
sharing, offers a practical and community-friendly providing an alternative to
alternative to private car ownership. In the Lowlands car ownership for people

who make occasional
medium to long distance
trips, including for:

area, shared mobility schemes could make a real
difference by reducing the number of vehicles on local
roads and helping to improve air quality. As outlined

in Policy 39 LTCP, shared mobility support services are Holiday and Travel
Grocery Shopping
Business Travel
Large Purchases
sometimes for just an hour — without the long-term Daytrips

costs or responsibilities of ownership.

especially valuable for residents who do not own a car,
providing flexible access to vehicles for short trips —

Objective WOL10

Support the development of a car club network and car share schemes.

Why this objective?

There are two car club vehicles provided within the MAP Plan area, one in Woodford Way car
park in Witney and the other in Back Lane car park in Eynsham. Both Witney and Carterton
serve as important service centres for residents and workers living in the surrounding villages
such as North Leigh, Freeland, Hanborough, Bampton, Aston, Hailey, Crawley, Standlake,
Clanfield, Ramsden and the Wychwoods. Given the rural nature of the local areas, there are
more limited opportunities for sustainable travel due to the distances involved and the
frequency of public transport services. Therefore, this provides opportunities for a
comprehensive network of zero-emission car club vehicles to be provided across the Lowlands,
providing greater transport choice for those living in these locations, with the provision of zero-
emission vehicles helping to ensure improved sustainability. The introduction of a car club is

62

Page 76



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

also likely to help reduce car ownership levels. Car ownership is high in the Lowlands, with 88%
of households owning at least one car’®® compared to the national average of 77% and the
average household having 1.50 cars. This is most easily seen in data from CoMoUK, which
indicates that on average, every car club vehicle in the UK replaces between 14 and 32 private
cars'®.

Car clubs are often seen as a solution in cities;
however, car clubs can also thrive in non-city
areas, with OCC introducing EV car clubs in
Wallingford, Abingdon, and Eynsham, though
with Co Wheels, and these are performing well. In
rural areas, there is also an opportunity to
introduce community-led car clubs, which often
have a reduced cost base per vehicle, with the
fleet being specifically tailored to the needs of
the local community.

There is also an opportunity for car sharing in the Lowlands area. Car share involves people
sharing trips with at least one other person rather than travelling separately. Based on 2011
census data, 5% of those travelling to work from the Lowlands or to the Lowlands for work do
So as a passenger in a vehicle'®. Car sharing, even once per week, can reduce trips by in the
region of 20%'%, resulting in reduced congestion, whilst also saving those who car share, either
as a driver or passenger'?, At present, the car-sharing service Liftshare operates in the local
area; however, this operates solely on a private basis and does not incorporate business in the
local area, with individual users using this site. Promoting this form of travel can also reduce
inequalities as it provided people who cannot afford a car access to one.

The development of a car club network and car share schemes in the Lowlands area supports
Polices 29, 31, 35, 39, 49 and 54 of the LTCP.

We will deliver Objective WOL10 through the following actions:

10.1 Work with the car club industry to identify locations for mini car club hubs.

Social & Community| Climate & Environment

10.2 Collaborate with partners to provide a comprehensive network of car clubs, in
priority locations for parking, at locations throughout the Lowlands, including in the
towns, transport hubs, villages and at new developments.

Economic Growth | Social & Community

10.3 Ensure car clubs use zero-emission vehicles, where possible.

Climate & Environment

63

Page 77



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

10.4 Work with developers and businesses to provide EV charging and parking to support
car clubs, including the prioritisation of parking for car club/ car share vehicles.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment

10.5 Develop a car share awareness and expansion programme through collaboration
with partners.

Demand management

Demand (and parking) management measures, are

. . . . The focus of Objective
discussed in Policies 31 to 35 of the LCTP. They are WOL11 is to enable
measures that are sometimes necessary to actively communities to have
discourage private car use. This includes a range of transport choice by
different measures, including increased or new car improving safety, access
parking charges, controlled parking zones (CPZs), low and inclusivity for those:
traffic neighbourhoods, reducing public and private Walking
car parking, Workplace Parking Levies (WPLs), other Wheeling

on-street parking or movement restrictions (loading Cycling
Using Micro-mobility

bans, clearways, banned turns, red routes,) and low -
uses

emission zones, use of modal filters or charging

schemes.

By delivering demand management measures set out in Policy 35 in the LTCP, we will be able
to provide efficient running of public transport, create space for people to cycle where they
need to go and to walk to local amenities. By creating space for other modes of transport to
thrive, we will reduce congestion as people will have a choice in how they move, and we will be
able to create places for people to enjoy that are safe and help to improve public health. It will
also ensure that those who require their car, such as due to travel times, journey distance or
the location of travel destinations, can do so with ease.

As outlined in the challenges and opportunities section, congestion is a prominent issue
affecting the Lowlands area and, in particular, along the A40 and wider local road network.
Figure WOL2 illustrates the level of congestion in the area during peak hours, including the
long-standing issues on the A40 corridor at Witney, Eynsham and Burford. Away from this area
high level of congestion is prevalent in Carterton, Bampton and at Newbridge. Congestion
limits opportunities to provide transport choice: buses are unable to operate efficiently, the
lack of space or safe routes limits cycling opportunities and limited crossing facilities reduce
access for pedestrians.

64

Page 78



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Therefore, there are situations where it will be necessary to discourage private car use through
demand management measures. Although it is important to set out that any proposals for
demand management will only be proposed in locations with good levels of sustainable
alternative travel options. The objectives and actions also recognise that the Lowlands are
predominantly rural, with a sparse population that includes a significant proportion of older
residents (around 20% of the population is aged over 65). Many residents also travel longer
distances, and in some situations car travel remains the only practical option.

Objective WOL11

Implement demand management measures in areas which are well served by

sustainable travel options.

Why this objective?

Demand management plays a pivotal role in advancing transport policy objectives, particularly
in areas experiencing high levels of motorised traffic combined with high levels of walking,
wheeling, and cycling. By strategically managing travel demand, the council can deliver
measurable improvements in road safety, public health, and air quality, especially in locations
with high concentrations of vulnerable populations, including school-aged children and
individuals with health conditions, who are more likely to rely on active travel.

There are a number of issues across the area that may require mitigation through the
implementation of demand management measures, as set out below. Although it is important
to understand that demand management measures will only be considered in locations with
suitable sustainable alternatives. This is to ensure that our communities still have a choice of
transport modes, whilst also making sure that communities do not become cut off.

e Congestion - Congestion is an issue during peak hours. The A40 corridor between east
Witney and North Oxford is severely congested, with congestion also anissue in Burford,
Bampton and at Newbridge. Congestion throughout Witney is also an issue, with
significant traffic flows within the town centre, with Witan Way, Newlands, Mill Street
and Bridge Street having daily flows of between 17,000 and 32,000 vehicles.

e Free Parking - In both Witney and Carterton, car parking is free, for up to 12 hours in
some locations, making driving typically the easiest and preferred option; at the same
time, this discourages people from travelling via walking, wheeling, cycling or public
transport'?*. Free car parking for lengthy periods is also available in Burford, Eynsham
and Hanborough.

65

Page 79



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

e Sharing road space - There are high motorised vehicle flows in areas where there is
severe conflict between active travel and motorised road users, with walking, wheeling,
and cycling movements. This creates conflicts between transport modes and poses a
risk to the safety of all road users, in particular vulnerable road users, whilst also
impacting the health of those walking, wheeling, and cycling®. It also makes those
areas less attractive and less pleasant places for people to spend time.

e Modal share - Census data suggests a reliance on private car use for both those living
in the area and those commuting into the area, with both being around 70%?%%. This is
higher than in most other areas in Oxfordshire, namely, Banbury (60%), Wallingford
(60%), Henley-on-Thames (61%), Abingdon (64%), Didcot (66%), and Bicester (68%).

e Cars for short journeys - A considerable number of trips for those working or living in
the area are over short distances that could be undertaken by walking (up to two
kilometres), wheeling, cycling (up to eight kilometres, or potentially further for e-bike
users) or public transport!?’. Across the Lowlands area, 63.4% work within ten
kilometres of where they live, with 41.6% living within five kilometres and 31.1% living
within two kilometres. These percentages are higher in Witney (70.3% within ten
kilometres).

e Pollution/ air quality - Air pollution is an issue across the area, with Witney
experiencing the most severe issues, particularly with nitrogen dioxide (NO,) and
particulate matter (PM.s), exceeding World Health Organisation guidelines. Witney,
Carterton and other areas of the MAP Plan also shows elevated levels of several
emissions, including Black Carbon, carbon dioxide (CO,) and Carbon Monoxide (CO),
with Carterton, Burford and Eynsham, showing high levels of CO, and Black Carbon
emissions, as set out in the challenges and opportunities section. Road transport is the
primary source of these pollutants, contributing not only to poor air quality but also to
climate change and associated health risks. Addressing transport emissions is key to
improving air quality and public health across the area.

A key benefit of demand management is its capacity to facilitate modal shift and influence
travel behaviour. This is especially critical for short-distance journeys within settlements,
where a considerable proportion of residents, 74.4%, currently commute less than five
kilometres by car'?. Short distance trips are also an issue for those travelling for education,
where 45% of children aged between five and ten are driven to school despite most primary
schools being within walking distance, leisure trips, business trips, and personal business trips,
which are all primarily taken by private vehicle'®. Encouraging a transition to walking,
wheeling, cycling, and public transport for these trips can deliver health and well-being
benefits, improve air quality, improve community cohesion, and reduce congestion.

66

Page 80



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

To enhance public spaces and create a more liveable environment where walking, wheeling,
and cycling are prioritised, it may be necessary to reduce parking supply. Evidence suggests
that limiting parking supply can directly reduce car trips, thereby supporting decarbonisation
goals and promoting the uptake of sustainable transport modes. However, it will be important
to ensure that we have suitable alternatives to vehicle use, such as high-quality bus services,
as well as comprehensive walking, wheeling, and cycling infrastructure and shared mobility,
before we remove car parking. This is to ensure we do not impact the commercial viability of
our town centres and allow them to continue to thrive as centres for the people who use them.

We will deliver Objective WOL11 through the following actions:

11.1 Use demand management in locations where it will bring benefits to the public
realm and those walking, wheeling, cycling, and using public transport, for example
in Eynsham Village Centre.

Climate & Environment | Culture & Assets

11.2 Followingthe opening of the A40 Access to Witney scheme, deliver the re-routing of
the A4095 and A415 and the subsequent declassification of Bridge Street,
Woodstock Road, Tower Hill, Burford Road, and Ducklington Road within Witney.

Health & Wellbeing Climate & Environment

11.3 Work with partners to develop a strategy for the improvement and redesign of the
Bridge Street double mini-roundabout and the surrounding area, to improve
walking, wheeling, and cycling access and reduce collision risk in line with Vision
Zero.

Health & Wellbeing Climate & Environment

11.4 Consider the re-purposing of the street-scape to benefit high footfall areas, LWCIP
routes, SATN routes and priority bus routes, and to support the delivery of
cycleways, where appropriate. For example, on Corn Street or Tower Hill, Witney.

Climate & Environment | Culture & Assets

11.5 Consider providing new Controlled Parking Zones or similar, where they provide
benefits to public transport, walking, wheeling, and cycling.

Infrastructure Development

Policy 36 of the LTCP explains that there are situations when new or upgraded road
infrastructure is required; this may be to create access to new developments or where an
existing road is unsafe in support of Vision Zero. To ensure that all road infrastructure schemes
align with our transport vision, we take a ‘decide and provide’ approach rather than the
traditional ‘predict and provide’ approach when assessing impacts.

67

Page 81



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Using the ‘decide and provide’ approach, we will assess
Objective WOL12 focuses

on enabling those travelling

within our community’s
the residents of the Lowlands area in a variety of ways, transport choice whilst

all transport options and should new or upgraded
infrastructure be required we will ensure this benefits

including tackling congestion and pollution which improving journeys and

provide benefits to health, supporting the economy, reducing congestion for

and ensuring the county remains an attractive place to those who need to use their

car, to the benefit of those
making trips to and from:

work and live. Furthermore, the delivery of new or
upgraded infrastructure is key to the delivery of new

walking, wheeling, and cycling schemes, as the School
schemes can allow for pedestrianisation of existing Shops . _
. . . Community Facilities
roads or the re-purposing of road space, which typically Work
incorporates new walking, wheeling and cycling and Healthcare Facilities

public transport infrastructure. Schemes can help to Towns and Cities

remove severance and physical barriers for walking, Leisure Facilities
Holidays and Travel

wheeling, and cycling users, as in Objective WOLA4.

Objective WOL12

Deliver movement infrastructure schemes.

Why this objective?

The delivery of movement and infrastructure schemes will help achieve the LTCP’s target of
reducing car use and delivering a net-zero transport network. Although we also note that in
some locations, partially in the rural locations within the Lowlands area, the private vehicle is
the only viable option for some or all of people’s journeys due to travel times, journey distance,
or the origin/ destination of travel trips. If necessary, infrastructure schemes will also increase
or enhance the capacity of the highway network, in particular where this allows for improved
sustainable transport access in areas with high amounts of pedestrian and cycle movements.
There are several schemes currently being delivered and progressing within the Lowlands area.
Some examples of this are set out below.

The A40 Access to Witney Shores Green Western Slip will reduce traffic within central Witney
and help to eradicate the existing AQMA in Witney. Reducing the amount of traffic within central
Witney will create a safer environment for walking, wheeling, and cycling, with improved air
quality resulting in health benefits'* for the residents of Witney. Completing access to the
Eynsham Park and Ride along with the A40 scheme from there to Wolvercote will provide

68

Page 82



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

greater journey choice for users, delivering faster and more frequent bus services, providing
improved connectivity from the Lowlands area and into Oxford, helping to reduce congestion
and improve air quality*.. The Shores Green scheme will also allow the rerouting of the A4095
out of Witney, diverting motorised traffic away from the town centre. This will benefit people
travelling to and from locations on the A4095 corridor to the A40, such as North Leigh and
Hanborough. The scheme will improve the transport options available for residents and
visitors, improve access to employment opportunities, and support new housing
developments®®2. However, a long-term solution to the issue of congestion along the A40
corridor needs to be considered.

The Witney High Street and Market Square enhancement scheme®** will improve public spaces,
support local businesses, and the market. It will make it easier to walk, wheel and cycle,
improve safety, and provide access to public transport. Research shows that providing a
pedestrian-friendly environment brings economic, community, health, and biodiversity
benefits3.

Carterton has 24% of West Oxfordshire’s economically active population and around 21% of
the district’s employment!*®*. This means that Carterton has fewer jobs than resident workers,
leading to relatively high levels of out-commuting, according to census data approximately
5,000 people commute out of Carterton, while only approximately 3,200 commute into
Carterton. Many of these look to Witney or Oxford for employment. In total 60% of work trips
are to destinations outside of Carterton, with 31% to other destinations in West Oxfordshire, of
which 15% is to Witney, this is followed by a further 9% commute who commute to Oxford**.
This creates an opportunity to increase the numbers using public transport and cycling, or
micro-mobility. A network of Mobility Hubs in Carterton would improve facilities and services,
creating greater choice for residents in how they travel and help create an integrated transport
system by bringing together different modes of transport in one place. This is starting with the
Carterton Mobility Hub Pilot.

The construction of schemes within the Witney, Carterton and Eynsham LCWIPs will also
benefit all users. An example of this is the proposed Dutch-style roundabouts at locations in
Witney, which will remove conflicts between different road users, create a safer environment
at known collision hotspots**' helping to deliver our Vision Zero Strategy and will remove one
of the key barriers to cycling: safety’®. Supporting the development of infrastructure for
cycling will enable active travel by making it safer and more convenient, especially for short
local trips. The additional benefits resulting from future infrastructure development include
reduced air and noise pollution, increased road safety, while supporting the council’s Vision
Zero approach due to reduced motorised congestion.

69

Page 83



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

The development of future infrastructure schemes will allow the implementation of walking,

wheeling, cycling and public transport schemes. Meanwhile, other schemes will specifically

provide walking, wheeling, and cycling routes or provide bus priority measures. These schemes
are integral to the achievement of the LTCP vision and targets, as they help to support the
improvement of walking, wheeling, and cycling and public transport provision in the area.
Implementing this objective will help reach LTCP targets and support LTCP Policies 1-3, 8, 9,
10, 12-16, 18-20, 22, 23, 27, 29, 31, 33, 36-39, 45 and 46.

We will deliver Objective WOL12 through the following actions:

12.1 Support the delivery of:

a.

Access to Witney A40/B4022 Shores Green west-facing slip roads, including
redesignation of the A4095 and A415.

A40 improvements comprising Eynsham Park and Ride, A40 Eynsham Park and
Ride to Wolvercote and Oxford North scheme.

Witney High Street and Market Square enhancements scheme.

Carterton Mobility Hub Pilot.

Improving walking routes through new crossings at Cote Road, Aston; The Hill,
Burford; Alvescot Road, Burford Road and Wycombe Way, Carterton; Witan and
Deer Park Road, Witney.

School Streets at Edith Moorhouse Primary School and St Joseph's Catholic
Primary School, Carterton.

Improved pathways between Windrush Place and Deer Park Road, Witney.
Woodbank and Oxford Hill, Witney, and the Colwell Brook path from Downs Road
to Range Road, Witney.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing

Climate & Environment | Culture & Assets

12.2 Progress currently ongoing:

a.

Improvements at B4022 Oxford Hill/ Jubilee Way junction to reflect changes in
traffic routing due to the opening of A40/ B4022 Shores Green west-facing slip
roads.

Carterton 20mph proposals.

Secure through the planning process infrastructure required to support the
North Witney Strategic Development Area, including Witney Northern Distributor
Road, West End Link (WEL2), access roundabouts with dedicated space for
cycling, active travel routes to key off-site destinations such as schools and the
town centre, bus infrastructure, and service provision.

Deliver through the planning process infrastructure required to support the East
Witney Strategic Development Area, including dedicated space for cycling, active

70

Page 84



m.

West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

travel routes to key off-site destinations such as schools and the town centre,
bus infrastructure, and service provision.
Secure through the planning process infrastructure required to support the Salt
Cross Garden Village and the West Eynsham Strategic Development Area,
including the Eynsham Western Spine Road access roundabouts with dedicated
space for cycling, active travel routes to key off-site destinations such as schools
and the town centre, bus infrastructure, and service provision.
Access to Carterton comprising two elements.

i.  Safety improvements to the B4477 between Brize Norton roundabout

and A40 junction.
ii.  Securingan active travel route between Witney and Carterton via
Witney Road

Improve Upavon Way, Carterton active travel routes, and connectivity.
Dutch-style roundabout (a roundabout with dedicated space for cycling) at
Fiveways junction of Welch Way, Corn Street, Ducklington Lane, Curbridge Road
and Tower Hill.
Improvements to the Witney to Hanborough Station walking and cycling route
by addressing the ‘gap’ at North Leigh on A4095.
Eynsham to Botley walking, wheeling, and cycling route.
Eynsham to Hanborough walking, wheeling, and cycling route.
A40 grade-separated crossing at Eynsham, in accordance with the policy
requirements of the Salt Cross Area Action Plan (AAP).
A4095 North Leigh walking, wheeling, and cycling route.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing

Climate & Environment | Culture & Assets

12.3 Consider exploring previously identified potential:

a.

™ o 0 o

Further develop and extend the A40 corridor strategy, which is likely to include the
exploration of an Oxford-Eynsham-Witney-Carterton mass rapid transit corridor
(potentially rail, tram, bus) to build upon the A40 Eynsham to Wolvercote Scheme
and Eynsham Park and Ride.

A4095 Woodstock Road/ Jubilee Way, Witney junction improvements

Corn Street, Witney active travel routes, and public realm improvements.
Eynsham village centre Public Realm improvements.

Burford Public Realm Feasibility Study.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing

Climate & Environment | Culture & Assets

12.4 Work with partners to secure funding to explore new schemes or studies, such as but

not limited to:

a.

Develop schemes listed within the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans
for Witney, Carterton, and Eynsham.

Page 85



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

b. To develop routes identified in the Strategic Active Travel Network, with a focus
on inter-urban sustainable travel.

c. Studies to support directions of growth identified in the emerging West
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2043.

d. Studies to support regeneration schemes, should they come forward for Witney
or Carterton.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment| Culture & Assets

Freight, deliveries, and servicing

Objective WOL13 concentrates on freight, deliveries,
and servicing, building on Policies 47 to 50 set out in WOL13 focuses on
the LTCP and the associated Freight and Logistics improving and reducing

Strategy. Due to the nature of freight and logistics, freight, deliveries, and
servicing, the benefits of

this are:

movement can be allocated into three key brackets:
long-distance, local, and last mile. The movement of
goods is essential to supporting the lives of our Improved Air Quality

communities. However, there are several complex Decarbonisation
Reduced HGVs Use

Improved Road Safety
More Local Access

challenges surrounding the freight system, particularly
at the local level. In the Lowlands, this was reviewed in
more detail as part of the Windrush Valley HGV Study.
The Windrush Valley HGV Study will propose a number of interventions for improving the
movement of HGVs within the area, the Windrush Valley HGV Study will be published on the
County Council freight webpage upon completion.

Freight, deliveries, and servicing are generally undertaken by Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs) and
Light Goods Vehicles (LGVs). They contribute to emissions and congestion and have an impact
on our environment. Furthermore, they present the greatest risk to those walking, wheeling
and cycling, reducing the safety of the most vulnerable in society. As such, it is necessary to
ensure that goods are moved in a net-zero, efficient and safe manner if we are to achieve the
vision and targets of the LTCP. It is worth noting, the council are undertaking an HGV study for
the Windrush Valley Area to explore potential mitigation measures and solutions to limit
movement. The mitigation measures and action plan proposed as part of the Windrush Valley
study will be key to assisting with the delivery of Objective WOL13.

72

Page 86



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Objective WOL13

Improve freight routing, deliveries, and servicing.

Why this objective?

It recognised that HGVs pose a significant risk to safety within the MAP Plan area due to their
large numbers. For example, between 2020 - 2022, the council implemented an experimental
traffic regulation weight order in Burford to discourage HGV movement. This trial was not taken
forward, as it was found to have a detrimental impact upon surrounding villages. The following
year, 2023 Atkins freight study, commissioned by OCC indicated a need for countywide
evidence led approach. With the overall conclusion indicating that a consistent localised
mitigation measures need to be explored. As noted above and as part of the Atkins study, the
council are currently working with stakeholders on a dedicated Windrush Valley HGV study
which covers most of the MAP Plan area. The study deployed ANPR cameras to collect data for
two days to understand the HGVs travel patterns in Windrush Valley, along with understanding
the ratio of HGV local vs through traffic. Initial observations showed estimated majority of the
HGV traffic in the area are making local stops, while highlighting A424 between Burford to Stow-
on-the-Wold being used as through traffic route.

Using a Healthy Streets approach, people will be at the heart of transport and place making
schemes in the West Oxfordshire Lowlands. It is imperative that people within MAP Plan area
feel safe, a core component of Healthy Streets and OCC Vision Zero Strategy. The growth in LGVs
has been accelerated by the ongoing growth of online shopping, particularly for groceries and
parcels. This trend, while reflective of changing consumer habits, is placing increasing pressure
on the transport infrastructure in the Lowlands area. There are a number of locations in the
MAP Plan area being used by significant numbers of HGVs and LGVs**. This includes the A40,
A4095, A415, A361, B4020, B4047, B4449, Curbridge Road, Brize Norton Road, Monahan Way,
Witan Way, and Downs Road.

Both LGVs and HGVs pose a greater risk to pedestrians, cyclists, and other vulnerable road users
due to their size, weight, and manoeuvrability. To achieve Vision Zero targets, it is important
that we work with freight operators, surrounding authorities and stakeholders to remove
conflicts, especially in villages and towns where there is the greatest risk of conflict due to
interactions between people, vulnerable road users, and freight. Anumber of the villages in the
Lowlands also have locations where classified A and B roads travel through the villages and
locations that have very narrow footways, or no footways at all, due to the historic nature of
these places, including Bampton, Aston, Long Hanborough, Clanfield, Old Minster, the bridges

73

Page 87



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Over the River Thames at Newbridge and the bridge over the River Windrush at Burford. To
reduce the impact of HGVs travelling around this MAP Plan area, it essential to ensure they are
following the OCCs Freight Map.

Vision Zero is a key policy within the LTCP that seeks to eliminate all death and serious injury
on the county’s roads. In Witney, we are hoping to support the achievement of this through the
A40 Access to Witney scheme, which will remove the need for HGVs to travel through the centre
of Witney to access the A40 when travelling from the surrounding villages to the north of Witney
and along the A4095 corridor to destinations located to the west of Witney or along the A415
corridor. This is further being supported by the proposed de-classification of the A4095 and
A415 in Witney.

The presence of heavy goods vehicles also contributes to poor air quality. OCC’s Oxfordshire Air
Quality Modelling project showed that in 2023, 31 % of nitrogen oxides road transport
emissions were estimated to be from heavy goods vehicles. It also showed that 23 % of PM,;
road transport emissions were estimated to be from heavy goods vehicles. In Witney, a
roadside site was estimated to contribute to 13.8 % of nitrogen oxides road transport
emissions, whilst a non-roadside site was estimated to contribute to 30 % of nitrogen oxides
road transport emissions. In Carterton, a roadside site was estimated to contribute to 30.2 %
of nitrogen oxides road transport emissions, whilst a non-road site had minimal contributions.
Contributions of heavy goods vehicles to PM,s road transport emissions in Witney were
minimal and for Carterton were minimal except from the roadside site which were estimated
to contribute to 14.3 % of road transport emissions. Large delivery vehicles can also contribute
to greenhouse gas emissions.

The presence of large delivery vehicles also contributes to poor air quality through increased
emissions of CO, and CO as well as increased levels of pollutants namely NO, and PM,s,
particularly in Witney, Carterton areas and in some of the villages in the MAP Plan area: it adds
to congestion, making travel less efficient and detracts from the quality of life in local
communities (e.g. due to noise and safety concerns). Although the County Council has
introduced an HGV routing strategy to manage the movement of freight vehicles, enforcement
remains inconsistent. The Lowlands area suffers from unmanaged freight activity, which can
disrupt daily life and compromise safety and environmental goals, which as outlined above is
one of the reasons for the A40 Access to Witney scheme.

Improving freight, deliveries, and servicing in the Lowlands area offers a valuable opportunity
to address these concerns and to improve air quality. By encouraging the use of cleaner, zero-

emission vehicles such as zero-emission vans, e-cargo bikes, and by reducing the number of
individual delivery journeys through consolidation and the development of local collection

74

Page 88



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

hubs, it is possible to make freight movement more sustainable and less intrusive. These
changes would not only support safer and healthier streets but also improve the efficiency of
local logistics.

This objective directly supports Oxfordshire’s Freight and Logistics Strategy, particularly in

relation to local and last-mile movements, and contributes to the delivery of Policies 15, 49,
and 50 of the LTCP.

We will deliver Objective WOL13 through the following actions:

13.1

13.2

13.3

13.4

13.5

13.6

13.7

Work with partners (including neighbouring local transport authorities e.g.
Gloucestershire County Council) and key stakeholders to implement the
recommendations and action plan of the Windrush Valley Freight study.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing
Climate & Environment

Actively seek to reduce the number of through traffic HGVs in Witney town centre
through the re-routing of the A4095 and A415 via the A40 to improve air quality and
improve safety for those walking, wheeling, and cycling, in line with Vision Zero.

Health & Wellbeing Climate & Environment

Support the rollout of parcel and grocery lockers with the relevant operators at
key transport locations, including:
a. Witney and Carterton Town Centre.
b. Hanborough rail station.
¢. Eynsham Park and Ride.
d. District/ local centres.
e. Burford.
f. The surrounding villages.
g. Strategic site allocations.

Economic Growth Culture & Assets

Work with West Oxfordshire District Council to encourage all fleet vehicles
operating in the Lowlands area to be zero-emission (e.g. refuse vehicles, vans).

Climate & Environment| Culture & Assets

Work with internal partners to encourage all OCC fleet vehicles operating in the
Lowlands area to be zero-emission (e.g. refuse vehicles, vans).

Climate & Environment| Culture & Assets

Encourage the wider implementation of Delivery and Servicing Plans (DSPs) at new
developments, in particular, at strategic site allocations, where there is significant
need for delivery and servicing needs.

Climate & Environment| Culture & Assets

Explore opportunities to reduce the impact of HGV and LGV traffic across the
Lowlands area, by:

75

Page 89



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

a. Collaborating with partners to introduce opportunities for first and last-mile
delivery hubs using cargo bikes and e-cargo bikes in Witney, Eynsham and
Carterton.

b. Explore opportunities for zero-emission parcel deliveries in Witney and
Carterton and the wider Lowlands area.

c. Encourage and support local businesses to convert their fleets to zero or low-
emission vehicles.

d. Explore the opportunities for consolidation hubs in West Oxfordshire.

13.8 Insupport of OCC Vision Zero Strategy, we will actively seek to have OCC hired
contractors to comply with Fleet Operator Recognition Scheme (FORS) and

Construction Logistics and Community Safety (CLOCS) requirements.

Economic Growth | Climate & Environment

13.9 Identify EV charging locations for freight to support the transition towards low
carbon freight travel.

Economic Growth | Climate & Environment

Climate resilience

The West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 recognises the OILs o ctese s OT e s arin

need to take action to tackle climate change. It sets out the Lowlands are more

policies that aim to make the district more resilient to resilient to climate events,
the impacts of climate change and to reduce its to the benefit of:
environmental impact. The county’s LTCP, through Biodiversity

Policies 27 to 30, puts addressing the climate Air Quality

emergency at the forefront, and decarbonising the The Local Economy
transport system will contribute to a climate-positive Reduced Damage

Reduced Flooding
Reduced Cost

future. The Lowlands area is susceptible to climate

impacts due to their location on the River Thames and
River Windrush.

Addressing the climate emergency is a central priority of the county’s LTCP, reflected in Policies
27 to 30. These policies set out a clear ambition to decarbonise the transport system by 2040,
contribute to a climate -positive future by 2050, and enhance the resilience of our communities.
A critical aspect of delivery is adherence to PAS2080, the British Standards Institution’s global
standard for whole life-life carbon managementin buildings and infrastructure, something that
this MAP Plan supports.

76

Page 90



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Objective WOL14

Support the implementation of climate resilience measures as part of the transport

network.

Why this objective?

The Lowlands area has experienced significant flooding in the past, and the area remains
particularly vulnerable to river and surface water flooding. Areas within and around Witney,
Standlake, Aston, Bamford, Clanfield, Burford, Ducklington, Minster Lovell and Eynsham are
situated in Flood Zone 3 for river flooding and are at a high risk for flooding?*. A high chance of
surface water flooding can also be found across the Lowlands area, including within towns and
villages*. With the impacts of climate change expected to intensify, such events are likely to
become more frequent and severe. In response, a Climate Resilience Strategy provides a
proactive framework to help future-proof local infrastructure, enhance public spaces, and
protect the most vulnerable members of the community, as such the completion of a Climate
Resilience Strategy should be considered for the area.

The LTCP recognises the need to adapt transport infrastructure to climate change, including
increased flooding, heatwaves, and extreme weather conditions. It supports the development
of resilient infrastructure through the integration of green and blue spaces, sustainable
drainage systems, and nature-based solutions—key elements of a local climate resilience
approach. Creating a green canopy along the road network can also have a significant impact;
trees remove up to 80% more surface water runoff; compared to asphalt'*%. Trees also absorb
carbon dioxide and cool our towns'*, and create places of shade. The use of permeable paving
on other roadside structures (such as driveways, etc) can also have a significant impact on
reducing the rate of run-off. Therefore, we should work with our partners to encourage the
greater use of permeable material in streetscapes.

In addition to climate-related challenges, Witney also faces issues with air quality. Bridge Street
was designated an AQMA due to elevated levels of nitrogen dioxide (NO,), largely caused by
traffic congestion, although this was rescinded in 2025. Poor air quality has a disproportionate
impact on children, older adults, pregnant people and individuals with respiratory conditions.
The transport sector is a major contributor to carbon emissions in the area, directly fuelling
climate change. It is therefore essential that any transport scheme we deliver not only reduces
emissions but is also designed to be environmentally sustainable and resilient to the changing
climate.

77

Page 91



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

We will deliver Objective WOL14 through the following actions:

14.1

14.2

14.3

14.4

14.5

14.6

14.7

14.8

14.9

Investigate opportunities to improve flood resilience in areas with the highest risk to

improve resilience for all modes on existing and potential new routes through the

River Windrush and River Thames flood zones. This will include, but not limited to:
a. Improving the Woodford Mill track;

Improving Bridge Street and the surrounding area;

New walking and cycling bridge at Bishops Farm Mill;

New upstream storage facilities on the River Windrush upstream of Witney;

® o 0 o

New walking, wheeling and cycling and vehicle facilities as part of the
proposed West End Link (WEL2); and
f.  Improving the Crown Lane / Church Lane path.

Climate & Environment] Culture & Assets

Investigate opportunities to improve flood resilience in areas with the highest risk
from surface water/ fluvial flooding (e.g. Hailey Road and Buttercross Lane).

Climate & Environment] Culture & Assets

Support the wider planting of trees and other vegetation to improve air quality,
reduce run-off, and provide shade, in particular in locations with limited vegetation.

Health & Wellbeing | Climate & Environment

Support wider use of blue infrastructure and Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS)
for movement schemes and at new developments.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment

Develop a strategy to provide the greening or putting solar panels on bus stops, train
stations, signage, mobility hubs, etc.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment

Support schemes that achieve the greening and re-wilding of places and that
enhance connections to the Cotswolds National Landscape, contributing the Local
Nature Recovery Strategy.

Climate & Environment] Culture & Assets

Consider working with partners to produce a Climate Resilience Strategy for the area.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment|] Culture & Assets

To support the delivery of a net zero transport network by 2040 (a target of the LTCP),
all infrastructure developments should aim to minimise whole life carbon emissions
following PAS2080 standard (in accordance with Policy 27 of LTCP).

Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community | Climate & Environment

Support schemes and help to implement proposals to reduce air pollution within
Witney and Carterton. This will include, but not be limited to:

a. A40 Access to Witney and re-routing of the A4095 and A415.

b. Delivery of LCWIP and SATN routes.

78

Page 92



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

c. Witney High Street and Market Square enhancements scheme; and
d. Electrification of the bus network.
e. Greening of the area, and biodiversity improvements.

Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community | Climate & Environment

14.10 Assessing our places using the Healthy Streets Tool and any other relevant tools
(including the County Councils emerging Street Design Guide) to determine how they
can be made more climate resilient.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community
Climate & Environment | Culture & Assets

Innovation and new technologies

Objective WOL15 concentrates on innovation and new

technologies for our communities. Innovation can Objective WOL15 isin
relation toinnovation, the

benefits of this are:

mean a number of things depending on the context, so
it is important that when introducing innovation and

new technology, the communities in the area are New Technology
informed of the benefits. However, in accordance with Decarbonisation
LTCP, innovation is defined as anything which is new or UL e LR sy
. . .. . Green Transport
is being applied in new ways or contexts to traditional Business Crowth
approaches. This can range from new or improved Digital Connectivity

technologies to new processes or approaches. Further Green Freight

details regarding this are outlined in the council’s
Innovation Framework.

Objective WOL15

Support the trailing, development and deployment of Innovation and New Technologies

Why this objective?

The Lowlands area offers an interesting use case in the deployment of new technologies in an
area characterised by low population density, with a few more significant population areas
(e.g. Witney and Carterton). The vision for the Lowlands area emphasises the need for creating
attractive, healthy, and safe communities that are well-connected and climate resilient.
Innovation and technology are seen as enablers to achieve these goals, particularly in
transport, sustainability, and economic development. Therefore, there are opportunities for
innovative technologies and approaches that could be considered to help improve public

79

Page 93



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

transport, such as automation, improved customer experience, and smart technology. This
includes ‘Integrated SMART Infrastructure’, which is the coordinated use of digital technology,
data and connectivity within physical infrastructure so that assets across the transport system
work together intelligently, rather than as standalone elements. It also offers the potential to
use our assets more intelligently and enables us to get more from existing assets. We can
therefore improve our understanding and decision making!*. This new technology also has the
potential to upskill the local workforce by increasing knowledge for new infrastructure delivery
techniques.

The transition to low and zero emission transport requires a coordinated approach to the
provision of electric charging infrastructure across all modes, including private vehicles, e
micromobility, buses and rail. Charging availability is a critical enabler of decarbonisation,
supporting behavioural change, reducing reliance on fossil fuels, and ensuring that sustainable
transport options are practical and accessible for residents, businesses and visitors. For the
public, the availability of convenient and reliable charging points is essential to enable wider
uptake. Publicly accessible charging in town centres, transport hubs, residential areas and
employment sites supports equitable access to electric vehicles and aligns with the wider
objectives set out in the LTCP.-emission transport requires a coordinated approach to the
provision of electric charging infrastructure across all modes, including private vehicles,
e-micromobility, buses and rail. Charging availability is a critical enabler of decarbonisation,
supporting behavioural change, reducing reliance on fossil fuels, and ensuring that sustainable
transport options are practical and accessible for residents, businesses and visitors.

This presents a good opportunity to support the wider use of innovation and new technology
to maximise the potential of the Lowlands area, including specifically Witney and Carterton as
growing towns. Exploring opportunities to improve transport via new technologies will be
necessary to achieve our vision of an inclusive, safe, and net-zero transport system. This
objective supports various policies of the LTCP, including Policies 40, 41, and 42.

We will deliver Objective WOL15 through the following actions:

15.1 During the development of the A40 corridor strategy (Oxford-Eynsham-Witney-
Carterton Mass Transit Corridor), explore opportunities for alternative, or new types
of mass-transit based on the latest innovations.

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing
Climate & Environment

15.2 Work with partners to increase the number of Electric Vehicle Charging Points
(EVCP) across the MAP Plan area for vehicles, e-bikes (and other micromobility) and
the public transport.

80

Page 94



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Economic Growth | Health & Wellbeing | Social & Community

Climate & Environment

15.3 Insupport of the Innovation Framework, we will work with partners, explore

innovation opportunities, and seek funding opportunities to support the delivery of
the following, but not limited to:

a.
b.
C.

Electric charging hubs for e-bikes, buses, and cars across the Lowlands area.
Explore the implementation of zero-emission and driverless bus technology.
Work with partners to provide zero-emission shared self-driving vehicles in
the Lowlands area.

Explore innovative Mobility as a Service (MaaS) solutions within West
Oxfordshire, including along the A40 area, to improve access for our local
rural communities.

Develop an integrated SMART Infrastructure.

Artificial Intelligence uses.

Economic Growth | Social & Community| Climate & Environment

81

Page 95




Our 9 defined outcomes:

A place that works
A place with a transport towards delivering

network that clearly reflects on net-zero carbon WEEEE

the priorities of the I transport network :“EEEI Z
transport user hierarchy =

Improved safety realised B A comprehensive, safe,
through the Vision Zero e % inclusive walking,
approach to transport wheeling and cycling
safety across Oxfordshire network through the
implementation of the
LCWIP and Strategic (
Active Travel Network

A connected and inclusive
public and shared transport

network including the
" development of mobility hubs

A place where freight
movements are
: appropriate and safe
A place where EV charging,
and other low-carbon
technologies help to
reduce the impact of
motorised vehicles

Improve air quality to safe
levels, to remove the need for

Air Quality Management Areas
on transport grounds  —
A place where people are
more receptive to active
travel, sustainable modes and
want to promote travel
changes.

Page 96



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Objectives and related outcomes

The table below sets out the objectives identified for the Lowlands area and their connection
to the nine MAP Plan outcomes; the full delivery plan is contained in Appendix B.

Table WOL2: Summary of Objectives in relation to the nine MAP Plan outcomes.

Outcome

Objective

4 5 6 7 8 9
Deliver a comprehensive and inclusive walking, wheeling, and sl v v

WOL1 .
cycling network.

WOL2 Create a sense of pFaccf through.lmplementlng cohesive, avaw; maw;
healthy place-shaping interventions

WOL3 E.nsure d.ezvelopmerlts deliver cc?mprehe.n.swe on-site and off- v v v
site walking, wheeling, and cycling provision

WoL4 Reduce walking, wheeling, and cycling severance caused by JIvivliy
physical barriers.

Introduce shared micromobility schemes, subject to central

government legislation.

WOL6 | Create a network of Mobility Hubs

AN

WOL5

WOL7 | Enhance and expand bus services

WOLS8 | Enhance bus infrastructure

Work alongside partners to improve rail services and
infrastructure.

Support the development of a car club network and car share
schemes.

AN NI RN
<
SN S
SN S

WOL9

<
<
<
<

WOL10

Implement demand management measures in areas which
are well served by sustainable transport.

WOL11

<
<
<
<

WOL12 | Deliver movement infrastructure schemes.

<
<
<
<

WOL13| Progress future movement infrastructure schemes

SN S

WOL14 | Explore future movement infrastructure schemes.

WOL15| Improve freight, deliveries, and servicing.

AN NI N B N NN

Develop a Climate Resilience Strategy for Witney and
Carterton to create resilient futures factoring infrastructure
Support the wider use of Innovation and New Technology in
Witney and Carterton.

WOL16

<
<
<
<
<
<

WOL17

83

Page 97



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Final conclusions and next steps

This Plan sets out how investment in new transport infrastructure, delivery of services and
maintenance of existing assets will be focussed to support growth in the widest sense,
recognising that improving access to jobs and training and improving the health of the
population are essential aspects of improving productivity, while improving the quality of
many of our urban areas will be a pre-requisite for attracting investment.

The innovative focus of the strategy on the requirements of different types of journey, rather
than the needs of different modes, means that we have been able to take an holistic view of the
investment needed: to improve connectivity to global markets; transform journey times to
other major cities; capitalise on the potential of a rapidly growing Regional Centre, create
better linkage between jobs and homes across the wider city-region and provide ‘first and last
mile’ connections within neighbourhoods that will make sustainable travel an attractive
option.

Our Transport Delivery Plan (Appendix B), which sits alongside this document, provides the
detail of the schemes to be delivered to support progress towards our longer-term ambitions
and targets. As additional funding is secured in the future, subsequent updates of the Delivery
Plan will identify the schemes that provide the detail for the broad interventions identified in
this 2040 Transport Strategy document. Subsequently this MAP Plan will remain ‘live’ to reflect
periodic changes, meaning it will be continually reviewed by officers.

84

Page 98



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Glossary

Term

Access Control Barriers

Active travel

Air Quality Management Area

Annual Mean Concentration

Carclub

Car share

Congestion
Connected and Autonomous
Vehicle (CAV)
Controlled  Parking  Zones

(CPZs)

Decide and provide

Defra

Demand Management

Department for Transport (DfT)

Definition

Access control infrastructure such as bollards used to address a safety issue
or prevent illegal motor vehicle access. It must not limit access for people
walking, wheeling, and cycling.

Active travel refers to modes of travel that involve a level of activity. The term
is often used interchangeably with walking and cycling, but active travel can
also include trips made by wheelchair, mobility scooters, adapted cycles, e-
cycles, scooters, as well as cycle sharing schemes.

If a Local Authority identifies any locations within its boundaries where the
Air Quality Objectives are not likely to be achieved, it must declare the area
as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA)

The annual mean is the average concentration of a pollutant measured over
one year.

Car clubs provide residents, visitors, or businesses with access to a vehicle as
a short-term rental, usually by the hour. Car clubs may also include other
vehicles such as vans alongside cars. Car club operating models include
commercial car clubs, peer-to-peer commercial car sharing and community
car clubs.

Lift sharing, also known as car sharing, car-pooling or ride sharing is the
coordinated matching up of lifts between drivers and passengers who share
a common or similar route.

Where the traffic flow on a piece of transport infrastructure, such as a road,
exceeds its capacity, resulting in slow or stationary traffic.

Vehicles equipped to exchange information with surrounding environment
and can operate in a mode which is not being controlled by an individual

An area where parking is only permitted in designated parking bays, and the
rest of the kerbside space is restricted by yellow lines. Any illegally parked
cars are issued with a parking ticket.

This is an approach which involves deciding on the preferred future and
provide the means to work towards that which can accommodate
uncertainty.

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs - A department of the
UK Government of the United Kingdom that is responsible for environmental
protection, food production and standards, agriculture, fisheries, and rural
communities.

A variety of methods through which the use of a transport network can be
influenced with the purpose of affecting when, how, and how often people or
goods travel. Examples include parking charges, restrictions on waiting, and
congestion charging.

A department of the UK Government of the United Kingdom that is
responsible for the transport network.

85

Page 99



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Electric vehicle (EV)

E-scooter

Fatal collision
Flood Zone

Freight

Go-Ahead Group

Great Western Main Line

Healthy Streets

Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGV)

Injury collision

KSI

Light Goods Vehicles (LGV)
Local Cycling and Walking
Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs)

Local Transport and
Connectivity Plan (LTCP)

Local Transport Note (LTN) 1/20
- Cycle Infrastructure Design

Micromobility

Mobility Hub

Avehicle that uses an electric motor for propulsion, comprising BEV’s, as well
as plugin hybrid electric vehicles that have an attached petrol or diesel
engine to power the battery engine.
A stand-up scooter powered by an electric hub motor in its front and/or rear
wheel
A collision in which at least one person is killed.
Areas which the Environment Agency have judged are at risk of flooding,
whether from rivers or surface flooding. These are classified in order of the
level of risk.
Freight is the general term for goods transported from one place to another
by any means. Freight can therefore be moved in a variety of ways including
by Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGV), Light Goods Vehicles (LGV), rail, cargo bikes,
and emerging modes such as drones.
Bus operator who manages Thames Travel, Oxford Bus Company, and
Pulhams.
The Great Western Main Line (GWML) a mainline railway that runs between
London Paddington and Bristol Temple Meads. It connects to other mainlines
and branch lines such:

e Reading to Penzance

e Didcot to Banbury

e Swindon to Swansea

e Swindon to Gloucester/ Cheltenham

e HenleyBranch Line
A human-centred framework for embedding public health in transport,
public realm, and planning.
Commercial trucks that feature a gross combination mass of over 3500kg. In
the UK HGVs have a max legal length of 16.5m.
A collision involving human injury or death.
Killed or seriously injured.
Commercial trucks that feature a gross combination mass of under 3500kg.
LCWIPs are a strategic approach to identifying cycling and walking
improvements at the local level. They enable a long-term approach to
developing local cycling and walking networks over the next ten years and
form a vital part of the Government’s strategy to increase the number of trips
made on foot or by cycle.
Oxfordshire County Council’s new Local Transport Plan.

Guidance for local authorities on delivering high-quality, safe cycle
infrastructure. Cycle Infrastructure Design

Micromobility refers to a range of small, lightweight vehicles that are driven
by users personally. This includes electric bikes (e-bike): Bicycles with a
battery-powered assist and electric scooter (e-scooters): Motorised stand-up
scooter with an electric motor. It can also include private e-scooters,
rollerblades and ‘hoverboards’

Mobility hubs are an existing concept with examples of ongoing and
complete hubs both within the UK and across Europe. We have sometimes
used the term ‘transport hub’ in Oxfordshire. The underlying concept

86

Page 100



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Mode Share
Movement and Place (MAP)
Plan

Multi-modal

National Cycle Network (NCN)

National Travel Survey (NTS)

Non-Motorised Users (NMU)

Office of Rail and Road (ORR)

Oxides of Nitrogen (Nox)

Park and Ride

Particulate Matter (PM)

Place shaping

remains the same, but we have chosen to use ‘mobility hub’ moving forward
as it aligns with national work and better captures the overall experience of
travelling.

Percentage of share of each mode of transport.

A part of Oxfordshire’s Local Transport and Connectivity Plan. It provides
more detail on how this plan will be delivered in a number of specific areas
of Oxfordshire, such as the infrastructure schemes to be delivered.

Using two or more modes of transport, like bus, train, walking, or cycling, in
one journey.

The UK-wide network of signed paths and walking routes for walking,
wheeling, and cycling outdoors.

Routes forming part of the National Cycle Network shall be designed in
accordance with current best practice design guidance, in collaboration with
the local community and provide convenient links to key destinations -
connecting cities, towns and countryside.

A household survey designed to monitor long-term trends in personal travel
and to inform the development of policy. It is the primary source of data on
personal travel patterns by residents of England within Great Britain.

A 'non-motorised user' (or NMU) is someone walking or cycling, or a horse
rider.

Is the independent economic and safety regulator for Britain's railways. It
also regulates performance and efficiency on England's strategic road
network.

Combustion processes emit a mixture of nitrogen oxides (NOy), primarily
nitric oxide (NO) which is quickly oxidised in the atmosphere to nitrogen
dioxide (NO,). Nitrogen dioxide has a variety of environmental and health
impacts. Itis a respiratory irritant which may exacerbate asthma and possibly
increase susceptibility to infections. In the presence of sunlight, it reacts with
hydrocarbons to produce photochemical pollutants such as ozone. NO, can
be further oxidised in air to acidic gases, which contribute towards the
generation of acid rain.

A facility dedicated to allowing people to park their cars and taking their
onward journey by another form of transport. Most commonly a bus or a
train.

Particulate Matter (PM) is everything in the air that is not a gas and as such it
is made up from a huge variety of chemical compounds and materials, some
of which are toxic. Due to the small size of many of the particles that form PM,
some of these toxic compounds may enter the bloodstream and be
transported around the body, entering the heart, brain, and other organs.
When reporting UK emissions, PM is classified according to particle size:
PM10 refers to particles smaller than 10 micrometres in diameter, while
PM2.5 refers to finer particles smaller than 2.5 micrometres. By definition,
PM10 emission measurements or estimates include PM2.5, meaning that the
total mass of PM10 emissions is always greater than that of PM2.5.

Creating places which improves the quality of life for residents, enables
growth, and supports vibrant sustainable communities.

87

Page 101



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Predict and provide

Public realm

Public Right of Way (PRoW)
Quality Pedestrian Corridors
(QPC)

Real Time Information (RTI)
Safeguarded Land

Section 106 (S106)

contribution

Severance

Shared Mobility

Strategic Road Network (SRN)

Strategic Walking, wheeling,
and cycling Network (SATN)

Sustainable drainage systems
(SuDS)

The National Byway

Transport User Hierarchy

Predict and Provide can be broadly described as an approach to transport
planning that uses current or historical traffic patterns to determine the
future need for infrastructure.

The public realm is the publicly accessible spaces between buildings that
allow people to move around and interact. It includes streets, squares, parks,
and other outdoor spaces.

Network of routes where public use is legally protected.

A quality pedestrian corridor is a walkway that is comfortable, safe, and well-
connected, with adequate space for pedestrians. It also includes features like
lighting, signage, and crossing facilities.

Live tracking of bus and rail services provided either via information screens
or applications.

A designated area of land in planning which has been protected against
future development for a specific purpose, for example a major
infrastructure project.

Afinancial contribution made by a developer under Section 106 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990, often for a specific purpose (e.g. new
infrastructure).

This refers to barriers to movement and consist of hard severance features -
such as rivers, major roads and railways and soft severance features - minor
roads.

Shared mobility is about the shared use of vehicles, be they cars, bicycles,
scooters, or even ridesharing services, rather than the traditional model of
individual ownership. It encompasses a variety of modes and services that
users can access on-demand, often through a digital platform or app.

Roads managed by National Highways comprising motorways and some A
roads

The Strategic Walking, wheeling, and cycling Network is a proposal for a
countywide Walking, wheeling, and cycling network of walking and cycling
routes. Oxfordshire towns already have LCWIPs, creating a network of
walking and cycling routes within towns. The SATN will connect these
networks, enabling longer-distance walking and cycling across the county.
Some of these routes already exist, others are proposed and will be
developed in the future.

Designed to manage stormwater locally (as close its source as possible), to
mimic natural drainage and encourage its infiltration, attenuation, and
passive treatment.

The National Byway is part of Britain’s cycle-touring network - a meandering
signposted route following the quietest lanes through villages. Its route
stretches to Wiltshire in the south and Dumfries & Galloway in the north,
Powys in the west and Cambridgeshire in the east.

The new hierarchy of road users ensures that those who can do the greatest
harm have the greatest responsibility to reduce the danger they may pose to
others. At the top of this hierarchy (as most vulnerable) are people who are
walking, in particular children, disabled people and older adults. Therefore,
a person cycling assumes responsibility to look out for the safety of those

88

Page 102



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Unmanned Aerial Vehicles’
(UAV)
Walking, wheeling, and cycling

WODC
Zero Emission Zones (ZEZs)

walking. In the same way, a driver has responsibility for those walking,
wheeling, cycling and horse riding.

Remote-controlled aircraft or small aerial devices which do not have an on-
board pilot.

Walking, wheeling, and cycling refers to modes of travel that involve a level
of activity. The term is often used interchangeably with walking and cycling,
but walking, wheeling, and cycling can also include trips made by
wheelchair, mobility scooters, adapted cycles, e-cycles, scooters, as well as
cycle sharing schemes.

West Oxfordshire District Council

An area where all vehicles except those with zero tailpipe emissions are
restricted or charged.

89

Page 103



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Appendix A

Long term flood risk from surface water in the Lowlands*

& Exitmap
canBotiom /| /) WidieyCopse }
gat 4 Taynton el asears
fington ] .
: e e

; 2N * J weodticlaBroke - 5 doms Bottm
Little - Fulbrook
jrringony plantation f ch Srove Asthal Leigh

dary

Swinbrook

widord il Cover

Rifer
Windrish

Asthall " - Littig:Minster

Mirister

4 f : : “Worsham
L signet Barro
+-Westwell ) \ B RHmgate
Upps s /
*, Holwell Plangation shillBrook”
Whipstick Plang b > .qu‘v{c“ L, = Shifton.
Ui ,‘-‘ Martin's L
erbury Lodg? opse
Plantati ¥ -
gseonn S
Carterian” *
o P
\ Sl Brook' s 3
Kericot

Aivescot

SR g
# Black Bpurtan

adweli~
éll Brook

" LanghatDitch #
ks U3y S

= Black Bourtol 8ok

Weald

Whigtoak
Graen

Delly:End

 Pof

e
57

Maggols Grove

Z Curqugf'..

Shill Broa

RIS
Winggush

o

Coté

|4 cogges

bl

T

High
Cogges _

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database rights 2025

& Ea

fightharfoton

BaijaidGate |

e’

Standlake

[0 Rivers and the sea

* L
x Stanton
#4 Harcourt
edieyBrook
WestEn
Willow Pool.
5

00 Reservoirs

NG, Chur
egland. | Chur

b shgcreen

jood ¥

Northi —

Surface water map

Yearly chance of flooding

(® Extent

B +igh chance

More than 3.3% chance each
year

Medium chance

Between 1% and 3.3% chance
each year

Low chance

Between 0.1% and 1% chance
each year

QO Depth

Yearly chance of flooding
between 2040 and 2060

Q Extent
QO Depth
Map details

Show flooding

Long term flood risk from rivers in in the Lowlands

Minster
Lovell

Bargow,
Westwell Plantation

\,'

Holwell

Jestwell copse Foxbur

Plantation

{
shithn

Whipstick Plantatior

Bembury Lodge Copse:
Plantation

Brigg Norton

X

. st
P \ \ §
\ -
4 %
Kencot
} Alvescot
“\

[ 5ok

W

ar i

acky

Ditcham Woog

South Leigh

Stanton
Harcourt

Willow Por
%

i
e,

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database rights 202

7 7 3 o =T T — -
Exit may A 00 Surface water :
< P { / widiycon il / \) Rivers and sea map
f Dean Bottom WiEYEapse / eoal T
Field Assarts "\-/
Jreat 7 orn e 0D Reservoirs .
igton Tainton ‘ e e Yearly chance of flooding
Delly End
Woodfield Brake S W Newy: ENand.  Churct @ Extent
- opcopse  NeWYatt North Leigh; 7 et
arrington Besch Grove H oval Clump’ >
ot Swinprook Poffley End ) B +igh chance
& The Gr
f=— p =g e XJ More than 3.3% chance each
P ~ Green Waod il i (\ L
e ) o I Medium chance
Thor ogge Valéntine: f

Between 1% and 3.3% chance
each year

Low chance

Between 0.1% and 1% chance
each year

Very low chance

Less than 0.1% chance each
year

QO Deptn

Yearly chance of flooding
between 2036 and 2069

QO Extent
QO Deptn
Map details

Show flooding

90

Page 104




West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

Appendix B

To be added.

91

Page 105



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

References

1 Office for National Statistics (2023) Census 2021: Dataset TS001 ‘Number of usual residents in households and
communal establishments.” Available at: https://www.ons.go v.uk/datasets/TS001/editions/20 21/versions/3
[Accessed November 2024].

2Census

3 RAF (2025). RAF Brize Norton. [online] RAF. Available at: https://www.raf.mod.uk/our-organisation/stations/raf-
brize-norton/ [Accessed 10 Jun. 2025].

“Department for Transport (2023). Trip End Model Presentation Program (TEMPro) version 8.1. London:
Department for Transport.

®OCC (2023). Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan. [online] Available at:
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/roads-and-transport-policies-and-
plans/Witney_LCWIP.pdf [Accessed 15 Jun. 2025].

¢ Office of Rail and Road (2024). Estimates of station usage, Table 1410 - Passenger entries and exits and
interchanges by station. Available at: https://dataportal.orr.gov.uk/statistics/usage/estimates-of-station-usage/
[Accessed October 2024].

T OCC (2024). Annual Average Daily Traffic Map. [online] OCC. Available at: https://oxfordshire.maps.arcgis
.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=afe8bef2e7514f91bb1bf6ec034fb69b.

8 Office for National Statistics (2023) Census 2021: Dataset TS001 ‘Number of usual residents in households and
communal establishments.” Available at: https://www.ons.go v.uk/datasets/TS001/editions/20 21/versions/3
[Accessed November 2024] and Department for Transport (2023). Trip End Model Presentation Program
(TEMPro) version 8.1. London: Department for Transport.

® West Oxfordshire District Council (2025). West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2043. Preferred Spatial Options
Consultation Paper.

10 0CC (2022). A40 HIF2 Smart Corridor. [online] Available at: https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/%285%2800f

jalflnzbrxm3owx(fipj55%29%29/documents/s60287/Appendix%20G%20-=%20Part%203%200f%203%20
Engagement%20Report.pdf [Accessed 10 Sep. 2025].

11 Census 2011 - WUO3EW - Location of usual residence and place of work by method of travel to work (MSOA
level)

12 Census 2011 - WUO3EW - Location of usual residence and place of work by method of travel to work (MSOA
level)

13 Office for National Statistics (2023) Census 2021: Dataset TS007B ‘Age by broad age bands’ Available at: https://www.ons.go
v.uk/datasets/TS007B/editions/20 21/versions/3 [Accessed November 2024}

4 Census distance 2011

13 Census distance 2011

16 Census 2011

1" Department for Transport (2025). Mode of travel. [online] GOV.UK. Available at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/nts03-modal-comparisons.

8Census 2021: PP010 - Car or van availability. [online]. Available at:
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/sources/census_2021_ts [Accessed Oct. 2023].

19 Office for National Statistics (2021). TS045 - Car or van availability - Nomis - Official Census and Labour Market
Statistics. [online] www.nomisweb.co.uk. Available at: https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/datasets/c2021ts045.

20 0CC (2022). A40 HIF2 Smart Corridor. [online] Available at: https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/%285%2800f
jalflnzbrxm3owxfipj55%29%29/documents/s60287/Appendix%20G%20-=%20Part%203%200f%203%20
Engagement%20Report.pdf [Accessed 10 Sep. 2025].

2 Office for National Statistics (2011). DC7701EWIla - Method of travel to work (2001 specification) by distance
travelled to work. [online]. Available at: https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/ [Accessed Oct. 2023]. And Office for
National Statistics (2021). Method used to travel to work by distance travelled to work - custom. [online].
Available at: https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/ [Accessed Oct. 2023].

92

Page 106



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

22 Boland, P., Nowland, R., Tellis, K. D., Adams, M., Westwood, J., Crook, D., Larkins, C. & Ridley, J., (2025)
“Barriers and Facilitators to Cycling to School for Children in the UK: A Systematic Review”, Active Travel
Studies 5(1).

2 'We don't tackle the socio-economic barriers to cycling' - British Parliamentary report calls for reform of Cycle

to Work and social justice in active travel | Cycling Weekly

24 0CC (2022). A40 HIF2 Smart Corridor. [online] Available at: https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/%285%2800f
jalflnzbrxm3owxfipj55%29%29/documents/s60287/Appendix%20G%20-=%20Part%203%200f%203%20
Engagement%20Report.pdf [Accessed 10 Sep. 2025].

% Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (2025). AQMA Details- Defra, UK. [online] Defra.gov.uk.
Available at: https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/agma/details?agma_ref=280 [Accessed 10 Jun. 2025].

26 OCC (2025). Construction starts on plan to improve A40 to Witney. [online] Construction starts on plan to
improve A40 to Witney. Available at: https://news.oxfordshire.gov.uk/construction-starts-a40-witney/ [Accessed
10 Sep. 2025].

2T WYG (on behalf of OCC) (2014). OCC Technical Note: Witney Development and Infrastructure Strategic
Modelling. [online] Available at: https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/media/o3ndodwc/technical-note-witney-
development-and-infrastructure-strategic-modelling-october-2014-full-report-and-appendices.pdf [Accessed 10
Sep. 2025].

28 0CC (2024). Annual Average Daily Traffic Map. [online] OCC. Available at: https://oxfordshire.maps.arcgis
.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=afe8bef2e7514f91bb1bf6ec034fb69b.

% Duggan, C., Taylor, A. and Care, G. (2021). A40 HIF2 Smart Corridor: Planning Statement. [online] Oxfordshire
County Council. Available at:
https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/documents/s60220/21%2011%2022_A40%20HIF2%20Smart%20Corridor_
Planning%?20Statement.pdf [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

30 OCC Traffic Count Data, Department for Transport (DfT) (2024). Map Road traffic statistics - Road traffic
statistics. [online] Available at: https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/#6/55.250/-1.000/basemap-regions-countpoint and
National Highways (2024). Highways England - WebTRIS - Map View. [online] Available

31 Foundation for Integrated Transport (FIT) (2021). Fighting car dominance - call for proposals. [online]
Foundation for Integrated Transport. Available at: https://integratedtransport.org.uk/call-for-proposals-for-
campaigns-against-car-dominance [Accessed Oct. 2025].

320CC (2022). A40 HIF2 Smart Corridor. [online] Available at: https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/%285%2800f
jalflnzbrxm3owxfipj55%29%29/documents/s60287/Appendix%20G%20-=%20Part%203%200f%203%20
Engagement%20Report.pdf [Accessed 10 Sep. 2025].

3 bustimes.org (2025). bustimes.org. [online] Bustimes.org. Available at: https://bustimes.org/services/s1-
oxford-carterton [Accessed 10 Sep. 2025].

% bustimes.org (2025). bustimes.org. [online] Bustimes.org. Available at: https://bustimes.org/services/s1-
oxford-carterton [Accessed 10 Sep. 2025].

% Own analysis using timetable as distance data,

% pParliament UK (2021). Written evidence submitted by the Confederation of Passenger Transport (BUS0007).
[online] Parliament.uk. Available at: https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/107525/html/#_edn7
[Accessed Nov 2024] and Cole, S. and White, P. (2021). Factors affecting local bus demand and potential for
increase Bus & Coach Policy Group Factors Affecting Local Bus Demand & Potential for Increase. [online]
Available at: https://ciltuk.org.uk/Portal s/0/Polic y_AK/BCPG_LocalDemand_FINAL.pdf?ver=2021-04-13-114655-
943&timestamp=1618 310835837.

37 Oxfordshire County Council (own analysis)

% Institute for Transport Studies, University of Leeds (2003). Real-time passenger information evidence on
performance. [online] Leeds.ac.uk. Available at: https://www.its.leeds.ac.uk/projects/konsult/private/level2
/instruments/instrument047/12_047c.htm [Accessed 10 Jun. 2025].

% Department for Transport (2020). Cycle Infrastructure Design. [online] Available at: https://assets.pub
lishing.service.gov.uk/media/5ffa1f96d3bf7f65d9e35825/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-1-20.pdf.

93

Page 107



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

0 Office of Rail and Road (2017). Estimates of station usage | ORR Data Portal. [online] Orr.gov.uk. Available at:
https://dataportal.orr.gov.uk/statistics/usage/estimates-of-station-usage/.

4 https://www.instagram.com/p/DTQEZTYFYmd/ & https://www.facebook.com/CllrLiamWalker/posts/-thank-
you-to-everyone-who-popped-down-to-hanborough-station-this-morning-for-lo/1220728413391542/

42 Bus + rail timetables

“3 ORR (2025). Performance at stations | ORR Data Portal. [online] Orr.gov.uk. Available at:
https://dataportal.orr.gov.uk/statistics/performance/performance-at-stations [Accessed 10 Aug. 2025].

4 Oxfordshire County Council (own analysis)

% International Transport Forum (2024). Road Safety Country Profiles, United Kingdom 2023. [online] Available
at: https://www.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/files/united-kingdom-road-safety.pdf.

6 West Oxfordshire District Council (2025). West Oxfordshire District Council. [online] Westoxon.gov.uk. Available
at: https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/parking-travel-and-visitors/where-to-park/ [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

4TWODC Parking Strategy
“8 WODC Parking Strategy

“9Department for Transport (2023). Trip End Model Presentation Program (TEMPro) version 8.1. London:
Department for Transport.
0 Census 2011

51 Census 2011

52 Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (2025). AQMA Details- Defra, UK. [online] Defra.gov.uk.
Available at: https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/agma/details?agma_ref=280 [Accessed 10 Jun. 2025].

53 air-quality-annual-report-2025.pdf

* National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory (2024). UK Emissions Interactive Map. [online]
Energysecurity.gov.uk. Available at: https://naei.energysecurity.gov.uk/emissionsapp/.

55 https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240034228

% Department of Health and Social Care (2025). Obesity, physical activity and nutrition - Data. [online]
Phe.org.uk. Available at: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/obesity-physical-activity-
nutrition/data#page/1/gid/8000011/ pat/6/ati/501/are/E07000181/iid/90316/age/200/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-
1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1 [Accessed 10 Jul. 2025].

5" Appleby, K. (2021). Impact case study - Schoolchildren who switch to walking or cycling may have a healthier
body weight - NIHR School for Public Health Research. [online] NIHR School for Public Health Research.
Available at: https://sphr.nihr.ac.uk/news-and-events/impact/impact-case-study-schoolchildren-who-switch-to-
walking-or-cycling-may-have-a-healthier-body-weight/.

%8 Environment Agency (2008). Witney Flood Review July 2007: An investigation into the causes and flood risk
management options. [online] Available at: https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/media/rjujlzwz/witney-july-2007-
floods-report.pdf [Accessed 10 Sep. 2025].

* Knight, G. (2020). Long-term flood risk: a user-centred service - Defra digital, data, technology and security.
[online] DEFRA. Available at: https://defradigital.blog.gov.uk/2020/02/05/long-term-flood-risk-a-user-centred-
service/ [Accessed 17 Jan. 2025].

 Environment Agency (2019). Flood Risk, Rivers, Sea and Surface Water. [online] Available at: https://check-
long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk/map.

> Environment Agency (2008). Witney Flood Review July 2007: An investigation into the causes and flood risk
management options. [online] Available at: https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/media/rjujlzwz/witney-july-2007-
floods-report.pdf [Accessed 10 Sep. 2025].

2 Environment Agency (2008). Witney Flood Review July 2007: An investigation into the causes and flood risk
management options. [online] Available at: https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/media/rjujlzwz/witney-july-2007-
floods-report.pdf [Accessed 10 Sep. 2025].

& Environment Agency (2008). Witney Flood Review July 2007: An investigation into the causes and flood risk
management options. [online] Available at: https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/media/rjujlzwz/witney-july-2007-
floods-report.pdf [Accessed 10 Sep. 2025].

94

Page 108



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

& Oxfordshire JSNA (2020). Carterton Community profile of Health and Wellbeing - Evidence. [online] Available
at: https://data.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/03/Carterton-JSNA-profile-Mar20.pdf [Accessed
10 Sep. 2025].

® Transport for the North (2022). The causes, consequences, and extent of transport-related social exclusion.
[online] Transport for the North. Available at: https://www.transportforthenorth.com/blogs/the-causes-
consequences-and-extent-of-transport-related-social-exclusion-in-the-north/.

% Transport for the North (2025) TRSE Visualiser - Local Authority. URL: https://trse.transportforthenorth.com/
local-authority. Date Site Accessed: 7™ August 2025

7 Oxfordshire County Council (2021b). Oxfordshire School Streets. [online] Let’s Talk Oxfordshire. Available at:
https://letstalk.oxfordshire.gov.uk/oxfordshire-school-streets [Accessed 15 Oct. 2025].

% Homes England (2023). Fact Sheet 6: The role of design and placemaking in new homes and communities.
[online] Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/new-homes-fact-sheet-6-the-role-of-design-
and-placemaking/fact-sheet-6-the-role-of-design-and-placemaking-in-new-homes-and-communities.

% Department for Transport (2020). Gear Change A bold vision for cycling and walking. [online] Available at:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5f1f59458fa8f53d39c0def9/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-
cycling-and-walking.pdf.

™ Living Streets (2025). Pedestrian Pound. [online] Living Streets. Available at:
https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/pedestrianpound [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

™ Jovene, M., Boys Smith, N. and Illushka Seresinhe, C. (2019). Of Streets and Squares. [online] Available at:
https://www.createstreets.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/0f-Streets-and-Squares_28-March.pdf.

2 UN Habitat (2025). Healthier Cities and Communities Through Public Spaces. [online] Available at:
https://unhabitat.org/sites/default/files/2025/01/final_public_space_and_urban_health.pdf.

™ Local Government Association (2024). Empowering healthy places: Unveiling the powers and practices of local
councils in fostering healthy neighbourhoods. [online] Local.gov.uk. Available at:
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/empowering-healthy-places-unveiling-powers-and-practices-local-
councils-fostering.

™ Department for Transport (2025). Purpose of travel. [online] GOV.UK. Available at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/nts04-purpose-of-trips [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

™ Ministry for Housing, Communities, and Local Government (2021). National Design Guide. [online] Available at:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/602cef1d8fa8f5038595091b/National_design_guide.pdf.

™ Census 2011 Distance

" Census 2011 Distance

™ Census Data, Local Area Reports, Office for National Statistics, 2011,
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/localarea

™ 0CC (2023). Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan. [online] Available at:
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/roads-and-transport-policies-and-
plans/Witney_LCWIP.pdf [Accessed 15 Jun. 2025].

8 0CC (2023). Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan. [online] Available at:
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/roads-and-transport-policies-and-
plans/Witney_LCWIP.pdf [Accessed 15 Jun. 2025].

Eynsham LCWIP

Carterton LCWIP

8 Department for Transport (2020). Cycle Infrastructure Design. [online] Available at:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5ffa1f96d3bf7f65d9e35825/cycle-infrastructure-design-Itn-1-
20.pdf.

82 Department for Transport (2024). NTS 2023: Travel to and from school. [online] GOV.UK. Available at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/national-travel-survey-2023/nts-2023-travel-to-and-from-school.

8 Department for Transport (2020). Gear Change A bold vision for cycling and walking. [online] Available at:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5f1f59458fa8f53d39c0def9/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-
cycling-and-walking.pdf.

95

Page 109



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

8 Oxfordshire County Council (2022). Local Transport and Connectivity Plan 2022 -2050. [online] Available at:
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/roads-and-transport-connecting-
oxfordshire/LocalTransportandConnectivityPlan.pdf.

& Department for Environment, Food, and Rural Affairs (2025). AQMA Details- Defra, UK. [online] Defra.gov.uk.
Available at: https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/agma/details?agma_ref=280.

% Transport for the North (2024). Community severance across England. [online] Available at:
https://www.transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/Final-severance-report.pdf [Accessed 15 Sep.
2025].

8" Oxfordshire County Council (2021). E-scooter trial in Oxford | Oxfordshire County Council. [online] Oxfordshire
County Council. Available at: https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/transport-and-travel/connecting-
oxfordshire/active-travel/e-scooter-trial [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

8 Motability Foundation (2025). Raising the Bar: Boosting the accessibility of shared micromobility. [online]
Available at: https://www.motabilityfoundation.org.uk/media/po3pibnu/motablity-foundation-ridc-smm-
report.pdf [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

8 Como UK (2024). CoMoUK Annual Shared Micromobility Report UK. [online] Available at:
https://cdn.prod.website-
files.com/6102564995f71c83fbal4d54/67fd060cc33031ff5fa8b697_CoMoUK%20Shared%20Micromobility%20Re
port%202024.pdf [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

% Solent Transport (2023). Solent Future Transport Zone E-Scooter Trial Factsheet. [online] Solent Transport.
Available at: https://www.solent-transport.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/Solent-FTZ-E-scooter-Trial-
Factsheet-Summer-2023.pdf [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

%1 Oxfordshire County Council (2025) Science Vale Movement and Place Plan. [online] Available at:
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/transport-and-travel/connecting-oxfordshire/strategies-and-corridor-plans

%2 Ministry for Housing, Communities, and Local Government (2021). National Design Guide. [online] Available at:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/602cef1d8fa8f5038595091b/National_design_guide.pdf.

9 Department for Transport (DfT) (2013). National Travel Survey: Data Table NTS0308c. [online] Available at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/national-travel-survey-statistics [Accessed Oct. 2023].

% Department for Transport (DfT) (2013). National Travel Survey: Data Table NTS0308c. [online] Available at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/national-travel-survey-statistics [Accessed Oct. 2023].

% Office for National Statistics (2025). Method of travel to workplace - Census Maps, ONS. [online] Ons.gov.uk.
Available at: https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/maps/choropleth/work/method-of-travel-to-workplace/transport-
to-workplace-12a/bus-minibus-or-coach?lad=E07000181 [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

% CoMo UK (2019). Mobility hubs > Overview and benefits. [online] Como.org.uk. Available at:
https://www.como.org.uk/mobility-hubs/overview-and-benefits#benefits-of-mobility-hubs [Accessed 15 Sep.
2025].

7 CoMo UK (2019). Mobility hubs > Overview and benefits. [online] Como.org.uk. Available at:
https://www.como.org.uk/mobility-hubs/overview-and-benefits#benefits-of-mobility-hubs [Accessed 15 Sep.
2025].

% Oxfordshire County Council (2023). Oxfordshire County Council Mobility Hub Strategy. [online] Available at:
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/roads-and-transport-policies-and-
plans/MobilityHubStrategy.pdf [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

% Department for Transport (2024). Integrated National Transport Strategy: a call for ideas. [online] GOV.UK.
Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/calls-for-evidence/integrated-national-transport-strategy-a-call-
for-ideas/integrated-national-transport-strategy-a-call-for-ideas#integrated-national-transport-strategy-a-call-
for-ideas [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

100 Office for National Statistics (2021). Census 2021: TS061 - Method used to travel to work. [online]
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/sources/census_2021_ts. Available at: https://www.nomisweb.
co.uk/sources/census_2021_ts

101 Greener Journeys (2013). The Greener Journeys Behaviour Change Lab. [online] Available at: https://greener-
vision.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/212.pdf [Accessed 3 Nov. 2025].

96

Page 110



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

102 Oxfordshire Bus Enhance Partnership (2025). Oxfordshire 2024 Survey Results: Passenger Satisfaction on the
Rise. [online] Mybusoxfordshire.org.uk. Available at: https://www.mybusoxfordshire.org.uk/post/oxfordshire-
2024-survey-results [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

103 parliament UK (2021). Written evidence submitted by the Confederation of Passenger Transport (BUS0007).
[online] Parliament.uk. Available at: https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/107525/html/#_edn7
[Accessed Nov 2024] and Cole, S. and White, P. (2021). Factors affecting local bus demand and potential for
increase Bus & Coach Policy Group Factors Affecting Local Bus Demand & Potential for Increase. [online]
Available at: https://ciltuk.org.uk/Portal s/0/Polic y_AK/BCPG_LocalDemand_FINAL.pdf?ver=2021-04-13-114655-
943&timestamp=1618 310835837.

104 pepartment for Transport (DfT) (2023). Increasing bus patronage through an audience strategy. [online]
Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/increasing-bus-patronage-through-an-audience-
strategy/increasing-bus-patronage-through-an-audience-strategy.

105 House of Commons (2021). House of Commons Transport Committee: Written evidence submitted by the
Confederation of Passenger Transport. [online] Parliament.uk. Available at:
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/107525/html/#_edn7 [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

106 Yonder (2022). Increasing bus patronage through an audience strategy. [online] Available at:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/647db8255f7bb7000c7fa475/bus-market-segmentation-
report.pdf [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

107 Bus timetables and drive time

108 Department for Transport (2024). Annual bus statistics: year ending March 2024 (revised). [online] GOV.UK.
Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2024/annual-
bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2024#bus-passenger-satisfaction.

109 CIHT (2018). Buses in Urban Developments. [online] Available at:
https://www.ciht.org.uk/media/4459/buses_ua_tp_full_version_v5.pdf [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

110 Department for Transport (2024). Local Transport Note 1/24: Bus User Priority. [online] Available at:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65f48b65811225001a579f7c/local-transport-note-124-bus-user-
priority-report.pdf [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

111 Department for Transport (2024). Local Transport Note 1/24: Bus User Priority. [online] Available at:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65f48b65811225001a579f7c/local-transport-note-124-bus-user-
priority-report.pdf [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

12 Department for Transport (2024). Findings from the transport safety for women and girls interventions scan.
[online] GOV.UK. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/interventions-to-improve-
transport-safety-for-women-and-girls/findings-from-the-transport-safety-for-women-and-girls-interventions-
scan [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

13 Urban Transport Group (2025). The Pathway to A Brighter Transport Future: Harnessing The Opportunity Of
Our Local Railways. [online] Available at: https://www.urbantransportgroup.org/system/files/general-
docs/UTG%20Report%20-%20Invest%20and%20grow%20FINAL.pdf [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

14 Office of Rail and Road (2024). Estimates of station usage, Table 1410 - Passenger entries and exits and
interchanges by station. Available at: https://dataportal.orr.gov.uk/statistics/usage/estimates-of-station-usage/
[Accessed October 2024].

115 National Rail (2024). Origin and destination matrix (ODM) 2023-24. [online] Raildata.org.uk. Available at:
https://raildata.org.uk/dataProduct/P-420268d5-b082-469e-98e4-47d92f714bc6/overview [Accessed 15 Sep.
2025].

116 Oxfordshire Community Rail Partnership (2024). Oxfordshire Residents’ Travel Survey Oxfordshire Community
Rail Partnership. [online] Available at:
https://www.oxfordshirecommunityrail.org/_files/ugd/ef8a8b_e3bc1d444d8a4d7fae4657fa88e90f86.pdf
[Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

1T Oxfordshire Community Rail Partnership (2024). Oxfordshire Residents’ Travel Survey Oxfordshire Community
Rail Partnership. [online] Available at:
https://www.oxfordshirecommunityrail.org/_files/ugd/ef8a8b_e3bc1d444d8a4d7fae4657fa88e90f86.pdf
[Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

97

Page 111



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

18 https://www.instagram.com/p/DTQEZTYFYmd/ & https://www.facebook.com/CllrLiamWalker/posts/-thank-
you-to-everyone-who-popped-down-to-hanborough-station-this-morning-for-lo/1220728413391542/

119 Office for National Statistics (2011). Census 2011: QS416EW - Car or van availability. [online] Available at:
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/ [Accessed Oct. 2014] and Office for National Statistics (2021). Census 2021: TS045
- Car or van availability. [online] https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/sources/census_2021_ts. Available at:
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/sources/census_2021_ts [Accessed Oct. 2023].

120 CoMoUK (2023). CoMoUK Annual Car Club Report UK. [online] pp.3-4. Available at: https://assets-
global.website-
files.com/6102564995f71c83fbal4d54/6645d8ccfOf74f6e2b38382e_CoMoUK%20Car%20Club%20Annual%20Rep
ort%20UK%202023.pdf [Accessed Oct. 2025].

121 Office for National Statistics (2011). Census 2011: QS701EW - Method of travel to work. [online] Available at:
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/ [Accessed Oct. 2014] and Office for National Statistics (2021). Census 2021: TS061
1221 oughborough University (n.d.). CarShare | Sustainability | Loughborough University. [online] Available at:
https://www.lboro.ac.uk/services/sustainability/campaigns/carshare/.

123 Mobilityways (2024). What are the benefits of sharing a car? [online] hub.liftshare.com. Available at:
https://hub.liftshare.com/en/knowledge/what-are-the-benefits-of-sharing-a-car [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

124 NatCen Social Research (on behalf of the DfT) (2024). mpact of interventions encouraging a switch from cars
to more sustainable modes of transport A rapid evidence assessment (REA). [online] Available at:
https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fassets.publishing.service.gov.uk%2Fmedi
a%2F6017f74fd3bf7f70c3a495b0%2FImpact-of-interventions-encouraging-a-switch-from-cars-to-more-
sustainable-modes-of-transport.odt&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK.

125 OCC Traffic Count Data, Department for Transport (DfT) (2024). Map Road traffic statistics - Road traffic
statistics. [online] Available at: https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/#6/55.250/-1.000/basemap-regions-countpoint and
National Highways (2024). Highways England - WebTRIS - Map View. [online] Available.

126 Office for National Statistics (2011). Census 2011: QSTO01EW - Method of travel to work. [online] Available at:
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/ [Accessed Oct. 2014] and Office for National Statistics (2021). Census 2021: TS061
- Method used to travel to work. [online] https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/sources/census_2021_ts. Available at:
https://www.nomisweb. co.uk/sources/census_2021_ts [Accessed Oct. 2023].

127 Office for National Statistics (2011). Census 2011: QS702EW - Distance travelled to work. [online] Available at:
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/ [Accessed Oct. 2014] and Office for National Statistics (2021). Census 2021: TS058
- Distance travelled to work. [online] https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/sources/census_2021_ts. Available at:
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/sources/census_2021_ts [Accessed Oct. 2023].

128 Office for National Statistics (2011). Census 2011: QS701EW - Method of travel to work. [online] Available at:
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/ [Accessed Oct. 2014] and Office for National Statistics (2021). Census 2021: TS061
123 Department for Transport (2025). Mode of travel. [online] GOV.UK. Available at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/nts03-modal-comparisons [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

130 pyblic Health England (2018). Cycling and walking for individual and population health benefits A rapid
evidence review for health and care system decision-makers. [online] Available at:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5bf41840e5274a2af47c464e/Cycling_and_walking_for_individu
al_and_population_health_benefits.pdf [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

131 Oxfordshire County Council (2022) A40 HIF2 Smart Corridor Outline Business Case

132 Oxfordshire County Council (2020). A40 Eynsham Park and Ride to Wolvercote scheme | Oxfordshire County
Council. [online] Oxfordshire County Council. Available at: https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/transport-and-
travel/roadworks/future-transport-projects/a40-improvements/park-and-ride-wolvercote [Accessed 15 Sep.
2025].

133 Oxfordshire County Council (2023). Witney High Street and Market Square enhancements scheme |
Oxfordshire County Council. [online] Oxfordshire County Council. Available at:
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/transport-and-travel/roadworks/future-transport-projects/witney-high-street
[Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

134 Living Streets (2025). Pedestrian Pound. [online] Living Streets. Available at:
https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/pedestrianpound [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

98

Page 112



West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan

135 West Oxfordshire District Council (2025a). Local Plan 2031. [online] westoxon.gov.uk. Available at:
https://westoxon.gov.uk/localplan2031 [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

136 Census 2011
137 0CC (2023). Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan. [online] Available at:

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/roads-and-transport-policies-and-
plans/Witney_LCWIP.pdf [Accessed 15 Jun. 2025].

138 Department for Transport (2023). National Travel Attitudes Study (NTAS) Wave 9: Cycling. [online] GOV.UK.
Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/national-travel-attitudes-study-wave-9/national-travel-
attitudes-study-ntas-wave-9-cycling [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

139 Oxfordshire County Council (2025) Road traffic counts (own analysis)
10 Environment Agency (2019). Learn more about flood risk. [online] check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk.
Available at: https://check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk/map.

41 Fnvironment Agency (2019). Learn more about flood risk. [online] check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk.
Available at: https://check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk/map.

42 Woodland Trust (2024). Can trees and woods help reduce flooding? [online] Woodland Trust. Available at:
https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/trees-woods-and-wildlife/british-trees/flooding/ [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

143 Department for Environment, Food, and Rural Affairs (2024). Government launches Tree Planting Taskforce to
oversee planting of millions of trees across our four nations. [online] GOV.UK. Available at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-launches-treeplantingtaskforce-to-oversee-planting-of-
millions-of-trees-across-our-four-nations [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

144 the-smart-infrastructure-paper.pdf

15 Environment Agency (2019). Learn more about flood risk. [online] check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk.
Available at: https://check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk/map [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

16 Environment Agency (2019). Learn more about flood risk. [online] check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk.
Available at: https://check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk/map [Accessed 15 Sep. 2025].

99

Page 113



Shipton' =)

A=) Ascott-under-Wychwood

\ 70 Worcester

A — e —
d ’
s R\ ‘Finstock ’
P i 3 Stonesfield
Movement and Place Plan b2 Woodstock|
4 A
/ ¢~ Finstock Combe 1
Cotswold 4 Blenheim Palace
Area of Outstanding Leafield 7 Pamedean ?
‘ Natural Beauty 1 \
\ EASCENG ¢  Bladon
\ 1 Long Hanborgugh Hanborough lBegbroke
Taynton [} "
\} -
\ \ Delly End Y . o
it Rulbfook " NewYatt North LEIg’h’ Church Hanborc;ugh
= ; N ’
ATy Swinbrook A PofflegEnd $ ’ I
Lor Crawley ’ 1
] C ) P :
N SN . '
/ A . y < /‘;).\ hs 1
N N Minster Lovell 1 | BB W Ry 7 P Y
PA . ~e @@ “‘@l =
-~ =
/ Westwell \\ s _‘_.. _ = @ Witney i -
¢ s Q‘ o .....
h 5 = L 4 E 3 ~ L) w
Y, \ Bradwell Shilton 77 =& 7227, -» = Curbridge M/ u/B°P South Leigh w2
& \ , = -~ S L
e =
@ Cotswold 12] 5 Brize Norton Rk ¢ X
[ \ Wildlife Park 2t il Ducklington,
~ . [y 0O 1= 0 a2 Sy
‘ :/_\ Carterton = “ ;
N
RAF Brize Norton \ FUseR !
\ ! s Stanton Harcourt /
1 \
/4
1 > ’
\ Kencot 1 \ ,
N
Filkins Alvescot : o~ ', \
B
\ Broughton Poggs Black Bourton =5 <> i= \‘ e \
I = = Brightampton_ " =
ST = = m o =
_— = | N = L SAston: m o _ - = =  Standlake |
r Support between i = Langford 1 - Cote ., " == " U Northmoor / Key
ol Schemes to:
7,200 to 10,000 new (Clanfield / Deliver
homes in the area by I T ——
=~ Progress
2043 and c. 86 2 . // e ,/ @ oz
hectares of new L ' / “)> Explore
p— —
employment land ! - B ’
1 e -~ LCWIP area
*Allocations stillin |
consultationare &> == \ Kelmscott T N SATN:
represented by B s = - " routes
—

Note: This map is not to scale and‘isforillustration purposes only.



Work with partners to deliver the following schemes:

0 Eynsham Park & Ride access, opening and management

e A40 - Eynsham Park and Ride to Wolvercote Phase 1
3.4 Improved walking and cycling facilities along A40

f@E New bus lanes between Park and Ride and Cassington

9 A40 Access to Witney - Shores Green Slips Roads

3§ Improved walking and cycling infrastructure
éBs Westfacing slip roads and junction enhancements

Q Witney High Street and Market Square Enhancements

,},_J Public Realm and walk, wheel & cycle improvements

f@#@ Review of bus stopping arrangements

e A415/A4095 De-classification in Witney

Sof  Make walking, wheeling and cycling the natural first choice
&2 Improvejourney times and reliability
&8 Reducethroughtrafficincluding HGVs and improve road safety

e Carterton Mobility Hub Pilot

S

f@a Create a high-quality multimodal transport interchange

0 Oxfordshire School Streets - Carterton
e Witney Northern Distributor Road (delivered by North Witney SDA)

e Eynsham Western Spine Road (delivered by West Eynsham SDA)

Work with partners to progress and shape the following

@ Access to Carterton

Y 3§ New safer cycling route between Witney and Carterton
(QQ’ &%  Safetyimprovementson the B4477
@,
+<f) Carterton20mph
5 Zod  Improved safety for those walking, wheeling & cycling
@ Upavon Way Improvements
X Improved walking, wheeling and cycling routes
(5 Fiveways Dutch style Roundabout
Jof  Provision of dedicate cycle spaces and crossings at junction

Explore future opportunities for consideration:

@ West End Link

o4 High-quality walking, wheeling and cycling route
@2 Quickerand more reliable busesin and around Witney.

([5 PBridge Street Mini Roundabouts
?‘oj

@ Hanborough Rail Station Improvements & Mobility Hub

Improved walking, wheeling & cycling and cycling facilities

@ Eynsham to Hanborough Walk, Wheel & Cycle Route
@ Eynsham to Botley Walk, Wheel & Cycle Route

@ A40 - Eynsham Park and Ride to Wolvercote Phase 2
(Cassington to Wolvercote)

@ Walk, Wheel & Cycle improvements at Hanborough Station @ Eynsham Public Realm Improvements

@ Provision of a second platform at Hanborough Station
@ Double tracking of rail line between Oxford & Charlbury

@ Oxford-Eynsham-Witney-Carterton Mass Rapid Transit
Corridor (Indicative Alignment)

&EZ Quicker, zero-emission & more frequent and reliable public
transport.

@ Walk, wheel & cycle improvements at Swinford Toll Bridge ‘

@ Junction improvements at Jubilee Way / Oxford Hill

o
Fo

Improved facilities for those walking, wheeling and cycling
Improved safety for users alongside capacity enhancements

@ Burford Public Realm Improvements Feasibility Study

Area-wide measures

Deliver schemes in the Witney, Carterton
and Eynsham LCWIPs

‘ Enhanced bus services and infrastructure
through BSIP.

‘ Walking, wheeling and cycling barrier
removal

‘ Behaviour change initiatives

‘ Implement Windrush HGV Study
recommendations.

Development and delivery of SATN
routes

Network of cycle parking

Network of mobility hub at major
interchanges

Public realm improvements

Climate resilience projects

Zero emission bus network

Network of mini, linking, suburban and
rural mobility hubs

New car club and car share scheme

‘ Shared micromobility schemes



91T abed

Homepage

Objectives

Place Shaping

Create a sense of place through
implementing cohesive healthy place-
shaping interventions.

Walking, wheeling and cycling

D

r a comprehensive, comfortable,
direct, safe, coherent and inclusive
walking, wheeling and cycling network.

Actions

When developing movement and transport schemes, ensure character, community, and climate are at the heart
of proposals and dng princi onsidered alongside engineeri

Spatial Level

Local

9

Work with partners to enhance and upgrade timetables, local guides, maps, etc., which showcase the local area,
its history, the local tourist attractions, and proximity to the Cotswolds National Landscape.

District

&

Enhance the sense of place in Witney by:

a. Supporting community partners to improve the existing sense of place in Witney by building upon heritage|

through artwork, trails and includi d ity parks.

b. Work with partners to deliver the Witney High Street/ Market Square Enhancement Project.
it tod d implement a wayfindi for Witney.

. Work

Local

Develop and enhance the sense of place in Carterton by:
a. Work with partners to develop a strategy to improve the public realm in Carterton town centre (including the|
Carterton Mobility Hub), to reduce the impact of traffic and give priority to those walking, wheeling, and cycling.
b. Work with partners to implement public realm enhancements in Carterton town centre.

c. Build on Carterton’s historic links to RAF Brize Norton to reflect the town’s history and improve its sense of

place. This may include accessible wayfindi murals, artwork, rest pl and
community parks.
toa ion project in the h the WODC Local Plan.

Local

place in locati the Lowlands, including, but not limited to:

a. Burford High Street;

15 Hyper-Local
b. Eynsham village centre; and ypertocal
<. Brize Norton.

6| The County Council will work with schools, developers, and businesses to ensure that Travel Plans contain S

6 |intiatives to i d assist with delivering and monitoring them.
p " p—

L7 | Workwitnp waterways in Witney, Burford, Eynsham, and Hyper Local

Carterton.

Liaise with partners to develop high-quality pedestrian and cycle routes in Witney by delivering on the proposed
routes and schemes in the LCWIP, with  focus on the following:
+ Conti it linki i al and area:

+ Improving conditions and infrastructure for pedestrians and cyclists in Bridge Street, the town centre and,
Station Lane area.

- Progress options for ‘Dutch style' roundabouts at the Curbridge Road / Ducklington Road Welch Way / Com,
Street roundabout and the Deer Park / Curbridge Road roundabout (Witney LCWIP References 39 & 40).

Local

Liaise with partners to develop high-quality pedestrian and cycle routes in Carterton by delivering on the|

proposed routes and schemes in the LOWIP, with a focus on the following:

+ Anetwork of high-quality local cycle routes throughout Carterton.

+ From the north and east of Carterton, via Brize Norton Road.

+ From the west of Carterton via Alvescot Road.

+ Toimprove the public realm and provide walking and cycle routes within the vicinity of the RAF Brize Norton,

access gate and in the immediate vic
i d

. g prop Upavon Way i

d amenities.

Local

Liaise with partners to develop high-quality pedestrian and cycle routes in Eynsham by delivering on the|
proposed routes and schemes in the LOWIP, with a focus on the followiny
d i incle

. A

+ Safe walking and cycling routes to school.

igin the village centre.

23 |+ Improving the public realm and traffic management in the village centre. Local
+ safe cycle connections between Eynsham and surrounding villages and settlements, including Cassington,
Hanborough and Botley.
+ Safe walking and cycle connectivity across the A40 between Eynsham and proposed developments including|
Salt Cross Garden Village.
Work with partners to deliver the high-quality Strategic Active Travel Network (SATN) routes in the local area,
between:
+ Witney, Eynsham and Oxford, along the A40;
+ Witney and Carterton;
+ Witney and Hanborough rail station;
+ Witney and Charlbury;
24|+ Witney to Stanton Harcourt; District

+ Witney to Cumnor;
+ Witney, Carterton, and Burford;

+ Eynsham to Long Hanborough;

+ Eynsham to Oxford via Botley and Farmoor;
+ Hanborough to Woodstock; and

- Carterton and Farinedon.

Travel and
Connectivity

Social and
Community

West Oxfordshire Lowlands

Components of Place Making

Health and
Wellbeing

Culture and
Assets

Climate and Economic

wironment Growth

Time Scale

Indicative Costs

Up to5 years Between £500,000 and £1 Million
Up to5 years Up to £100,000
Up to5 years Over £1 Millon
Up to5 years Over £1 Millon
Up to5 years Between £500,000 and £1 Million
Up to5 years Up t0 £100,000
Up to5 years Between £100,000 and £500,000

Between 5 and 10 years Over £1 Millon
Between 5 and 10 years Over £1 Millon
Between 5 and 10 years Over £1 Millon

UptoSyears Over £1 Millon

0CC Capital Funding, Active Travel England
(ATE) Funding, Active Travel Fund,
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), Parish /
‘Town Councils, S106, Developer
Contributions

0CC Capital Funding, Active Travel England
(ATE) Funding, Active Travel Fund,
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), Parish /
Town Councils, UK Government Funding,
5106, Developer Contributions

Partners

0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses

Progress

Workin Progress

0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses

Not Started

0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses.

Workin Progress

0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses Not Started
0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses Not Started

0CC, WODC, Schools, Developer, Businesses Not Started
0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses Not Started

0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses.

Not Started

0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Coun

, Developers, Businesses

Not Started

0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses.

Workin Progress

0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses.

Not Started




LTT abed

Investigate changes to the PRoW network to enable use by a wider range of Non-Motorised Users for different]

Between 5 and 10 years

Between £500,000 and £1 Million

0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses

Workin Progress

25 joumeypurpess toenable acces to Green Spaces, provid a wider choce fornterrban trave and tobenef Local
health and wellbeine of users.
e Czrry out a cycle parking aucit across the Lowlands to inform the most appropriae locations fo cycl parking o
hubs and h tations and parking for alternative bikes.
47 |Work with partners to explore opportunites for the provison of a commnity bike hub, which may nclude|
facilties such as bike hire, parking, repair, and café.
s |Work with partners (primarily the Walk, Wheel, and Cycle Trust) to jon up the NCN inthe local area to provide a ol
ive network.
25| Work with partners o develop and implement schemes that will enhance spaces fo people walking,wheeling,|
and cycling and reduce through traffc in town centres.
210 |Work with parnersto el saf routs o schoo o peole walking, whesling, and cycing, whh could ol
include th f School Streets and School
Work with parters to deliver the School Streets scheme at Edith Moorhouse Primary School and St Joseph's
211 N Hyper-Local
Catholic Primary School in Carterton.
Work with partners to deliver new or improved crossing points to remove walking, wheeling, and cycling barriers
across key arterialroutes in the area. We will do this by:
a. Installing a new zebra crossing on Witan Way near Sainsburys (Witney LCWIP Reference 63).
b. Installing two new signalised crossings on Deer Park Road (Witney LCWIP References 31 & 32).
. Ensuring that permitted developments install new crossings at Carterton Road and Brize Norton Road,
212 Hyper-Local
Carterton.
d. Installation of zebra crossings on Burford Road and Alvescot Road, Carterton.
e. Installing crossings over the A40, s part of the A40 Eynsham Park and Ride to Wolvercote scheme.
1. Installing a new zebra crossing on The Hill in Burford.
. Installing a new zebra crossing on Cote Road, Aston.
13 | Workwith partners todentify upgrades to the walking, wheeling and cycling network o increase connectivity et
with the National Cycle Network.
| Workoith partnersn th fal and economic factor from cycling by et
providing education, training, and access to free or reduced-price equipment.
1| Workuvith partners to ensure th and improved high-quality walking, wheeling, and cycling routes -
across the Ad0, includi apprasl f rad spartcdoptions s wel s hose ot g,
Work with partners ing, wheeling, and fers across the River Wi wellas
ensuring resilience on existing routes across the River Windrush flood zones. We will do this by:
a. Improving the Woodford Mill path (Witney LCWIP References 7,8, 9 & 89).
32 |b. Ensuring of East Witney Strategic delivers a ing and Local
cycling bridge at Blshops Farm ill (Witney LCWIP References 19,20, 212 &:21b).
c. Ensure the dell i g cycling routes and facilities as part of the West End
Link Road 1WELR).
- alking, wheeling, and cycling faciltes at the Swinford Toll Bridge in support of County
Reduce walking, wheeling and cycling the Eynsham to Botley walking, wheeling, and cycli
severance caused by physical barriers. Work with partners to expl or d crossing points , wheeling, and cycling barriers
34 |across keyarterial routes in the area. \ndudmg but not limited to along the A361, A415, A4095, A40, Ducklington Distrct
Lane, Curbridge Road, Woodstock Road, Burford Road, Newland, Oxford Hill, Monahan Way, Shilton Road and
Upavon Way.
25 |Workuwith partners y exiting fers to walking wheeling, and cycling, such as Distict
gates and guard railings.
25| Workowith partners o delver improved walking wheelig, and cycling onthe A4095 Hyper Local
station bridge.
47 |Ensuring the developer of Salt Cross Garden Village delivers high-quality walking, wheeling, and cyclin facil Lol
on Lower Road to provide a connection between Eynsham and Hanborough rail station.
a1 [o ities to deliver a micro-mobility schemes) in the Lowlands. District
Inthe work bike micro-mobilty schemes in Witney, Carterton, Eynsham
S 42 |andLong to distance travel and toi between District
Introduce shared micromobility villages, Oxford, rail stati , Eynsham Park and Ride.
schemes, subject to central " 2 = -
ovemnment egisation 4a | Worknith partners to develop an -scooter based micro-mobilty scheme to support nternal travel within et
Witney, Carterton, and Eynsham.
wa | SupPort shared e-scooter and e-bike schemes that link dedicated employment sites with public ransport et
|interchanges.
s part of planning applicatons, developers will e required to
2. Identify key walking, wheeling and between the key local
5.1 b Audit key walking, wheeling and cycle routes between the development and key local destinations and Local
identify necessary improvements; and
<. Develop and deliver new orimproved walking, wheeling, and cycling routes.
All developments will be required to:
Ensure developments deliver 3. Deliverrelevant walking, wheeling,and cycing provision identifed i LCWIPs and SATN. -
comprahentive amatoand oft ite | 52 |P- Address any gaps nthe provsion of walking, wheeling, and cycling outes, including connections o exsting Local
° ’ networks, routes dentiied in LOWIPs and SATN and between developments.
walking, wheeling and cycling - )
riion <. Prioritse walking, wheeling, and cycling and ensure integrates with off-
site routes.
Work with partners to ensure that new located within exsti boundaries, such
53 |Upavon Way, provide attractive walking, wheeling, and cycli which isting desire i Local
and LOWIP routes.
e |Ensureal ide direct links to wider walking, cycling and wheeli has LOWIP County
Toutes, SATN, PRoW and Greemways.
55 |Ensureal in particular strategic ites, deliver safe and attractive walking, wheeling and cycling Local

the local settlement centre, schools and day-to-day facilities.

Between 2 and 5 years Between £500,000 and £1 Million 0CC,WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses | Not Started
Up totwo years Between £100,000 and £500,000 0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses | Not Started
Between 2 and 5 years Between £500,000 and £1 Million 0CC,WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses | Not Started
Uptosyears Over £1 Millon 0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses | Not Started
Uptosyears Over £1 Millon 0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses | Not Started
Up totwo years Between £100,000 and £500,000 0CC,WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses | Not Started
Uptosyears Over £1 Millon 0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses | Not Started
Uptosyears Over £1 Millon 0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses | Not Started
Ongoing Between £100,000 and £500,000 0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses | Not Started
UptoSyears Over £1 Millon 0CC,WODC, Developers Not Started
Between 2 and 5 years Over £1 Millon 0CC, WODC, Canal and River Trust, Developers Not Started
OCC Capital Funding, Active Travel England
Between 5 and 10 years Over £1 Millon (ATE) Funding, Active Travel Fund, 0CC, WODC, Canal and River Trust, Developers Not Started
ommunity Levy (CIL), Parish
Town Councils, UK Government Funding,
Ongoing Over £1 Millon 5106, Developer Contributions 0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses Not Started
Uptosyears Between £500,000 and £1 Million 0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils Not Started
Between 5 and 10 years Over £1 Millon 0CC, WODC, Parish Council, Developers, Businesses Not Started
Between 5 and 10 years Over £1 Millon 0CC, WODC, Network Rail, Parish &Town Coun Not Started
Developers, Businesses
Up to twoyears Up to £100,000 'OCC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils Not Started
Up tosyears Between £100,000 and £500,000 0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Operators, Employers, Mot started
0CC Capital Funding, UK Government Public Transport Operators
Funding, Developer C Private - m v
Between 2 and 5 years Between £100,000 and £500,000 Investment 0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Operators, Employers, Not Started
Public Transport Operators
T, WODC, FaiiSIT: TOWT COUTLS, Operaors (€670
Uptosyears Upt0.£100,000 Lime, Donkey Republic), Employers, Public Transport Not Started
Ongoing Upt0.£100,000 0CC, WODC, Developers, Businesses Not Started
! ) 0CC Capital Funding, Community )
Ongoing Between £500,000 and £1 Million Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 5106, beveloper 0CC,WODC, Developers, Businesses Not Started
Contributions
Ongoing Between £100,000 and £500,000 0CC,WODC, Developers, Businesses Not Started
Ongoing Between £100,000 and £500,000
Up totwo years Up t0 £100,000 0CC, WODC, Developers, Businesses Not Started




Public Transport

Create a network of Mobility Hubs

Implement and deliver the Carterton Mobility Hub Pilot on Brize Norton Road.

Hyper-Local

Work with partners to explore opportunities, promote, and deliver mobility hubs to support an integrated
transport network, at a number of locations, incl ted to:
a. Major Interchange Hubs

. Hanborough rail station.

b. Linking Hubs:

Carterton Leisure Centre.
iv. Witney King George V Field (for Schools).

Hyper-Local

Support the implementation of rural, suburban, and mini mobility hubs, in line with the Mobility Hub Strategy.

District

Enhance and expand bus services

Work with partners to deliver improved bus services on inter-urban routes, exploring enhancing frequencies o
limited ices and imisation of existis ices toli i imes.

County

The County Council supports the safeguarding of land and will work with partners to develop a potential Mass,
Rapid Transit corridor (potentially rail, tram, busway etc.) connecting Oxford, Eynsham, Witney and Carterton.

District

Work with partners to provide new bus services inations that tonew
and the ing villages.

Local

Work with bus operators to improve access to bus services, for example, in the evenings and on the weekends,
associated with economic and community needs.

District

Work with operators to explore opportunities and options for enhanced town services in Witney and Carterton,
and to improve connections to the ing villages and suburbs.

Local

Work with operators to provide further options for long-distance coach services connecting to Witney and,
Carterton to key national and regional locations.

National

Work with partners to support communities with education and training to remove barriers to public transport
use and increase confidence to enable greater use of buses.

District

Enhance bus infrastructure

Deliver the A40 Eynsham to Wolvercote Scheme, between Eynsham and Cassington, funded by the Housing|
Fund (HIF2).

District

Work with partners to secure additional funding, including through central government, to help deliver the A40,
Eynsham Park and Ride to Wolvercote scheme between Cassington and Wolvercote.

District

Subject to funding, work with partners to deliver the A40 Eynsham to Wolvercote Scheme between Cassington
and Wolvercote.

District

Work with bus operators to ensure improved reliability i d resilience of services.

District

Where required, develop bus priority measures, including bus lanes, removal of parking and traffic signal priority,
inthe Lowlands area and along key transport corridors within West Oxfordshire, by:

a. Identifying s for bus priority and sand

b. Work with partners to deliver the i bus priority and

District

When developing the Witney High Street and Market Square enhancement scheme, ensure that the role of buses,
(routing, facilities, safety features, etc.) is reviewed.

Hyper-Local

Ensure that adequate bus infrastructure is provided to support current and future bus service levels in Witney|
[ and Carterton (Brize Norton Road).

Hyper-Local

Identify opportunities for the improvement of bus stops (e.g. waiting facilities, location for new bus stops, RTI, Al
raised kerbs, lighting, shelters, CCTV, cycle parking, onward travel maps), with priority given to bus stops with
the highest usage levels or in locations with key amenities.

Hyper-Local

Work with partners to promote and improve personal safety by:
a. Advertising personal safety apps/ tools for use by users; and

b. Improving routes to and from bus stops, including improved lighting, removal of overgrown vegetation and
CCTV.

County

Work alongside partners to deliver a zero-emissior ross the Lowland:

District

8TT abed

Work alongside partners to improve
rail services and infrastructure.

The County Council will support the safeguarding of land and work with partners to develop a potential Mass,
Rapid Transit corridor (potentially rail, tram, bus) connecting Oxford, Eynsham, Witney and Carterton.

District

Hanborough Station:

a. Work with the rail industry and other partners to improve access to Hanborough station for those walking,
wheeling, and cycling to/ from Witney, North Leigh, Hanborough, Woodstock, Bladon and Eynsham via SATN
routes with this including exploring opportunities for micro-mobility.

b. Work with the rail industry and other partners to improve access and integration for those switching from
buses to trains at Hanborough station.

. Explore opportunities with our rail industry partners to deliver a mobility hub at Hanborough rail station, in
line with OXRAIL 2040.

d. Work with partners to review opportunities for enhancing passenger facilities at Hanborough, potentially
including a station building and passenger ge to support the doubling o the track and provision of a
second platform.

. Work with the rail industry and other partners to ensure sufficient car and cycle parking provision at the
station.

Regional

North Cotswold Line

a. Work with partners to review opportunities for the provision of a second platform at Hanborough station,
subject to the double-tracking from the North Cotswold Line between Wolvercote Junction and Hanborough, in
line with OXRAIL 2040.

b. Support the delivery of double tracking from the North Cotswold Line between Wolvercote Junction and
Hanborough railway station and between Pershore and Worcester, to enable an increase in the number and
frequency of rail services along the North Cotswold Line, in line with OXRAIL 2040.

. Promote the delivery of new rolling stock along the North Cotswold line.

Regional

Access to Oxford Station
a. Work with partners to improve access to Oxford Station via public transport, with a focus on delivering|
improved journey times from West Oxfordshire via the A40 corridor.

b. Work with partners to provide fast, high-quality bus services between Eynsham Park and Ride and Oxford rail
station.

<. Work with partners to explore opportunities for the Oxford PlusBus scheme to be expanded to include bus|
services to the Lowlands.

National

integrated ticketi ions between different mod

Up to twoyears Between £100,000 and £500,000 OCC, WODC, Town &Parish Councils, Bus Operators Not Started
0CC Capital Funding, Community OCC WODC, Town & Parish Councils, Network Rail, GWR, B
Upto5years Over £1 Millon Infrastructure Levy (CIL), Parish / Town > » Town o ’"5( "‘;e " retwork Rail, GWR, BUS | work in Progress
Councils, Local Authority Bus Grant (LABG), perators, Developers
5106, Developer Contributions
ongoing Between £100,000 and £500,000 0CC, WODC, Town & Parish Councils, Bus Operators, Not Started
Developers
UptoSyears Over £1 Millon 0CC, Bus Operators, Developers, Businesses Not Started
ongoing Over £1 Millon 0CC, WODC, Network Rail, GWR, Bus Operators, Developers, Not Started
Businesses.
Ongoing Over £1 Millon 0CC, Bus Operators, Developers, Businesses Not Started
0CC Capital Funding Local Authority Bus
Ongoing Over £1 Millon Grant (LABG), Developer Contributions 0CC, Bus Operators, Developers, Businesses. Not Started
Between 2 and 5 years Over £1 Millon 0CC, Bus Operators, Developers, Businesses Not Started
Uptos years Over £1 Millon 0CC, Operators (Oxford Tube, Ailine, National Express, Not Started
Ongoing Between £100,000 and £500,000 0CC, WODC, Tawn & Parish Counclls, Bus Operators, Not Started
Developers, Busine
Upto5 years Over £1 Millon 0CC, Bus Operators, Developers, Businesses Not Started
Upto 5 years Over £1 Millon 0CC, Bus Operators, Developers, Businesses Not Started
Between 5 and 10 years Over £1Millon 0CC, Bus Operators, Developers, Businesses Not Started
Ongoing Over £1 Millon 0CC, Bus Operators, Developers, Businesses Not Started
Ongoing Over £1 Millon 0CC, Bus Operators, Developers, Businesses Not Started
0CC Capital Funding Local Authority Bus
Up to two years Between £100,000 and £500,000 Grant (LABG), Developer Contributions 0CC, Bus Operators, Developers, Businesses Not Started
Between 2 and 5 years Between £500,000 and £1 Million 0CC, Bus Operators Not Started
Ongoing Over £1 Millon 0CC, Bus Operators, Developers Not Started
Up to two years Between £100,000 and £500,000 0CC, Bus Operators, Developers, Businesses Not Started
Up to 5 years Over £1 Millon 0CC, DfT, Bus Operators Not Started
Ongoing Over £1 Millon 0CC, DFT, WODC, Network Rail, GWR, GB Railways Not Started
Upto5 years Over £1 Millon 0CC, DT, WODC, Network Rail, GWR, GB Railways Not Started
0CC Capital Funding, Housing
Fund (HIF) Network Rail, UK Government
Funding, Developer Contributions
UptoSyears Over £1 Millon OCC, DIT, WODC, Network Rail, GWR, GB Railways Not Started
Uptosyears Over £1 Millon OCC, DIT, WODC, Network Rail, GWR, GB Railways Not Started
Ongoing 1 £500,000 and £1 Million OCC, Network Rail, GWR, G Railways, Developers, WODC Not Started




6TT abed

woL10

wot11

woL12

Car Club and Car Share

Work with the car club industry to identify locations for mini car club hubs.

Collaborate with partners to provide a comprehensive network of car clubs, in priority locations for parking, at,

102
locations throughout the Lowlands, including in the towns, transport hubs, villages and at new developments.
Support th fa car club
network and car share schemes. 103 |Ensure car clubs use zero-emission vehicles,
10.4 | Work with developers and businesses to provide EV charging and parking to support car clubs, including thel Local

parking for car cluby/car share vehicles.

Parking & Demand Management

Develop a car share awareness and expansion programme through collaboration with partners.

Use demand management in locations where it will bring benefits to the public realm and those walking,|
wheeling, cycling, and using public for example in Eynsham Village Centre.

District

Following the opening of the A40 Access to Witney scheme, deliver the re-routing of the A4095 and A415 and the|
subsequent declassification of Bridge Street, Woodstock Road, Tower Hill, Burford Road, and Ducklington Road,
within Witney.

Toc —
o -
Gy — —

Ongoing Between £500,000 and £1 Million
Ongoing Up t0£100,000

Up to5 years Over £1 Millon

Up to5 years Between £500,000 and £1 Million

Ongoing

Up 0 £100,000

Implement demand management
measures inareas which arewell | 113
served by sustainable transport.

Work with patners o develop a stategy for the improvement and redesign of the Bridge Sureet double min

and , toimp ing, wheeling, and cycling access and reduce collision risk|
in line with Vision Zero.

Consider the re-purposing of the street-scape to benefit high footfall areas, LWCIP routes, SATN routes and
priority bus routes, and to support the delivery of cycleways, where appropriate. For example, on Con Street or|
Tower Hill, Witney

Infrastructure Development

Consider providing new Controlled Parking Zones or similar, where they provide benefits to public transport,
walking, wheeling, and cycling.

a. Access to Witney A40/B4022 fthe A4095 and
Aals.

b. A40 improvements comprising Eynsham Park and Ride, A40 Eynsham Park and Ride to Wolvercote and Oxford
North scheme.

c. Witney High Street and Market Square enhancements scheme.

d. Carterton Mobility Hub Pilot.

. Improving walki ings at Cote Road, Aston; The Hill, Burford; Burford

tfacing slip road:

Road and Wycombe Way, Carterton; Witan and Deer Park Road, Witney.
f. School Streets at Edith Moorhouse Primary School and St Joseph's Catholic Primary School, Carterton.

. Improved pathways between Windrush Place and Deer Park Road, Witney. Woodbank and Oxford Hill, Witney,
and the Colwell Brook path from Downs Road to Range Road, Witney.

Progress currently ongoing:

a. Improvements at B4022 Oxford Hill/ Jubilee Way junction to reflect changes in traffic routing due to the

opening of A40/ B4022 Shores Green west-facing slip roads.

b. Carterton 20mph proposals.

c. Secure through the planning process infrastructure required to support the North Witney Strategic

Development Area, including Witney Northern Distributor Road, West End Link (WEL2), access roundabouts with

dedicated space for cycling, active travel routes to key off-site destinations such as schools and the town centre,

bus infrastructure, and service provision.

d. Deliver through the planning process infrastructure required to support the East Witney Strategic

Development Area, including dedicated space for cycling, active travel routes to key off- as

schools and the town centre, bus infrastructure, and service provision.

e. Secure through the planning process infrastructure required to support the Salt Cross Garden Village and the
Strategic A the Eynsham Western Spine Road access roundabouts

space for cycling, active travel routes to key off-si h as schools and the town
centre, bus infrastructure, and service provision.
f. Access to Carterton comprising two elements.
Safety improvements to the B4477 between Brize Norton roundabout and A40 junction.
. Securing an active travel route between Witney and Carterton via Witney Road
g Improve Upavon Way, Carterton active travel routes, and connecti
h. Dutch-style roundabout (a roundabout with dedicated space for cycling) at Fiveways junction of Welch Way,
Corn Street, Ducklington Lane, Curbridge Road and Tower Hill.
i, Improvements to the Witney to Hanborough Station walking and cycling route by addressing the ‘gap’ at North
Leigh on A4095.
. Eynsham to Botley walking, wheeling, and cycling route.
k. Eynshamto alking, wheeling, and
1. A40 grade-separated crossing at Eynsham, in accordance with the policy requirements of the Salt Cross Area
Action Plan (AAP).
m. A4095 North Leigh walking, wheeling, and cycling route

Consider exploring previously identified potential:
a. Further develop and extend the A40 corridor strategy, which s likely to include the exploration of an Oxford-
Eynsham-Witney-Carterton mass rapid transit corridor (potentially rail, tram, bus) to build upon the A40
Eynsham to Wolvercote Scheme and Eynsham Park and Ride.

b. A4095 Woodstock Road/ Jubilee Way, Witney junction improvements.

. Corn Street, Witney active travel routes, and public realm improvements.

d. Eynsham village centre Public Realm improvements.

. Burford Public Realm Feasibility Study.

121
122
Deliver movement infrastructure
schemes.
123
124

Work with partners to secure funding to explore new schemes or studies, such as but not limited to:
a. Develop schemes listed within the Local Cycling and Walking for Witney, Carterton, and
Eynsham.

b. To develop routes identified in the Strategic Active Travel Network, with a focus on inter-urban sustainable
travel.

c. Studies to support directi i in
d. Studies to support hould they

lest Oxfordshire Local Plan 2043,
for Witney or Carterton.

Upto5 years Between £100,000 and £500,000

Local Up to two years Between £100,000 and £500,000
Hyper-Local Up to two years Over £1 Millon
District Up to5 years Over £1 Millon
Local Ongoing Up t0£100,000
District Up to5 years Over £1 Millon
District Between 5 and 10 years Over £1 Millon
District Over 10 Years Over £1 Millon
District Up to5 years Over £1 Millon

OCC, Car Club Operators Not Started
Not Started

0CC Capital Funding, Parish / Town Councils, 0CC, Car Club Operators

5106, Developer C Private
Investment OCC, Car Club Operators Not Started
0CC, Car Club Operators, WODC, Developers, Businesses Not Started
OCC, Car Club Operators, WODC, Developers, Businesses Not Started
0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils Not Started
occ Not Started
0CC Capital Funding, Parish / Town Councils,

Developer Contri 0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils Not Started
0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils Not Started
0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils Not Started

0CC Capital Funding, Active Travel England
(ATE) Funding, Active Travel Fund,
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL),
Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF), Parish /
Town Councils, UK Government Funding,
5106, Developer Contributions

0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers

Workin Progress

0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers Not Started
0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers Not Started
0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers Not Started




02T abed

woL13

woL14

woL1s

Freight

Improve freight, deliveries, and
servicing.

ities e.g. ounty Council)
d action plan of the Windrush Valley Freight study

13.1Work with partners (i
and key i

District

Upto5 years

Actively seek to reduce the number of through traffic HGVs in Witney town centre through the re-routing of the|
A4095 and A415 via the A40 to improve air quality and improve safety for those walking, wheeling, and cycling, in
line with Vision Zero.

Local

Over £1 Millon

Up to two years

Support the rollout of parcel and grocery lockers with the relevant operators at key transport locations,
including:

a. Witney and Carterton Town Centre.

b. Hanborough rail station.

. Eynsham Park and Ride.

d. District/ local centres.

e. Burford.

f. The surrounding villages

Hyper-Local

Between £500,000 and £1 Million

Ongoing,

Work with West Oxfordshire District Council to encourage all fleet vehicles operating in the Lowlands area to be|
zero-emission (e.g. refuse vehicles, vans).

District

Between £500,000 and £1 Million

Up to5 years

Work with internal partners to encourage all OCC fleet vehicles operating in the Lowlands area to be zero-
emission (e.g. refuse vehicles, vans).

County

Over £1 Millon

Up to5 years

Encourage the wider implementation of Delivery and Servicing Plans (DSPs) at new developments, in particular|
at strategic site al where there s signi for delivery and servicing need:

District

Over £1 Millon

Ongoing

Explore opportunities to reduce the impact of HGV and LGV traffic across the Lowlands area, by:

a. Collaborating with partners to introduce opportunities for first and last-mile delivery hubs using cargo bikes
and e-cargo bikes in Witney, Eynsham and Carterton.

b. Explore opportunities for zero-emission parcel deliveries in Witney and Carterton and the wider Lowlands
area.

. Encourage and support local businesses to convert their fleets to zero or low-emission vehicles.

d. Explore the opportunities for consolidation hubs in West Oxfordshire.

Local

Up to £100,000

Ongoing,

In support of OCC Vision Zero Strategy, we will actively seek to have OCC hired contractors to comply with Fleet|
Operator Recognition Scheme (FORS) and Construction Logistics and Community Safety (CLOCS) requirements.

District

Between £500,000 and £1 Million

Up to two years

Identify EV charging locations for freight to support the transition towards low carbon freight travel.

Investigate opportunities to improve flood resilience in areas with the highest risk to improve resilience for all
modes on existing and potential new routes through the River Windrush and River Thames flood zones. This will
include, but not limited to:

a. Improving the Woodford Milltrack;

b. Improving Bridge Street and the surrounding area;

. New walking and cycling bridge at Bishops Farm Mill;

d. New facilities on the River

. New walking, wheeling and cycling and vehicle faci
f. Improving the Crown Lane / Church Lane path.

f Witney.
ies as part of the proposed West End Link (WEL2); and

Hyper-Local

Hyper-Local

Up t0 £100,000

Up o5 years

Ongoing,

Investigate opportunities to improve flood resilience in areas with the highest risk from surface water fluvial

Between £500,000 and £1 Million

Over £1 Millon

Innovation

Support the trailing, development and
deployment of Innovation and New
Technologies

merging Street Design Guide) to determine how they can be made more climate resilient.

of the A40 corri Eynsham-Wit

During 2y
new types of

arterton Mass Transit Corridor),

onthe

pl ities for

County

Up to5 years

Work with partners to increase the number of Electric Vehicle Charging Points (EVCP) across the MAP Plan area
for vehicles, e-bikes (and other mi ility) and the public transport.

District

142 Local Between 2and 5 years Between £500,000 and £1 Million
flooding (.. Hailey Road and Buttercross Lane). 4

143 |SuppOrt the wider planting of trees and other vegetation to improve air quality, reduce run-off, and provide| Hyper-Local Ongoing Up to £100,000
shade, in particular in locations with limited vegetation.

104 ::Appnn wider use of blue infrastructure and Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) for movement schemes and Local ongoing Between £500,000 and £1 Million

limats
resilence messures as partof the | 1.5 | 0evelop a strategy to provide the greening or putting solar panels on bus stops, train staions, signage, mobiliy| oo oot Uptotwoyears Between £500,000 and £1 Millon
| hubs, etc. N

14 |SupPort schemes that achieve the greening and re-wilding of places and that enhance connections to thel Distrct Betweens and 10 years Between £500,000 and £1 Million
Cotswolds National Landscap: the Local y Strategy.

147 | Consider working to produce a Clim: for the area. District Upto5years Between £500,000 and £1 Million
To support the delivery of a net zero transport network by 2040 (a target of the LTCP), all infrastructure|

1438 |developments should aim to minimise whole life carbon emissions following PAS2080 standard (in accordance Local Ongoing Between £500,000 and £1 Million
with Policy 27 of LTCP).
Support schemes and help to implement proposals to reduce air pollution within Witney and Carterton. This will
include, but not be limited to:
a. A40 Access to Witney and re-routing of the A4095 and A415.

149 [b. Delivery of LCWIP and SATN routes. Local Uptosyears Between £500,000 and £1 Million
<. Witney High Street and Market Square enhancements scheme; and
d. Electrification of the bus network.
. Greening of the area, and biodiversity improvements

1410 :ssessmgourplaces using the Healthy Streets Tool and any other relevant tools (including the County Councils. county ongoing Upto£106,000

Between £500,000 and £1 Million

Ongoing

and seek

In support of the Innovation Framework, we will work wi I

tosupport the delivery of th ing, but not imited to:
a. Electric charging hubs for e-bikes, buses, and cars across the Lowlands area.

b. Explore the on of and driverless

. Work with partners to provide zero-emission shared self-driving vehicles in the Lowlands area.

d. Explore innovative Mobility as a Service (Maas) solutions within West Oxfordshire, including along the A40
area, toimpr ourlocal rural

e. Develop an integrated SMART Infrastructure.

f. Artificial Intelligence uses.

Regional

Between £500,000 and £1 Million

Ongoing,

Over £1 Millon

0CC, WODC, Department for Transport, Parish & Town
Councils, Gloucestershire County Council

Workin Progress

0CC,WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses | Not Started
0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses, Not Started
Logistic Operators
0CC Capital Funding, , UK Government
Funding, Parish / Town Councils, Developer 0cc, wobc NotStarted
Contributions
occ Not Started
0CC, WODC, Developers Not Started
0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Developers, Businesses, Not Started
Logistic Operators
0CC, WODC, Parish & Town Councils Developers, Businesses, | o\ cioicq
Logistic Operators.
OCC,WODC, Developers Not Started
0CC, WODC, Environment Agency Not Started
0CC, Environment Agency, Canal & River Trust, Developers Not Started
0CC, Environment Agency, Canal & River Trust, Developers Not Started
0CC Capital Funding, Community 0CC, Environment Agency, Canal & River Trust, Developers Not Started
Infrastructure Levy (CIL), Parish / Town [ occ, woDC, Parish & Town Councils, Environment Agency,
Councils, UK Government Funding, 106, " Not Started
3 8, S106, Canal &River Trust, Developers, Bus Operators
Developer Contributions, Priv - "
0CC,WODC, Parish & Town Councils, Environment Agency, Notstarted
Canal &River Trust, Developers
0CC, WODC, Agency Not Started
occ Not Started
0CC, Environment Agency, Canal & Riverside Trust, National Notstarted
England
0CC, Environment Agency Not Started
OCC, DT, Businesses Not Started
OCC, DT, Businesses Not Started
OCC Capital Funding, UK Government
Funding, Developer Contributions, Private
Investment
0CC, DfT, Businesses Not Started




West Oxfordshire Lowlands
Movement and Place Plan

Engagement Pack
March 2026

§25 OXFORDSHIRE
&%V COUNTY COUNCIL



ICy Comtext

&85 OXFORDSHIRE
\ "-‘:m' COUNTY COUNCIL




SO
H What are Movement and Place Plans?

» Supporting strategy to the Local Transport and Connectivity Plan
and are effectively ‘Part 2’ of the LTCP.

> Reflect Oxfordshire’s changing priority to place shaper of choice
and are a better articulation of our strategy in this regard.

» Objectives and Actions have been developed for our places with a
focus on achieving liveable, healthy neighbourhoods and to help
demonstrate and achieve integration across different modes. They
will be developed with assistance from our district partners.

€21 abed

» Provide a framework with clear actions for delivery at different
spatial levels to help us work with partners, provide a means to
help monitor status and progress in delivery of schemes as part of
an overall package of measures.

The Movement and
Place Plans will be
‘Live’ documents.

Which will be

» Theyreplace LTP4 Strategies that were adopted in 2016... so, updated regularly.

the West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan
replaces ‘Connecting Oxfordshire' - Witney and Carterton Area N R4
Strategies.

’—-----\
------—,




Why ‘movement and place’?

21 abed

I

|
>
>
>
>

|

LTCP notes the importance of healthy place shaping,
with Oxfordshire leading the way in terms of
implementing this place-based approach.

Place shaping is collaborative approach which aims to
create sustainable, well designed, thriving
communities where healthy behaviours are the norm,
and which provide a sense of belonging, identity and
community.

It is important to recognise that streets have both
movement and place functions.

Policies 9 to 14 of the LTCP focus on healthy place
shaping and Vision Led approach.

MAP Plans will have an equal emphasis on enabling
movement and shaping places.

LTCP Place Shaping Outcome:

healthy behaviours are the norm, and which provide a sense

I 4 \
I i
I |
I  Sustainable, well designed, thriving communities where |
| 1
|\ of belonging, identity and community. ,l

High streets

Movement

Residential
streets

Low High

Place

Adapted from Manual for Streets (2007), p. 19

$85 OXFORDSHIRE
Y COUNTY COUNCIL




Movement and
Place Plansin a
Policy Context

The LTCP provides high level policy framework
and targets.

MAP Plans contain more specific details for
different modes and geographic area.

Delivery Plan to be developed with Place team to
establish future workloads and timeline for
schemes in the MAP Plans areas.

N A R
GzT abed

Department for Levelling Up,

Housing and Communities
National Planning Policy
Framework
National Planning Policy
Guidance

National and Regional
Planning Policy

LTCP 2022-2050

LTCP Part 2: Supporting Strategies

¥

BSIP 2024

Active Travel Strategy
Mobility Hub Strategy
OxRail 2040: Plan for Rail
Freight and Logistic
Strategy

Kerbside Strategy
Innovation Framework
Sustainable School Travel
Strategy 2024/25

Vision Led Planning Guide
Decide and Provide

Movement and Place
Plans

Objectives and Actions

Workstream and
Delivery Plan

Scheme Development

England’s Economic
Heartland
Regional Transport Strategy

Departmentfor Transport
Transport Act 2000
National Bus Strategy
Cyclingand Walking
Investment Strategy 2
EV Infrastructure Strategy

District Councils

Oxford City Local Plan 2040
Cherwell Local Plan 2040
South and Vale Joint Local
Plan 2041

West Oxfordshire Local Plan
2041

Didcot Garden Town
Delivery Plan

Bicester Garden Town
Prospectus

and otherrelevant plans

Town Councils

Neighbourhood plans
and otherrelevantplans

occC

Design Standards
Parking Standards
LCWIP’s




N A R
92T abed

LTCP Vision

“Our Local Transport and Connectivity Plan vision is for an
inclusive and safe net-zero Oxfordshire transport system
that enables all parts of the county to thrive.

It will tackle inequality, be better for health, wellbeing and
social inclusivity, and have zero road fatalities or life-changing
injuries. It will also enhance our natural and historic
environment and enable the county to be one of the world’s
leading innovation economies.

Our plan sets out to achieve this by reducing the need to travel
and private car use through making walking, cycling, public
and shared transport the natural first choice.”

25 OXFORDSHIRE
\ y COUNTY COUNCIL




By 2030
* Replace orremove 1 out of every 4 current car trips in Oxfordshire |
o . Local Transport and
* Increase the number of cycle trips in Oxfordshire from 600,000 to 1 Connectivity Plan
million cycle trips per week 2022 - 2050
* Reduce road fatalities or life changing injuries by 50% /\
Y | July 2022
g By 2040:
5 « Deliver a net-zero transport network N
* Replace orremove an additional 1 out of 3 car trips in Oxfordshire
By 2050: R
I * Deliver a transport network that contributes to a climate positive OXFORDSHIRE I
future -

* Have zero, or as close as possible, road fatalities or life-changing

28 OXFORDSHIRE
injuries

% COUNTY COUNCIL




Movement and Place Plans -

» The nine defined outcomes were developed to ensure they
reflect the LTCP vison and its targets.

Outcomes were agreed at E&P briefing in 2023.

All Objectives and Actions are marked against these outcomes,

ensuring the Plans support the LTCP:

Table WOL2: Summary of Objectives in relation to the nine MAP Plan outcomes.

Objective

Deliver a comprehensive and inclusive walking, wheeling, and
cycling network.

Outcome

5 6 7 8 9

woLz2

Create a sense of place through implementing cohesive,

I

I Our Nine Defined Outcomes
>

g >

I

healthy place-shaping interventions

WOL3

Ensure developments deliver comprehensive on-site and off-
site walking, wheeling, and cycling provision

woL4

Reduce walking, wheeling, and cycling severance caused by

physical barriers.

Our 9 defined outcom

A place with a transport
network that clearly reflects

the priorities of the d
transport user hierarchy -~y

Improved safety realised
through the Vision Zero ™
approach to transport
safety across Oxfordshire

A connected and inclusive
public and shared transport
network including the
" development of mobility hubs

A place where EV charging,
and other low-carbon
technologies help to N
reduce the impact of ~a
motorised vehicles

A place where people are
more receptive to active
travel, sustainable modes and
want to promote travel
changes.

es:

A place that works
towards delivering
on net-zero carbon
transport network

A comprehensive, safe
inclusive walking,
wheeling and cycling
netwerk through the
implementation of the
LCWIP and Strategic
Active Travel Network

A place where freight
movements are
appropriate and safe

Improve air quality to safe
levels, to remove the need for
Air Quality Management Areas

on transportgrounds . Pufps

? O |




N A R
621 abed

A key change from LTP4 - Articulating the Plan through |
key components of Place Shaping |
Economic e -
Growth | \
Climate Travel : Using.the lens of place shaping will help to :
and g / J; d I provide a more people focused approach :
. I
Environment — \ ectivity | L J
We will deliver Objective SV1 through the following actions:
Culture . 1.1. Work with partners to deliver walking, wheeling and cycling schemes contained
and Assets within adopted documents (such as LCWIPs and SATN).
Travels, Jill Economic Growth [Health & Wellbeing|
Health |
and Wellbeing
OXFORDSHIRE

f;i "(g

COUNTY COUNCIL




Boundaries

0¢T abed

—----------------\

\

Please note all boundaries are
‘fuzzy’ and each MAP Plan
accounts for the movement
and connections between the
different MAP Plan areas.

N -

I
|
| MAP Plan
|

’—---N

\

o Lowlands
& i

L ——

B0

b ) Ty
 Wallingford and
Surrounding

me, Chin

pr

£
£ 1k




Work Programme

West Oxfordshire
Lowlands

Abingdon and the
Eastern Vale

Banbury and North
Cherwell

I MAP Plan
Introduction
Science Vale
Bicester and
Surrounding Villages
West Oxfordshire
Uplands

Henley-on-Thames and
Surrounding Area

Central Oxfordshire
(COTP Update)

Development of MAP Internal OCC District Officer Councillor Stakeholder BUBlCENgaRement Adoption
Plans Engagement Engagement Engagement Engagement
Completed Completed N/A N/A N/A Completed Completed
Completed Completed Completed Completed Completed Completed Completed
Completed Completed Completed Completed Completed Completed March 26
Completed Completed Completed Ongoing Ongoing May 26 July 26
Completed Ongoing Mar - April 26 Mar - April 26 Mar - April 26 May - Jun 26 Sep 26
Ongoing April 26 May 26 May 26 May 26 May - Jun 26 Sep 26
Ongoing Jun 26 Jul 26 Aug - Sept 26 Aug - Sept 26 Oct - Nov 26 Dec 26
Mar - May 26 Jun 26 Jul 26 Aug - Sept 26 Aug - Sept 26 Oct - Nov 26 Dec 26
Oct - Dec 26 Jan -Feb 27 March 27 April - May 27 April - May 27 May - Jun 27 Sep 27
Oct - Dec 26 Jan -Feb 27 March 27 April - May 27 April - May 27 May - Jun 27 Sep 27
Jan - March 27 April - May 27 Jun 27 Jun 27 Jun 27 Sep 28 Dec 28
Jan - March 27 April - May 27 Jun 27 Jun 27 Jun 27 Sep 28 Dec 28
TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC TBC




West Oxifords/hi

Moveme

Nt & [P

re Lowlands

@ace Plamn

§89 OXFORDSHIRE
.25y COUNTY COUNCIL




Upper

Church
Weslcote

Wyck Bledington Kingham Sarsden) - piliend Dea‘a

Wyck il *1comb ¢ S WEa ;

Rissinglon A Chadlington G
. o Brookend

Nether Westcote

Greenend

Lynaham

Shoﬂhampio\n

Spelsbury

NQver
Kiddington

® Kiddington

Little
Risington

el 9VEd

Ri t
¢ |ssmg on

Charlbury \

Ashall

Minster

Westwell

Worsham,—¥jinster__
Lovell' = =98

Y .Witney

High Cogges

Bernard Gate

® |dbury Chllson Charll
b
scoﬂ‘under-Wychwood' i ury e
CD o Ted W e s U f ‘ /et _p
Shipton Inscott:under- Wychwood e
(5 aMilton-under-Wychwood ®  ®'Shipton-under- Wychwood Finstock
® Great Rissington FaMer .Slonesﬁalcl
— ~ : Combe
$ N omi
Leafield T Finstock oy < Combe
A ® Ramsden & e Bladon
East Endi
"~ Long
(7] Taynton Hanborough @ .
Greal Barrington focdvels Pelly End o
ng Fulbrook Asthall Leigh $ Hailey o ot goghiLeigh Freelandch )
Swinbrook S
Little, Barrington Burford s Crawley \® Poffley End HBHbO'OUQh —
ittle .

78 Cassmglon

MAP Plan Area

We have broadly followed the Lowland/ Upland

I (
-2
I
.
hdrush - 2
S - in 4 i
Lh) y gl
2 : i
= ° :
.Ho!weu % 3
Bradwell ‘gpj
W W 'Shlll%n
Brize Norton §
( > .Ganért'ofn.
(o

g

Fanngdon

Hatford
o
: oot avaall

-:c“mometers
0 1 2 4 6 8

1 ©
W /,g?' ‘
Charney

Bassett

® Lyford

planning committee boundaries used by WODC.

Although Burford/ Hanborough areas have
been included to align more with the A40

corridor.

The surrounding areas located the Lowlands
boundary and Western Vale will be picked up in
future Movement and Place Plans.

» Uplands
» Abingdon and the Eastern Vale
» Western Vale

® Settelments National Landscapes

Curbridge = South Leigh Wytham
.
Ducklington
Farmoor
7. Le 5
,::,’,:ll,,:,:t i Hardwick glanlon
s
Ea. stleach Turville ’4:’,:’/",”/ g E\_Harooun
4 Kencot Yelford
__Marlm Filkings; e Alvescot . West End (iha:vley
Fyfield Broadwell Black Bourton . Gumnor.
- Southrop, Broughton Bampton Eaton /4%
oy s Standlak 4
@ Poggs JLangford % TS Aston3c v R o 2 L
= N P
; Little Clanfield o Shifford Northmoor Henwood
Faringdon Woonon Vllage L]
% Ch:n.mey ppleton Wootton
Dry Sanlord
Yechlade,on Thames
SHeimscott v’\"'ifl‘éc{”‘ JLongworth C“"""
acns Kin gslon Fyfield Tubney it
|ppon
Buckland Bagp“'?-e
Lmlewonh Frllford
Pusey Marcham
Garford

Stan(ord in the Vale
\ West Han:my Easl Hanney

Dr'a;'ilon

@ Primary A Roads
= A Roads
—— B Roads

Minor Road

(&) Railway Stations
e Railway Line

] Non Strategic Development Areas
# | Strategic Development Areas
Strategic Location for Growth
National Stralegic Infrasiructure Projects

Sustrans National Cycle Route D West Oxfordshire Lowlands MAP

"s Oxfordshire Boundary
2 District Boundaries

.
" 7 Bordering Authorities

RAF Brize Norton

d from the Ord Survey with the permission of the Controller of
Hw Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright, and may lead lo prosecution or civil proceedings.

Oxferdshire County Council Licence No AC0O000851087 2025




The Vision

BFor the Lowlands to be a place that is healthy, inclusive, and safe for its
communities. Building upon the unique history and heritage of the area,as a
gateway to the Cotswolds and a tourist hub. To continue to enhance Witney
and Carterton as the main service centres in West Oxfordshire, to benefit our

residents and to grow the economy by providing new amenities as well as
employment and leisure opportunities.

To harness and develop the existing sense of place across the West
Oxfordshire Lowlands through a people-first design approach, which ensures
greater collaboration between different communities, whilst also reflecting
the history and rural nature of the area.

¥£T abed

To have aninclusive, accessible, and integrated transport system within the =
Lowlands, which improves connectivity between the three towns, the /&
villages, and the surrounding area by providing transport choice and enabling o

developments, protect and improve access to healthcare, education andthejiif. D :

resilience.



How we developed the MAP Plan

b.
C.
d

GeT abed
O

Q)

What has been progressed but not delivered from LTP4 Area Strategies.
What is outstanding from the LTP4 Area Strategies.
What other schemes/projects are being progressed locally
THEN
Review other [ocal policy documents 1) Current Local Plan 2) LTCP and supporting strategies
What other policy changes in have there been 1) NPPF 2) Emerging Local Plan

2. Recognise CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES for the communities in the Lowlands Area.

3. Develop aseries of OBJECTIVES AND ACTIONS

1.
2.
3.

1.7 Reviewed BASELINE
a. What has been delivered from LTP4 Witney and Carterton Area Strategies.

Update those from the LTP4 Area Strategies
Ensure they support the vision and targets of the LTCP.

Where gaps have been identified - these need to be set out a future work schemes developed with our
communities.




Schemes delivered since LTP4 and LTCP adoption

Witney High Street traffic restrictions A40 Eynsham to Wolvercote Scheme

» A40 Downs Road junction West Facing Slips on the A40 at Shores Green
>

» A40 improvements at North Oxford Eynsham Park and Ride

>

20mph speed limits Carterton 20 mph Speed Limits

Brize Norton, Hailey, Minster Lovell, North Leigh,

Development of schemes in the Witney LCWIP
Standlake, Stanton Harcourt and Clanfield etc.

9¢T abed

>
>
>
>
» Witney, Aston, Eynsham, Burford, Bampton, » Eynsham area LCWIP
>

» Carterton Mobility Hub Pilot
Witney area LCWIP 5

Witney High Street and Market Square

Carterton Area LCWIP Enhancements

Improvements to Hanborough rail station » Oxfordshire School Streets in Carterton

| |
| |
| Completed schemes |
| |

YV V VYV V

New and improved bus services
» New S7 Bus Route
» H2bus route

B OXFORDSHIRE
&Y COUNTY COUNCIL

» Frequency increases on X15, 19 buses




Policies / schemes from previous

Local Transport and

Connectivity Plan

Conrecting Dxfordshire: Volume 8 Part i Upcated 2016

Connecting Oxfordshire:
Local Transport Plan 2015 - 2031

West Oxfordshire
Local Plan 2031

Reviewed Documents =)

July 2022

Contact: ltcps@oxfordshire.gov.uk

* Where policies / schemes have not
been completed or progressed,
they have been assessed to
determine whether they are still
relevant.

/€T abed

CONNECTING g OXFORDSHIRE
OXFORDSHIRE &7 county couner.

OXFORDSHIRE
COUNTY COUNCIL

* The relevant schemes have been
carried forward.

Freight and Logistics Active Travel

Strategy Strategy
[ 2022 - 2050

Oxfordshire County

adopted policy documents have
been reviewed.
| comtu

Banbury, Bicester, Carterton, Science Vale &
Science Vale Cycle Strategy and Witney Area
Strategies

Sustainable school travel
Oovarion ( strategy
FRAMEWORK R —

* Where gaps do exist, work will be
undertaken to understand how
these can be resolved - through
co-production.

FOR
PLANNING &
DEVELOPMENT

%oxroausmu
‘Providing cheice, inspiring change. > COUNTY COUNCIL




N A R
8¢T abed

Objectives and Actions

This Plan will work towards achieving the targets of the LTCP,
whilst addressing the challenges that are specific to the local area
and establishing any gaps in our work programme.

Each objective is supported by a series of actions that set out how
the objective will towards achieving the aims and targets of the
LTCP.

The objectives and actions below have been grouped into topic
areas with this being ordered in accordance with the transport
user hierarchy. There is a clear shift from LTP4 to having a place-
shaping focus as part of the MAP Plan.

We recognise the need to work on how this can be presented to
make it more accessible to our residents. Our thinking is to include
a more flexible geographic map-based approach, as well as
referring the place wheel, and linking these to key journeys.

We will deliver Objective WOL1 through the following actions:

1.1

1.2

1.3

When developing movement and transport schemes, ensure character, community,
and climate are at the heart of proposals and that placemaking principles are
considered alongside engineering.

 climate & Environment

Work with partners to enhance and upgrade timetables, local guides, maps, etc.,
which showcase the local area, its history, the local tourist attractions, and proximity
to the Cotswolds National Landscape.

Culture & Assets

Enhance the sense of place in Witney by:

a. Supporting community partners to improve the existing sense of place in
Witney by building upon heritage through artwork, trails and including rest
places, pocket parks, and community parks.

b. Work with partners to deliver the Witney High Street/ Market Square
Enhancement Project.

c. Work with partners to develop and implement a wayfinding strategy for
Witney.

Culture & Assets

nunity| climate & Environment




6£T abed

v 4 Shipton =) o

[ZJ Ascott-under-Wychwood

To Worcester

,_—3
West Oxfordshire Lowlands '
/ Stonesfield ’
Movement and Place Plan e Woodstock|
” A
/ ¢ Finstock Combe '
Cotswold s Blenheim Palace
\ Area of Outstanding Leafield ,' BErscen Combe ’
Natural Beauty 1 2 Y4
\ EattEnG ’ Bladon \
Hanborough |
\ Lo “ Long‘Hzfnb_orgugh> g -JBegbroke
aynton 4
“ Delly End . s A
24_Fulbfook S New Yatt North Le|g’h¢ Church Hanborough
(CDSY ’ 1
Swinbrook N ’ 1
s Poffley End
Bugrd Crawley « ’ ‘ 1
“ 1
Y e \_ ’
\ e ~ 2 :- s “
A ~ = a
~ ;
/ Minster Lovell = mEEN > g 2y
”’ \\ R ~ 2 L 15' . 2" 'z
-~ [ P2
/ Westwell \\ = f = @ Witney ==
‘ \ .“ [ | '} .~._. -
\ \\ §ind /:>-\ 4 = ..,.....-“ )
Bradwell Shilton = M Curbridge South Leigh -
-~ phd
\ o
e 1 <
FOt?WOId @ Brize Norton O
Wildlife Park /4&; . Ducklington,
&7, & o
o = — >
\ R Carterton L] . ’
LN
RAF Brize Norton b Pl ll
\ : \\ Stanton Harcourt /
/4
1 A Y
‘ Kencot 1 . II
.
Filkins Avescor ' . R \
[ P2
\ Broughton Poggs Black Bourton e A LI o7 \
1 = = Brightampton “ -
- wn . -
7."2’} 1 N ol ARG = “Aston o _ _ = =7 standlake 1
Support between = Langford == P T o D= Y Northmoor / Key
("0 Schemes to:
7,200 to 10,000 new AClanfield / 609 Deliver
homes in the area by 1 s
2043 and c. 86 ' - S~ / <> Progress
. P 1 7 ~ -
hectares of new = ! 1 / “0)> Explore
— T
employment land ] ! - -~ ’
Py ! ' — =~ LCWIP area
*Allocations still in |
consultation are /i/_\ = 1 Kelmscott T ¢ SATN:
represented by . - - Y routes >

-

— -
Note: This map is not to scale and‘isforillustration purposes only.




ot T abed

Work with partners to deliver the following schemes:

o Eynsham Park & Ride access, opening and management

9 A40 - Eynsham Park and Ride to Wolvercote Phase 1
5.4 Improved walking and cycling facilities along A40
{2 New bus lanes between Park and Ride and Cassington

e A40 Access to Witney - Shores Green Slips Roads

34 Improved walking and cycling infrastructure
&8 West facing slip roads and junction enhancements

° Witney High Street and Market Square Enhancements

5.4 Public Realm and walk, wheel & cycle improvements

[@ @ Review of bus stopping arrangements

e A415/A4095 De-classification in Witney

3of Make walking, wheeling and cycling the natural first choice
[ Improve journey times and reliability
@3 Reduce through traffic including HGVs and improve road safety

e Carterton Mobility Hub Pilot

@@ Create a high-quality multimodal transport interchange

0 Oxfordshire School Streets - Carterton
e Witney Northern Distributor Road (delivered by North Witney SDA)

e Eynsham Western Spine Road (delivered by West Eynsham SDA)

Work with partners to progress and shape the following

@ Access to Carterton

34 New safer cycling route between Witney and Carterton
&8s Safety improvements on the B4477

Carterton 20mph

3 Improved safety for those walking, wheeling & cycling

S4  Improved walking, wheeling and cycling routes

®
@ Upavon Way Improvements
®

Fiveways Dutch style Roundabout

3.4 Provision of dedicate cycle spaces and crossings at junction

Explore future opportunities for consideration:

20
2]
2]
23]

Corridor (Indicative Alignment)

@582 Quicker, zero-emission & more frequent and reliable public
transport.

Provision of a second platform at Hanborough Station
Double tracking of rail line between Oxford & Charlbury

Oxford-Eynsham-Witney-Carterton Mass Rapid Transit

@ West End Link

3§ High-quality walking, wheeling and cycling route
&2 Quicker and more reliable buses in and around Witney.

@ Bridge Street Mini Roundabouts

5.4 Improved walking, wheeling & cycling and cycling facilities
@ Hanborough Rail Station Improvements & Mobility Hub
@ Eynsham to Hanborough Walk, Wheel & Cycle Route
@ Eynsham to Botley Walk, Wheel & Cycle Route

@ A40 - Eynsham Park and Ride to Wolvercote Phase 2
(Cassington to Wolvercote)

Walk, Wheel & Cycle improvements at Hanborough Station @ Eynsham Public Realm Improvements

@ Walk, wheel & cycle improvements at Swinford Toll Bridge

@ Junction improvements at Jubilee Way / Oxford Hill

54 Improved facilities for those walking, wheeling and cycling
&8 Improved safety for users alongside capacity enhancements

@ Burford Public Realm Improvements Feasibility Study

Area-wide measures

Deliver schemes in the Witney, Carterton
and Eynsham LCWIPs

Enhanced bus services and infrastructure
through BSIP.

Walking, wheeling and cycling barrier
removal

Behaviour change initiatives

Implement Windrush HGV Study
recommendations.

Development and delivery of SATN
routes

Network of cycle parking

Network of mobility hub at major
interchanges

Public realm improvements

Climate resilience projects

Zero emission bus network

Network of mini, linking, suburban and
rural mobility hubs

New car club and car share scheme

Shared micromobility schemes




Engagement Material

_—> 32,00
89,000 ey
Koy facts residents > 18,000

and figures il

Approcimately 136,000 by 2043

6,000 new homes
planned by 2031 < A 42% of commuters
- travelless than Skm

and Cheltenham 70% ofworkers
Use a vehicle for commuting
20 bus routes in the arca

including $1.bus link o Oxford

West Oxfordshire

Lowlands
Movement and Place Plan

88% of households have 2
carwith average household
‘owning 1.5 vehicles

Hanborough Station
Busieststationan the Cotawold line
orcester, Great Malvern, X,

43,000 local jobs

49,000 jobs by 2050
a
ity

Local Facilities:
38schools

9 medical centres
7 museums

6 libraries.

3 leisure centres
1 hospital
1cinema

Local Transport and
Connectivity Plan -

T straleg

15 local Industrial Estates
and Business Parks

T1T abed

RAF Brize Norton
The country’ largestaitbase, employing 7,300
civitan and service personnel

For West Oxfordshire’s Lowlands to be a place that
is healthy, inclusive, and safe for its communities.
With this done by capitalising on the unique
history and heritage of the area, including as a

You can contact us at
: . gateway to the Cotswolds and as a tourist hub.

| Movement and Place Plan with Infographics

285 OXFORDSHIRE
"22Y COUNTY COUNCIL

[FEp——
between the different
communities in the area

Support sustainable and
integrated developments,

enhance air quality an
improving climate resilience.

Objective and Actions Map Infographic

- —
West Oxfordshire Lowlands

Movement and Place Plan

T —.

D parea g impreamants
P G —
) Fivemoys Butcn styse Roundite

(0) Hanberaign B Sation impes varmants & Mot Mok
() Ermaham bs Wpmbormogh Walk, Wiesi & Cyoie Rests
(D) Eynanam 1o Botiey wath, Whaeth Cyote Heste

P S PR — -
Cinangoen

L]

) Outord Eymsnsm Witney-Cartertan Mass Ragee Fransit
Corretar st thgret
A

) Burtrd Pt Rusim improvimants Fossibey Sty

Area-wide measures
. v P

i Eymsham LBy

Wity Carterton

@ e s e wna mesTtey
hewagh §19

[ e———
i

@ Sesavion chsnge iations

@ viemers Wosmun wox Usary

@ Ovverimet g ey of SATH

e

Y e ——
i

T —

@ e e preves

@
@ e ot praing et s
I manary hetn

Y TR —

.

Ll by s v e ———

Delivery Plan

Eotanr b srae s W

== |

[— [———
J— pmcimon
ot et
ot [OR—
oty amsmn
[— e 20w

S —

[ ———

6 M. o i s, e

i

. .t o o, G, B | kSt
R ————— .
L S — L —




Where are we in the process

Initial Engagement with Engagement with Update Plan

Engagement District 1) OCC and District following

with Public on @ Councillors Engagement
LTCP 2) Parish Councils
prrcihivagauteionn 3) Stakeholders

June - Nov 25 Jan 26 May 26 Jul 26

Portfolio Holder Public

and Informal Consultation
Cabinet Briefings

MP Briefing (12th) - ¢ )

Charlie Maynard

2022 Dec 25 Feb - Mar 26 Jun 26 |

Adoption of the
Plan

Development
of the Plan




£pT abed

West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place (MAP) Plan

When you submit this form, it will not automatically collect your details like name and email address unless you provide it yourself.

* Reguired

1. Does this plan reflect your communities’ needs and aspirations? *

Enter your answer

2. Is this engagement approach a useful way to communicate the key Movement and Place objectives and actions? *

Enter your answer

3. Does anything need more clarification in this information pack? If so, what?

Enter your answer

4. |s there anything you would like to see added to this document?

Enter your answer




	Agenda
	4 Planning Applications
	5 Witney Traffic Advisory Committee Minutes
	7 West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place (MAP) Plan
	West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan Merged.pdf
	West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan.pdf
	West Oxfordshire Lowlands  Movement and Place Plan - Policy Map.pdf
	West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan - Delivery Plan.pdf
	West Oxfordshire Lowlands Movement and Place Plan - Engagement Pack.pdf

	Feedback Questions.pdf


